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WHO WE ARE

By making ATM cash access convenient where

people shop work and live Cardtronics is at the

convergence of retailers financial institutions

and the customers they share Cardtronics

operates approximately 52900 strategically-

located retail AIMs in the U.S U.K Mexico

Canada and the Caribbean Whether Cardtronics

is driving foot traffic for Americas most relevant

retailers enhancing ATM brand presence for card

issuers or expanding cardholders surcharge-free

cash access on the localnational or international

scene Cardtronics is convenient access to cash

when and where consumers need it

Total transacting ATMs worldwide owned and/or

operated Approximately 52900

Cardtronics ATMs by country owned and/or

operated

United States

United Kingdom

Mexico

Canada

ATMs in the Allpoint network 43000

U.S bank-branded ATMs 15400

In this growing network our AIMs processed

over 542 million transactions in 2011

Our innovative strategy is supported by

vast network of trusted client relationships

that includes

10 out of the top 15 U.S financial institutions

out of the top 10 U.S retailers

U.S retail financial institutions ranked by assets

U.S retailers with significant ATM program rank

based on Stores.org data of 2011 US retail sales

IWHERE CASH MEETS COMMERCE

COMMUNITY BASED ON VALUE AND LOYALTY

OUR NETWORK

-owned and/or operated-

OUR RELATIONSHIPS

out of 10

Top Retailers

2011 Annual Report and Form 10-K www.cardtronics.com

Corporate Overview
Greater Convenience

Reevance

CONSUMERS

Increased Traffic

HOW WE DO BUSINESS andSales

Expanded Reach

and Service

46000

3500

2800

600

46000 3500 2800 600

United States United Kingdom Mexico Canada

10 out of 15

Top FIs



SURCHARGEFREE ACCESS

ATM BRANDING

APpoint the world largest surcharge-free ATM network

maintains network of over 43000 ATMs in leading national

anc regional nerchant locations across the United States

Mexicn United Kinodom and Austraha Allpoint provides

ssuers with dc-reaching conveniently rocated surcharge-

free etwork he pirg those institutions attiact win and retain

caMbolders

ATM branding allows Onarcial nstftutior to ma ease and

visibility and service oehvcry improving chair competitive

position The proven progra ith over 15400 Cardtronics

ATMs branded provides participating Fis with fee-free ATM

access for customers in desiraole call locations while

alloing each institut on io sovcase ts brand on the ATM

she transact on screen and other eleme ts

GLOBAL BRANDS

CARDTROCS

machine CADRoMcs CARP7ROCS

LocatorSearch
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Letter From the CEO

Dear Cardtronics Shareholders

In 2011 Cardtronics orce ag0in

demostrated the strenath of As

business modeL delivering soLd

performance am dst ngenng difficuit

and unCertain econom ti nes

Vabdating our confidence in cash as

one of the most valuable choices wit in

the cortinuum of payment methods

CardtroMcs put 2011 in its record books

performance acoss the nancial and

uperat ng metr cs dtaiied in the pages of this annual report

And for the firs time since 2007

Cardtronic acquisitive

the spa of four strategic

acouisiuons EDC ATM

ocatoSearch Access Money

and Mn Cash -- Cardtronics grew its

-tIM fleet eThanced its roster of

oremier retailer and bank partnc
--

added new product capabilities an

expanded its international footprir

2011 emembeied as th

of the acquis tion at Cardtronics it

should more accurately be recalle

as the year of the targeted

purpose-driven acquisition While

the four acoiiisitions differ in size

ano contribution value they all

share singular purpose of growing

rnareholder value with each

layng specific role in building

unique ana sustainable position

fo Cardtronics Watch for special

section later in this report highlighting our new acquisitions

and the ratonaie behind them

Even without the acquisitions that helped define our year what

toure seeing oehind the healthy financials growth rates and

operating metrics is the value of Cardtronics special network

of destinatio retai locations for its ATMs ATM cash access

the Cardtronics wa durable service offering providing

critical functon for daily living Our locations save consumers

orecious tme and icreaCrgiy iudging ou swelling

surcharge.iroe tranr tion connt alabie ioney And neres

he bert part eYe only cratched the sur ace There zime

Consumers more eb ird preoaO cards and mant more

do Cars for Card or cs TYs to coivenient dispense tu ning

aooiitmo CO isurnor ito oya cdsh-equpped shoppe

or oc eLaler plrtners fra isacriols are Inere to oe fadund by

enhaicng the valua Oliver to consune-s rota ers hnancial

institut.ois and othr Card sscers we ntend increase

share

EVOLUTON OF CARDTRONCS

With slow-to-deieop ecoomc

recovery and new slate of

government regulations placing

financial services ndustry in state

of flux generations-old banking

cost structures mat welL give way tc

leaner increasingly tec inologically

delive ed lower-cost service nodels

Yet even in so-ca led Bank 2.0

world one old reuaoie real world

pnyscal asset will reriain tabie

stakes to reach the \Ndest swath or

consumers convenie tl -located

ATM. and that spells opportunity to

Cardtroncs

In this envimnment of opportu itf

it server Cardtionics best inte ests

to comingle our business mood

ith the emerging and new needs of

banks credit unons and prepaio caro

programs With these new realities

in-mind last year Cardtronics leadewhip began plotting course

to take the company forward irto Bank 2.0 world place

where the ieeds of rinancal institutions overlap with retailers

insatiable th St for loyal customers and repeat business

long-term journey lays ahead vth ventures into uncharted

territory possibility To help nay gate the shifting financial

services lndscope in 211 Cardtronics made meaningful

investments in the tyoes OF proprietary consumer and ATM user

as year of strng



resea ca projectc that logically precede new initiatives id pilot

pr grams Consder ir due Lgerc in advance of finalizing

St atevic pian to eft Cardiron cc arkepace approach

msentl\ companytiat very successfull cends cash by placirg

arMbranded At Ms at vcmier rea er locatios rdtrontcs is

caoable of mo Consun ers demard convenience in all things

nciuding access to cash By creatng tighte partnerships

wLh cu retailer hnancia instituton and prepaid partneis

can tra sfo Cardtronics ATMs Into unique and special

destiraCons for people in searrh of cash And when we do that

Cardtronicc is te catayst in creating sycker more Lcratice

stomer relationsh PS fo aL ou pa t.e

This strategic bansttion will be seseraL year journe

ghLighted by the fine4uning of exist ng capabI ties and

ilding rew skiLLsets along the vvay Howevervhen ye get to

vhere were going Cardtronics is aggressively helping retailers

reprove sales creating more valuable ATM customer service

channel for financ al institutons and fostering greatei loyalty to

both groups on the part of the consumer decidedly seeking out

special kind oATM Cardtronics ATM

an established Bank 2.0 world Cardtronics will still dispense

cash but increasingly Mom the perspectiae of company

acgressively moving to acquire transaction share for itself for

ts partners and for Its shareownere

BURSTING FROM THE GATE IN 2012

\s 2011 closed with strong fjnish we reflected on continued

growth our core business as well as the acquistions

brnging the potental for future margtns growth In short 2012

began with expectations of sohd performance and once again

dchverirg healthy return on investment for our shareholders

By way of brief progress rcport agaicst those goals since

turning the calendar to January Cardtronics has becoire the

exclusive proiide of ATM services to Valero Corner Stores

adding 920 iocations to our convenience store p0 ttoiio

Additionally Ailpoint Network benefited from highprofile

rr edia attentior to begin the ne year when financial guru Suze

man lau ched her prepa card complete with surchargefree

AIM access by Alipoint

RECOGNITIONS AND REFLECTIONS

No core pany can produce inning financtai results backed by

ideas business models and strategic plans alone It is people

great people exerting themselves daily to dnie those results

In my two-pius years at the helm of Cardtronics weve enjoyed

lot of success and it wouldnt have been achieved without

the determined dedicated and creative effort of our team of

professionals And on that note want to formally recognize the

contributions of all members of the Cardtronics team which by

the end of 2011 incuded many revs colleagues from EDC ATM

Locatoi Search Access to Money and Mr Cash

After working through successful and acquisitive 2011

Cardtronics now turns to the hard work of fully-integrating the

acquisitions implementing new sales initiatives and product

capabthties and continuing to seek Nays to grow and deliver

value to all our consiituencies Thank you to our clients who

tmst Caidtroncs with their brands and reputat ons Thank you

to the investo.swho besides trustiog us with their money have

stood solidly behind Cardtronics during my tenure And finally

thank you to everyone for your continued interest in Cardtrorics

Sincerely

Steve Pathgaber

Chief Executive officer



Look at 201 Acquisitions

ACQUISITION ROLE PLAYERS

With numeiou ATM estates available in the United States and abroad 2011 Cardtronics cxercsed discipbned evaluatiol process

passing on anything failing to solve for specific business need or otter mturn on investrnen for OL shaeholders

Cardtronics 2011 acquisitions our first acquisitions since 7Elevens ATM business in 2007 were EDC ATM LocatorSea chAccess

to Money and Hr Cash Four acquisitions each different in size and means of contribution but all sharing the singuar purpose of

growing sharehotder vatue by playing specific rote in contributing to unique and sustainabe market posit on or Cara ronics

EDC ATM

naturat fit into our core business operations and contributor of 3600 AIMs to our conpanowned rleet EDC alo deuvered

Cardtrorcs marquee retail chains ard bank patners to aid our anactoc and ATM bnding Urowth efforts acquirirq an 6T14

company with busness model so similar to our own Cardtronics credits its oganizaton with an nfuson of seasoned industry

scies and operations professionals

Key retailer retationshios Ccmberland Farms Speedway Sunoco

New bônk partners Citzens Bank Harris Bank



LocatorSearch
LocatorSearch

How does Cardtronics fit an ATM into mobiLe phone WiLd Locator5earch

geolocation so utions thaty how strategic enhancement to the

Cardtronics product mite with LocatorSearch we now have in-house

the ability to make it easier for partner organizations to show and for

consumers to nd the Cardtronics ATM nearest their location with search

msults delivered across mutple platforms ircluding the ubiquitous

mobile phone Beyond enhancing our ability to drive transactions at

Cardtronics ATMs and foot tiarfic for our retail partners LocatorSeach

also delivered 300 new financial irsfituuon relauonships creating

ealthy pipelne of cross-sellng opportunilies

Access to Money

Creating an opportuityto reinvigoiate and transfom

our smaller merchant-own and-load ATM business

Access to Money when combined with Cardtroncs

delivers portfolio of over 16000 merchant-owned

cash machines As for top tier retailer brancrf Access

to Money incLuded top ten convenience store biand

Kangaroo Express as well as Americas number one

purveyor of corfee and donuts for dunking With this

acquisition Cardtronics now nas the additional sales

force and fleet scale to reinvent its merchant-own-

and-load business enabling it to contibute more

effectively to our financial performance

Mr Cash

Commonsense international expansion on budget 600 ATM-strong Mr Cash provided strategic foothold in Canada positioning

Ca dtronics to expand relatonships with retailers and financial institutions operatirg on ooth sides of the 5.-Canadian border

Canada-based management team and base of operations in place in 2012 the company wiLl turr its focus to renessing discusson

th existing clients that hace previously inquired about aligning ssith Cardtronics for ATM services in Canada

FUTURE OF ACQUISITIONS

Cadtronics will continue to evaluate expansion opportunities actind only on the acqusition targets that hep retailers and financ.al

institutions del var more value to their curfomers whch ultimately strengthens Cardtronics compettively and financially



Retail Relationships

2659 3359
MLLON MLLON
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GROWNG WITH GROCERS
ft wouid be easy to say that 2O1 could be dubbed the Year of the Grocer as Cardtronics expanded its porfoho wtO these key

grocery retailers While Cardtronics has continued to expa in many areas the past year has seen Keen focus on the groce channel

Harris Teeter

Inc grocers desire for chain-wide ATM coverage expanded Carotronics etail ATM nctwo sith too new locatons

Yd tlantic States secured exclusvity rignts for future growth across the more than 200 ccatio chain added to our inveto of

brand-able ATMs and exoanded poi Network

King Soopers

\Adth revised Amencans with Dftabties Act regulations oomng 2012 Colorado-baseU HrstBak rormed an ATM Managed

Serv ces relatiorship with Cardtronics last year concerning the segment of ts AIM network locateo ng Soopers grocery stores

the agreement ovem 89 ATMs for Colorados secono-largest bank

Kroger Expansion

Budng or 2010 agreement CardtroAcs added 350 ATHs to both its retaft ATM footprht ard Kroget relationship in 20i1 iith

many add Cons om nng Rapbs and Thou4Less grocery stores in Cahforna and Tom Tl.umb convenience stores Florida The

total Kroger re1ationsnlp nov covers more an 1150 Ms 32 states

Wegma ns

3y summer 2011 Cardtror cs completed ts deployment of more than 80 cash machines cementing its stas as the exclusive

rasder otATM services to \t\/egmar Food Markets with locations in New York Pennsylvania New jersey Virginia and Mar Ia ld



Financia Services
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Up by 40% vs 201.0

Inc odes Ahpoint U.S Bank Brandea and U.K.Free to Use Totals

Up by 30% vs 2010



RECENT HIGHLIGHTS

BRANDING
USAA

Can Cadtronics ATMs really strengthen

customer loya ty for an ATM bancirg partner

heck out this social eda chatLer posted

the wake of USAA branding 189 Cardtronics

ATM5 IOCd ed ii Washington DC

VS/pharmacy stores

Trustco Bank

Representative of another strong growth year

for Alipoint Netork and illustrating the

ability of Ameica aigest surcharge-free ATM

netvvorkto de ivervaue

New York State based

Allpoint to the benefit of cjstomer

between the Northeast and Florida

Xceed Financial Credit Union

As one of the more han 300 new relationships

Cardtronics acquired along with LocatorSearch

California-based Xceed wasted little tin-c

expanding its horizons witf the company

include Al point Network and its 43000

surcharge-free ATMs

Alpoint Network Prepaid

Given the un/underbanked backgrounds

rrom which mary networx-branded prepaid

cardholders come convenientiy-located

surcharge-free ATM cash access is table stakes

for prepad program managers In 2011Allpoint

Network helped many preoaid programs

meet this need including kccountNow

BlackboardPat Intuits Refund Card and Pay

ardTxVia and more



Emerging Goba Presence
rrattcr tt global locale United States Canada iexico Pue to Rico Unit Kinqoo US Vugir sU Eds oc at

Card roni rd its irerratioia brandr is squarely on growing tne number io equer of isactions at ou \T .n 201 ii

taiLe ad Onancia institution elationshps iTtroducnd cur COSh machinestowoe aAro Lcn
tioff locnL and Bank Machine cxc nphfied Cardtronics companywide misic enga mom rect sir irs

ARRONC5 CAR ONKS mach

CANADA
Mr Cash

he accuis tion of Cash provided Card ronics platform aid managemrrl ten Ca ads posiLoni ig thL coiooa cc

serve exist ig retail and fi ianciat institution chents especially those oderating or both sides of the iited Stats Canad

Early 20 Cardtronics bega pursuirg previously identified oppoi tunitiss witf exki ng stin se ATM so vc or ida

in Canada

MEXCO
Banorte Brands OXXO

ConnecJng the custorier bases ol two of Mexicos mosL reognizable consur er

aids Caotron cs Mexico arranged for Grupo Financiero Banote to brand ATMs

locatec in OXXO stores Latin Amer cs largest coivenierce store chain With

300 AMs now hrnded Banorte Cardtronics Mexico welcomes new consumrs

aid trar sactons to substatial segment of its ATM fleet

Ailpoint Network

ited States United Kingdom Austraha and as of 2011 Hexio illustrative of

ts eme giru global presence by extending its internaConal surchargefrec ATM

footpi ir into Mexico Ahooint Network delivered increased value to existinl

memhe adced 800 cash machines and increased the worldwide Allpoint

ATM coi nt

PUERTO RCO
Cooperativa San RafaeL GerenCoop and PuebtoCoop

Cardtronics celebrated the bres irough erto of its st TM aged

Services contracts witt Pue to Ri finam st tutions wh ti ricto

taken doiGyourseUf approach ope ati or ATM netv

NationaL Lumber Hardware

National Lumber Hardware uivisior of Pitusa the sb arges due

Ricothased retailer vgned an AT sevices Jea vath Cadtroncs arc mmi dii

benfited fro our Scotiabank reistic nship Sco .ahaak bra dE 28

nec becomrg on ACM Brand ng customer 010 Scotiabaas ras oraned oc

than 90 Caidtronics ATMs ir Purto tico



UNITED KINGDOM
Southern RaiLway

Already among the busiest ATM sites when

we on the contrac Ba Machine took these

sites at some of Southern Englands busiest

corr oLd ra ivay sta ions and made them

ese better After 0nc AT locations were

nor ehenrivoly upgraded and rebranded

subsmntial transac000 groth 4uickly

forlowed heipio BanK Machir post ficeL

Mde ATM transactior orovtn of 530/ in 2011

Virgin Money

Aligned with its luest to make banking better

tne U.K Virgin Money selocted Bank Machire

to operate the rgri Money oranded ATM5 at

the new hign sjeet Virgin Money Lounges

Text2 Win

oicting drecL ro no rume outrcach that

eventuahy wade America Bank Machine

generated transaction no eases vith rst-of

iL kino trivia competition that ormed tight

bo between the ATM and ou customers

mobLe phones ATM screen presents the

iuesbon consumers text their answer 1000

cash orize Bank Machine engages consumers

more oirectiy

PowerfuL Brands

Br tish Petroleu Mor isons and Selfridqes

th cc names syno iy nous with gas grocery and

department store merchants in the As the

result of new business in 2011 Bank Machine

AlMs are now key fixtures aL locations oft

trio of powerful consumer brands



Executive Leadership
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Mark Rossi
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President and Chief Executive Officer Mike KeUer

Parago Inc Genera CounseL



UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION MAY 2Q
Washington D.C 20549

FOR1I 10-K

Mark One

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES EXChANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-33864
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to submit and post such files Yes IZI No
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Do not check if smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act Yes No li
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K the 2011 Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of

Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act These statements are identf led by the use of the

words project believe expect anticipate intend contemplate iforesee would could plan and similar

expressions that are intended to identify forward-looking statements which are generally not historical in nature These forward-looking

statements are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effect on us While

management believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable as and when made there can be no assurance that future

developments affecting us will be those that we anticipate All comments concerning our expectations for future revenues and operating

results are based on our estimates for our existing operations
and do not include the potential impact of any future acquisitions Our

forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties some of which are beyond our control and assumptions that could

cause actual results to dffer materially from our historical experience and our present expectations or projections Known material factors

that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements are those described in Part Item IA Risk

Factors

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements contained in this document which speak only as of the

date of this 2011 Form 10-K We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements after the date they are

made whether as result of new information future events or otherwise



PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

Cardtronics Inc provides convenient automated consumer financial services through its network of automated teller machines ATMs
and multi-function financial services kiosks As of December 31 2011 we were the worlds largest retail ATM owner providing services to

approximately 52900 devices throughout the United States including the U.S territories of Puerto Rico and the U.S Virgin Islands the

United Kingdom Mexico and Canada Included within this number are approximately 2200 multi-function financial services kiosks that in

addition to traditional ATM functions such as cash dispensing and bank account balance inquiries perform other consumer financial services

including bill payments check cashing remote deposit capture which represents deposits taken using electronic imaging at ATMs not

physically located at bank and money transfers Also included in the number of devices in our network as of December 31 2011 were

approximately 4800 ATMs to which we provided various forms of managed services solutions Under managed services arrangement

retailers and financial institutions rely on us to handle some or all of the operational aspects associated with operating and maintaining their

ATMs typically in exchange for monthly service fee or fee per service provided

We often partner with large nationally-known retail merchants under multi-year agreements to place our ATMs and kiosks within their

store locations In doing so we provide our retail partners with an automated financial services solution that we believe helps them attract and

retain customers and in turn increases the likelihood that our devices will be utilized Finally we own and operate an electronic funds

transfer EFT transaction processing platform that provides transaction processing services to our network of ATMs and financial services

kiosks as well as ATMs owned and operated by third parties

Historically we have deployed and operated our devices under two distinct arrangements with our retail partners Company-owned and

merchant-owned arrangements Under Company-owned arrangements we provide the device and are typically responsible for all aspects of

its operation including transaction processing managing cash supplies and telecommunications as well as routine and technical

maintenance Under our merchant-owned arrangements the retail merchant or an independent distributor owns the device and is usually

responsible for providing cash and performing simple maintenance tasks while we provide more complex maintenance services transaction

processing and connection to the EFT networks As of December 31 2011 64% of our devices operated under traditional ATM deployment

services were Company-owned and 36% were merchant-owned During 2011 we added approximately 14200 ATMs from acquisitions

which increased the percentage of merchant-owned arrangements in our total portfolio from approximately 29% year ago as the majority of

the ATMs acquired during 201 lwere merchant-owned Both the merchant-owned and Company-owned structures are attractive options for us

and we plan to grow our revenues under both arrangement types

In addition to deploying our devices under Company-owned and merchant-owned arrangements we also offer managed services

solution under which we provide certain services to retailers financial institutions and other ATM operators We offer various forms of

managed services depending on the needs of our customers and offer customized ATM management solution that can include monitoring

maintenance cash management customer service transaction processing and other services

Finally we partner with leading national financial institutions to brand selected ATMs and financial services kiosks within our network

including Citibank N.A Citizens Financial Group Inc JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A Sovereign Bank SunTrust Bank and PNC Bank
N.A As of December 31 2011 over 15400 of our domestic Company-owned devices were under contract with financial institutions to

place their logos on those machines and to provide convenient surcharge-free access for their banking customers In Mexico we partner with

BansI S.A Institución de Banca Multiple Bansi regional bank in Mexico and noncontrolling interest owner in Cardtronics Mexico

and Grupo Financiero Banorte S.A de C.V Banorte to place their brands on our ATMs in exchange for certain services provided by

them We also own and operate the Alipoint network the largest surcharge-free ATM network within the United States based on the number

of participating ATMs The Alipoint network which has more than 43000 participating ATMs provides surcharge-free ATM access to

customers of participating financial institutions that may lack significant ATM network The Allpoint network includes majority of our

ATMs in the United States Puerto Rico and Mexico all of our ATMs in the United Kingdom and over 5000 locations in Australia through

partnership with local ATM owner and operator Allpoint also works with financial institutions that manage stored-value debit card

programs on behalf of corporate entities and governmental agencies including general purpose payroll and electronic benefits transfer

EBT cards Under these programs the issuing financial institutions pay Allpoint fee per card or per transaction in return for allowing the

users of those cards surcharge-free access to Allpoints participating ATM network

Our revenues are recurring in nature and historically have been derived primarily from transaction fees which are paid by cardholders and

transaction fees including interchange fees which are paid by the cardholders financial institution for the use of the devices serving

customers and the applicable EFT network that transmits data between the device and the cardholders financial institution We generate

additional revenues by branding our devices with the logos of leading national banks and other financial institutions by providing managed

services solutions to retailers and financial institutions and by collecting fees from financial institutions that participate in our Alipoint



surcharge-free network Under our managed services arrangements we typically receive fixed management fee or fixed rate per transaction

in return for providing certain services We do not receive surcharge and interchange fees in these arrangements but rather those fees are

earned by our customer

Organizational and Operational History

We were formed as Texas corporation in 1993 and originally operated under the name of Cardpro Inc In June 2001 Cardpro Inc was

converted into Delaware limited partnership and renamed Cardtronics LP In addition in June 2001 Cardtronics Group Inc was

incorporated under the laws of the state of Delaware to act as holding company for Cardtronics LP with Cardtronics Group Inc indirectly

owning 100% of the equity of Cardtronics LP In January 2004 Cardtronics Group Inc changed its name to Cardtronics Inc In December

2007 we completed the initial public offering of 12000000 shares of our common stock In December 2008 Cardtronics LP was converted

to corporation under the laws of Delaware and changed its name to Cardtronics USA Inc Cardtronics USA Inc is the primary domestic

operating subsidiary of Cardtronics Inc

Since May 2001 we have acquired 17 ATM networks leading location technology business for ATMs and an operator of surcharge-

free ATM network increasing the number of ATMs we operate from approximately 4100 as of May 2001 to approximately 52900 as of

December 31 2011 Three of these acquisitions enabled us to enter international ATM markets Specifically our acquisitions of Bank

Machine Acquisitions Limited Bank Machine in May 2005 majority ownership interest in CCS Mexico which was subsequently

renamed Cardtronics Mexico S.A de CV Cardtronics Mexico in February 2006 and our acquisition of Mr Cash ATM Network Inc

Mr Cash which was subsequently renamed Cardtronics Canada in October 2011 expanded our operations into the United Kingdom

Mexico and Canada respectively Our acquisition of ATM National Allpoint in December 2005 provided us with platform to further

pursue and develop surcharge-free offerings In July 2007 we acquired the financial services business of 7-Eleven Inc the 7-Eleven

Financial Services Business which included 3500 traditional ATMs and approximately 2200 multi-function financial services kiosks

which allowed us to offer additional automated financial services above and beyond those typically offered by traditional ATMs During

2011 we acquired two ATM networks EDC ATM Subsidiary LLC and Efmark Deployment Inc collectively referred to as EDC in

July and Access to Money Inc Access to Money in November

From 2001 to 2011 the total number of annual transactions processed within our network increased from approximately 19.9 million to

approximately 542.7 million

Additional Company Information

General information about us can be found at http//www.cardtronics.com We file annual quarterly and other reports as well as other

information with the SEC under the Exchange Act Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q Current Reports on

Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports are available free of charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after the reports

are filed or furnished electronically with the SEC You may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SECs Public

Reference Room at 100 Street NE Washington D.C 20549 You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room

by calling the SEC at -800-SEC-0330 The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports proxy and information statements and other

information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http//www.sec.gov You may also request an electronic or paper copy of

our SEC filings at no cost by writing or telephoning us at the following Cardtronics Inc Attention Chief Financial Officer 3250 Briarpark

Drive Suite 400 Houston Texas 77042 832 308-4000 Information on our website is not incorporated into this 2011 Form 10-K or our

other securities filings

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to enhance our position as leading provider of automated consumer financial services in the markets in which we operate

as well as other select international markets To do so we will continue to partner with leading financial institutions and retailers to expand

our network of conveniently located ATMs and financial services kiosks Additionally we will seek to deploy additional products and

services that will further incentivize consumers to utilize our network of devices In order to execute this strategy we will endeavor to

Expand our Network of Devices with Leading Merchants We believe that we have opportunities to further expand the number of ATMs

and financial services kiosks that we own and/or operate with leading merchants With respect to our existing merchants we have two

principal opportunities to increase the number of deployed devices first by deploying devices in existing merchant locations that currently

do not have device but where consumer traffic volumes and anticipated returns justify installing device and second as our merchants

open new locations by installing devices in those locations With respect to new merchant customers we believe our expertise national

footprint strong record of customer service and significant scale position us to successfully market to and enter into long-term contracts

with additional leading national and regional merchants In addition we believe our existing relationships with leading U.S.- and U.K.-based

retailers position us to expand in international locations where these existing partners have operations



Expand our Relationships with Leading Financial Institutions Through our diverse product and service offerings we believe we are well-

positioned to work with our existing financial institution customers to fulfill their growing ATM and automated consumer financial services

requirements Further we believe we can leverage these offerings to attract additional financial institutions as customers For example our

services currently offered to financial institutions include branding our ATMs with their logos and providing surcharge-free access to their

customers and managing their off-premise ATMs i.e ATMs not located in bank branch Additionally we can provide other automated

consumer financial services for these financial institutions that are not routinely utilized such as check cashing remote deposit capture

money transfer bill payment services and stored-value card reload services through self-service kiosks In addition our EFT transaction

processing capabilities provide us with the ability to provide customized control over the content of the information appearing on the screens
of our ATMs and ATMs we process for financial institutions which we believe increases the types of products and services that we are able

to offer to financial institutions In the United Kingdom our armored courier operation coupled with our existing in-house ATM
maintenance and EFT transaction processing capabilities provides us with full suite of services that we can offer to financial institutions in

that market

Continue to Capitalize on Surcharge-Free Network and Stored- Value Card Opportunities We plan to continue pursuing opportunities

with respect to our surcharge-free network offerings where financial institutions pay us to allow their customers surcharge-free access to our
ATM network on non-exclusive basis We believe surcharge-free arrangements will enable us to increase transaction counts and

profitability on our existing machines We also plan to pursue additional opportunities to work with financial institutions that issue and

sponsor stored-value debit card programs We believe that these programs represent significant transaction growth opportunities for us as

many users of stored-value debit cards do not have bank accounts and consequently have historically not been able to utilize our existing

ATMs and financial services kiosks

Pursue Additional Managed Services Opportunities During 2011 we expanded the number of ATMs that are operated under our managed
services solution Under this arrangement retailers and financial institutions generally pay us fixed management fee and/or fixed rate per
transaction in return for handling some or all of the operational aspects associated with operating and maintaining their ATM fleets

Surcharge and interchange fees are earned by the retailer or the financial institution As result in this arrangement type our revenues are

partly protected from variations in transaction levels of these machines and changes in network interchange rates We plan to pursue
additional opportunities with leading merchants and financial institutions in the United States as well as international opportunities as they
arise working with our customers to provide them with customized solution that fits their needs

Pursue International Growth Opportunities We have invested significant amounts of capital in the infrastructure of our United Kingdom
and Mexico operations and we plan to continue selectively increasing the number of our ATMs in these markets by increasing the number of
machines deployed with our existing customer base as well as adding new merchant customers In 2011 we entered into the Canadian market
with our acquisition of Mr Cash subsequently renamed Cardtronics Canada We plan to expand in Canada primarily through expanding our
ATM footprint in that market and establishing relationships with leading financial institutions Additionally we may expand our operations
into selected other international markets where we believe we can leverage our operational expertise EFT transaction processing platform
and scale advantages We plan to seek opportunities to expand into other international markets in the future Our future international

expansion will depend on number of factors including the estimated economic opportunity to us the business and regulatory environment

in the international market risks associated with the international expansion as well as other factors

Develop and Provide Additional Services at Our Existing Fleet Service offerings by ATMs continue to evolve over time Certain ATM
models are now capable of providing numerous automated consumer financial services including bill payments check cashing remote

deposit capture and money transfers Certain of our devices are capable of and currently provide these types of services We believe these

non-traditional consumer financial services offered by our devices and other machines that we or others may develop will provide us with
additional growth opportunities as retailers and financial institutions seek to provide additional convenient self-service financial services to

their customers We also have begun to allow advertisers to place their messages on our AIMs equipped with third-party advertising software
in both the United States and the United Kingdom Offering additional services at our devices such as advertising allows us to create new
revenue streams from assets that have already been deployed in addition to providing value to our customers through beneficial offers and

convenient services

For additional information on items that may impact our strategy see Part II Item Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations Developing Trends in the TM and Financial Services Industry

Our Products and Services

We typically provide our Company-owned merchant customers with all of the services required to operate ATMs and financial services

kiosks which include monitoring maintenance cash management customer service and transaction processing We believe our merchant

customers value our high level of service our 24-hour per day monitoring and accessibility and that our devices are on-line and able to serve
customers an average of approximately 99.0% of the time In connection with the operation of our devices under our traditional ATM
services model we generate revenue on per-transaction basis from the surcharge fees charged to cardholders for the convenience of using



our devices and from interchange fees charged to such cardholders financial institutions for processing the related transactions conducted on

those devices As further described below we also earn revenues on these devices based on our relationships with certain financial

institutions and our Allpoint network

Tinder our merchant-owned arrangement type typically pros ide transaction-processing service certain customer support functions and

settlement services We generally earn surcharge and interchange revenue on per
transaction basis in this arrangement In some cases the

surcharge is earned completely by the merchant in which case our revenues are derived solely from interchange revenues As of December

31 2011 we had approximately 6100 ATMs operating under this arrangement type where we did not record the surcharge fee as our

revenues because the merchant earned them

For fMs under nanaged services arrangements we typically receive fixed monthly management fee andlor fixed rate per transaction

in return for providing the agreed-upon suite of services We do not recei\ surcharge and interchange fees in these arrangements but rather

those amounts are earned by the customer

The ollow ing table provides detail relating To the number of devices we owned and operated under our various arrangements as of

December 31 2011 eratioisdServices

Company- Merchant- Company- Merchant-

Owned Owned Subtotal Owned Owned Subtotal Total

Number of detiees at period end yo643 17462 48105 1316 3465 4781 52886

Percent of subtotal 63.7c 36.3c 100.0c 27 72.5o 100.000 l00.0o

We generally operate our AIMs and kiosks under multi-year contracts that provide recurring and stable source of revenue and typically

have an initial targeted term of five to seven years
As of December 31 2011 our contracts with our top 10 merchant customers based on

2011 revenues had weighted average remaining life of 4.6 years

Addtionally we enter into arrangements with financial institutions to brand certain of our Company-owned AIMs with their logos These

bank branding arrangements allow financial institution to expand its geographic presence
for fraction of the cost of building branch

location and typically for less than the cost of placing one of its own ATMs at that location These arrangements allow financial institution

to rapidly increase its number of branded ATM sites and improve its competitive position Under these ariangements
the branding

institutons customers are allowed to use the branded ATMs without paying surcharge fee to us In return we receive monthly fees on

per-ATM basis from the branding institution bile retaining our standard fee schedule for other cardholders using the branded ATMs In

addition our branded machines typically generate higher interchange revenue as result of the increased usage of our ATMs by the branding

institutions customers and others who prefer to use bank-branded ATM We intend to continue pursuing additional bank branding

arrangements as part of our growth strategy As of December 31 2011 we had bank branding arrangements in place with 53 domestic

financial institutions involving over 15400 Company-ow ned AIMs in addition to majority of our ATMs in Mexico with Bansi and Banorte

and in Puerto Rico with Scotiabank We saw growth in the past few years
in bank branding arrangements as result of our increased sales

efforts our acquisition of EDC in July 2011 and what we believe was the realization by financial institutions of the significant benefits and

opportunities afforded to them through bank branding programs

In addition to our bank branding arrangements we offer financial institutions another type of surcharge-free program through our Allpoint

nationwide surcharge-free ATM network Under the Allpoint netu ork financial institutions who are members of the network pay us either

fixed monthly fee per cardholder or set fee per transaction in exchange for us providing their cardholders with surcharge-free access to

ATMs in the Ailpoint network which now includes ATMs throughout the United States United Kingdom Mexico Puerto Rico and

Australia We believe Allpoint offers an attractive alternative to financial institutions that lack their own distributed ATM network Finally

our Company-owned AIMs deployed under our placement agreement with 7-Elev en Inc 7-Eleven as well as other select ATM

portfolios that were acquired in 2011 participate in the CO-OP network the nations largest surcharge-free network for credit unions

We have found that the primary factor affecting transaction volumes at given ATM or financial services kiosk is its location Therefore

our strategy in deploying our devices particularly those placed under Company owned arrangements is to identify and deploy them al

locations that provide high visibility and high retail transaction volume Our experience has demonstrated that the following locations often

meet these criteria convenience stores and combination of cony enience stores and gas stations groceiy stores drug stores airports and other

major regional and national retail outlets The 5500 locations that we added to our portfolio as result of the acquisition of the 7-Eleven

Financial Services Business in July 2007 the 7-Eleven ATM Transaction is prime example of the types of locations that we seek when

deploying our AIMs and financial services kiosks In addition to our arrangement with 7-Eleven we have also entered into multi-year

agreements with number of other merchants including Chevron Corporation Chev ron Costco Wholesale Corporation Costco CVS

Caremark Corporation CVSExxon Mobil Corporation ExxonMobil Hess Corporation Hess The Kroger Co Kroger

Safeway Inc Safeway Speedway LLC Speedway Target Corporation Target Walgreen Co Walgreens and Winn-Dixie



United States

United Kingdom

Other llnternational

Ilotal

linited Stales

United Kingdom

Other Intcpiational

Stoics Inc Winn-Dixic in the United States ASDA Group Ltd subsidiary of Wal-Mart Stores Inc Asda Bank of Ireland Group

Furo arages Ltd Stuart liars ey Insurance Brokers Ltd known under their trading name of Forces Financial Inter IKEA Systems B.V

1Kb Martin McColl Ltd. Murco Petroleum Ltd. The Noble Organisation Ltd Fates Ltd and Welcome Break Holdings Ltd

Welcome Break in the United Kingdom and Cadena Comercial OXXO S.A de CV OXXO in Mexico We believe that once

consumers establish pattern of using particular device they will generally continue to use that device

For additional information on the amount of revenue contributed by our various service offerings see Part If Item Managements

Discussion andAnalisis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Overview qfBusiness Components of Revenues Costs of

Re venues and Expenses Rei enue.s

Segment and Geographic Information

As of December 31 2011 our operations consisted of our United States United Kingdom and Other International segments which

currently consists of Mexico and Canada Our operations in Puerto Rico and the U.S Virgin Islands are included in our United States

segment While each of these reporting segments provides similar kiosk-based and or ATM-related services each segment is currently

managed separately as they require different marketing and business strategies

summary of our revenues from third-party customers by geographic region is as follows

Year Ended December 31

2011

501439

97665

25472

624576

2010 2009

In thousands

423109 401934

82583 73096

26386 18323

532078

The net book value of our long-lived assets including our intangible assets in our various geographic locations is as follows

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010

In thousands

484440 313119

75750 67410

14306 15293

574496 395822

2009

317139

70368

14043

401550Total
______________________ ______________________ ______________________

or additional discussion of the revenue profit information and identifiable assets of our reporting segments see Part II ftem Financial

Stutnicts and Supplcmeotay Data Vote 20 Segment Information Additionally for discussion of the risks associated with our

international operations see Item LI Risk Factors Our international operations involve special risks and may not he successful which

would result in reduction of our gross
and net profits

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing teams are organized by customer type We have team principally focused on developing new relationships with

national and regional merchants as well as building and maintaining relationships with our existing merchants The team is ftirther organized

into groups that speciali7e in marketing to specific merchant industry segments which allots us to tailor our offering to the specific

icquirements of each merchant customer In addition to the merchant-focused sales and marketing group we have sales and marketing

group
that is focused on developing and managing our relationships with financial institutions as we look to expand the types of services that

is offer to such institutions Our sales and marketing representatives also focus on identifl ing potential managed services opportunities vvith

financial institutions and retailers alike

In Idition to targeting new business opportunities our sales and marketing team supports our customer retention and growth initiatives by

building and maintaining relationships with our established and recently-acquired merchants We seek to identify growth opportunities within

each merchant account by analyzing the merchants sales at each of its locations foot traffic and various demographic data to determine the

best opportunities for new ATM and financial services kiosk placements As of December 31 2011 our sales and marketing team was

composed of approximately 62 employees of which those vvho are focused on sales typically receive combination of incentive-based

compensation and base salary



Technology

Our technology and operations platform consists of ATMs and financial services kiosks network infrastructure components including

hardware software and telecommunication circuits used to provide real-time device monitoring software distribution and transaction

processing services cash management and forecasting software tools full-service customer service and ATM management infrastructure

This platform is designed to provide our customers with what we believe is high-quality suite of services

Equipment In the United States Canada and Mexico we purchase our ATMs from global manufacturers including but not limited to

NCR Corporation NCR Triton Systems of Delaware Inc Triton Diebold Incorporated Diebold and Nautilus Hyosung Inc

Hyosung and place them in our customers locations The wide range of advanced technology available from these ATM manufacturers

provides our customers with advanced features and reliability through sophisticated diagnostics and self-testing routines The different

machine types can all perform basic functions such as dispensing cash and displaying account information However our technology is

evolving to provide additional services in response to changing consumer demand For example portion of our ATM locations can be

upgraded to accept deposits through the installation of additional hardware and software components Additionally 2200 of our devices

which are manufactured by NCR and located in selected 7-Eleven store locations provide enhanced financial services transactions including

bill payments check cashing remote deposit capture and money transfers

The ATMs we operate in the United Kingdom are principally manufactured by NCR and are categorized into three basic types

convenience which are internal to merchants premises through the wall which are external-facing from merchants

premises and pods free-standing kiosk style ATM also located external to merchants premises

Transaction Processing We place significant emphasis on providing quality service with high level of security and minimal interruption

We have carefully selected support vendors and developed internal professional staff to optimize the performance of our network In 2006

we implemented our own EFT transaction processing operation which is based in Frisco Texas This operation enables us to process and

monitor transactions on our devices and to control the flow and content of information appearing on the screens of such devices As with our

existing network operation we have carefully selected support vendors and developed internal professional staff to help provide sophisticated

security analysis and monitoring 24 hours day to ensure the continued performance of our ATM operation With the acquisitions of EDC
Access to Money and Mr Cash during 2011 we are actively converting the transaction processing of the acquired ATMs to our in-house

solution as previous contractual processing relationships expire

Internal Systems Our internal systems including our EFT transaction processing operation include multiple layers of security to help

protect the systems from unauthorized access Protection from external sources is provided by the use of hardware and software-based

security features that prevent and report unauthorized access attempts Additionally we utilize isolation techniques in order to separate our

sensitive systems from the other systems in our internal network We also use commercially-available encryption technology to protect

information that is stored within our systems as well as information that is being transmitted On our internal network we employ user

authentication and antivirus tools at multiple levels These systems are protected by detailed security rules to only allow appropriate access to

information based on the employees job responsibilities All changes to the systems are controlled by policies and procedures with

automatic prevention and reporting controls that are placed within our processes Our gateway connections to our EFT network service

providers provide us with real-time access to the various financial institutions authorization systems that allow withdrawals balance

inquiries transfers and advanced functionality transactions We have installed these communications circuits with backup connectivity to

help protect us from telecommunications interruption in any particular circuit We use commercially-available and custom software that

continuously monitors the performance of the devices in our network including details of transactions at each device and expenses relating to

those devices further allowing us to monitor our on-line availability and financial profitability at each location We analyze transaction

volume and profitability data to determine whether to continue operating at given site to determine how to price various operating

arrangements with merchants and branding partners and to create profile of successful locations to assist us in deciding the best locations

for additional deployments

Cash Management Our cash management department uses commercially-available software and proprietary analytical models to

determine the necessary fill frequency and cash load amount for each ATM We project cash requirements for each ATM on daily basis

taking into consideration its location the day of the week the timing of holidays and events and other factors After receiving cash order

from us the cash provider forwards the request to its vault location nearest to the applicable ATM Personnel at the vault location then

arrange for the requested amount of cash to be set aside and made available for the designated armored courier to access and subsequently

transport to the ATM Our cash management department utilizes data generated by the cash providers internally-generated data and

proprietary methodology to confirm daily orders audit delivery of cash to armored couriers and ATMs monitor cash balances for cash

shortages coordinate and manage emergency cash orders and audit costs from both armored couriers and cash providers

In addition during 2008 we implemented our own armored courier operation in the United Kingdom Green Team Services Limited

Green Team with secure cash depot facility located outside of London England In 2010 we launched our second cash depot for this

operation in Manchester England As of December 31 2011 this operation was servicing approximately 1790 of our ATMs in the United



Kingdom We believe this operation allows us to provide higher-quality and more cost-effective cash-handling services in that market and has

proven to be an efficient alternative to third-party armored providers

Customer Service We believe one of the factors that differentiate us from our competitors is our customer service responsiveness and

proactive approach to managing any downtime experienced by our devices We use an advanced software package that monitors the

performance of our Company-owned devices 24 hours day for service interruptions and notifies our maintenance vendors for prompt

dispatch of necessary service calls

Finally we use proprietary software systems in the United States the United Kingdom and Mexico to maintain database of transactions

made on and performance metrics for each of our devices This data is aggregated into individual merchant customer profiles that are readily

accessible by our customer service representatives and managers We believe our proprietary database enables us to provide superior quality

and accessible and reliable customer support

Primary Vendor Relationships

To maintain an efficient and flexible operating structure we outsource certain aspects of our operations including cash management

maintenance and in selected cases certain transaction processing services Due to the large number of devices we operate we believe we
have obtained favorable pricing terms from most of our major vendors We contract for the provision of the services described below in

connection with our operations

Transaction Processing Although we have our own EFT processing platform that utilizes commercially available software from Sl

Corporation our processing efforts are primarily focused on controlling the flow and content of information on the ATM screen We refer to

this process as terminal driving As such we mostly rely on third-party service providers to handle our connections to the EFT networks and

to perform certain funds settlement and reconciliation procedures on our behalf These third-party transaction processors communicate with

the cardholders financial institution through various EFT networks to obtain transaction authorizations and to provide us with the

information we need to ensure that the related funds are properly settled These transaction processors include Elan Financial Services

Elan Fidelity Information Services Inc FIS and Fiserv Solutions Inc Fiserv in the United States LiNK in the United Kingdom
Promoción Operación S.A de C.V PROSA-RED in Mexico and Interac Corporation Interac in Canada As result of our 2011

acquisitions approximately 21% of our domestic withdrawal transactions are currently processed through other third-party processors with

whom the acquired businesses had existing contractual relationships As these contract terms expire we plan to convert transaction

processing services to our EFT processing platform

EFT Network Services Our transactions are routed over various EFT networks to obtain authorization for cash disbursements and to

provide account balances These networks include Star Pulse NYCE Cirrus and Plus in the United States LINK in the United Kingdom
Interac in Canada and PROSA-RED in Mexico EFT networks set the interchange fees that they charge to the financial institutions as well

as the amount paid to us We attempt to maximize the utility of our AIMs to cardholders by participating in as many EFT networks as

practical Additionally we own the Allpoint network the largest surcharge free network in the United States Owning our own network

further maximizes ATM utility by giving certain cardholders surcharge-free option at our ATMs as well as allowing us to receive network-

related economic benefits such as receiving switch revenue and setting surcharge-free interchange rates on our own ATMs as well as other

participating ATMs

Equipment As previously noted we purchase substantially all of our ATMs from number of global ATM manufacturers including NCR
Triton Diebold and Hyosung The large quantity of machines that we purchase from these manufacturers enables us to receive favorable

pricing and payment terms In addition we maintain close working relationships with these manufacturers in the course of our business

allowing us to stay informed regarding product updates and to receive prompt attention for any technical problems with purchased equipment

During 2011 the favorable pricing we received from these manufacturers also allowed us to offer our merchants and distributors an

affordable solution to replace their ATMs and their customers ATMs to be compliant with the new regulatory requirements of Americans

with Disabilities Act ADA which resulted in higher ATM product sales during the year

Although we currently purchase majority of our devices from NCR we believe our relationships with our other suppliers are good and

that we would be able to purchase the machines we require for our Company-owned operations from other manufacturers if we were no

longer able to purchase them from NCR

Maintenance In the United States we typically contract with third-party service providers for on-site maintenance services We have

multi-year maintenance agreements with NCR Pendum Solvport and Diebold in the United States In the United Kingdom maintenance

services are provided by our in-house teclmicians In Mexico and Canada we outsource the ATM maintenance function to various third party

service providers



Cash Management We obtain cash to fill our Company-owned devices and in some cases merchant-owned and managed services ATMs
under arrangements with our cash providers which are Bank of America N.A Bank of America Elan which is business of U.S

Bancorp Wells Fargo N.A Wells Fargo and another vault cash provider in the United States Alliance Leicester Commercial Bank

ALCB and owned by The Santander Group in the United Kingdom and Bansi and Banorte in Mexico In Canada the vault cash has

typically been provided by an armored courier but we are currently negotiating with large bank in this market for future service We pay

monthly fee on the average amount outstanding to our primary vault cash providers under formula which is generally based on the London

Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR in the United States and in the United Kingdom the Mexican Interbank Rate in Mexico and either the

Canadian Prime Rate or the Bankers Acceptance Rate in Canada At all times beneficial ownership of the cash is retained by the cash

providers and we have no access or right to the cash except for those ATMs that are serviced by our wholly-owned armored courier

operation in the United Kingdom While our armored courier operation has physical access to the cash loaded in those machines beneficial

ownership of that cash remains with the cash provider at all times We also contract with third parties to provide us with cash management

services which include reporting armored courier coordination cash ordering cash insurance reconciliation of ATM cash balances and

claims processing with armored couriers financial institutions and processors

As of December 31 2011 we had approximately $1.7 billion in cash in our domestic ATMs under these arrangements of which 42.0%

was provided by Bank of America under vault cash agreement that expires in October 2013 and 40.4% was provided by Wells Fargo under

vault cash agreement that expires in July 2013 In the United Kingdom the balance of cash held in our ATMs was $343.7 million all of

which was supplied by ALCB in Mexico our balance totaled approximately $53.7 million and in Canada it was $0.7 million as of year-end

For additional information on our vault cash agreements see Item JA Risk Factors We rely on third parties to provide us with the cash we

require to operate many of our devices If these third parties were unable or unwilling to provide us with the necessary
cash to operate our

devices we would need to locate alternative sources of cash to operate our devices or we would not be able to operate our business

Cash Replenishment We contract with armored courier services to transport and transfer most of the cash to our devices We use leading

armored couriers such as Loomis and Garda in the United States and Sunwin RMS Integrated Solutions Ltd and our own armored carrier

operation in the United Kingdom Under these arrangements the armored couriers pick up the cash in bulk and using instructions received

from our cash providers prepare
the cash for delivery to each ATM on the designated fill day Following predetermined schedule the

armored couriers visit each location on the designated fill day load cash into each ATM by either adding additional cash into cassette or by

swapping out the remaining cash for new fully loaded cassette and then balance each machine and provide cash reporting to the applicable

cash provider

We implemented our own armored courier operation in the United Kingdom during 2008 and expanded that operation in 2010 with the

opening of second depot This operation which is currently servicing approximately 1790 of our ATMs in the United Kingdom reduces

our reliance on third parties and allows us greater flexibility in terms of servicing our ATMs Additionally as noted above this operation

allows us to provide higher-quality and more cost-effective cash-handling services in that market and has proven to be an efficient alternative

to third-party armored providers

Merchant Customers

In each of our markets we typically deploy our Company-owned devices under long-term contracts with major national and regional

merchants including convenience stores supermarkets drug stores and other high-traffic locations Our merchant-owned ATMs are

typically deployed under arrangements with smaller independent merchants

The terms of our merchant contracts vary as result of negotiations at the time of execution In the case of Company-owned devices the

contract terms vary but typically include the following

multi-year term

exclusive deployment of devices at locations where we install device

the right to increase surcharge fees with merchant consent required in some cases

in the United States our right to terminate or remove devices or renegotiate the fees payable to the merchant if surcharge fees or

interchange fees are generally reduced or eliminated as result of regulatory action and

provisions that make the merchants fee dependent on the number of device transactions

Our contracts under merchant-owned arrangements typically include similar terms as well as the following additional terms



in the United States provisions prohibiting in-store check cashing by the merchant and in the United States and the United

Kingdom the operation of any other cash-back devices

provisions imposing an obligation on the merchant to operate the ATMs at any time its stores are open for business and

Finally our managed services contracts are tailored to the needs of the merchant and therefore vary in
scope and terms Under these types

of arrangements our customers determine the location the surcharge fee and the services offered while we typically receive fixed

management fee on per machine basis or fixed rate per transaction

7-Eleven is the largest merchant customer in our portfolio representing approximately 31% of our total revenues for the year ended

December 31 2011 The underlying merchant agreement with 7-Eleven which had an initial term of 10
years from the effective date of the

acquisition expires in July 2017 In addition to 7-Eleven our next four largest merchant customers based on revenues during 2011 were

CVS Walgreens Martin McColl in the United Kingdom and Target none of which individually generated in excess of 8% of our total

revenues in 2011

Seasonality

In the United States Canada and Mexico our overall business is somewhat seasonal in nature with generally fewer transactions occurring

in the first quarter of the fiscal year Transaction volumes at our devices located in regions affected by strong winter weather patterns

typically experience declines in volume during the first and fourth quarters as result of decreases in the amount of consumer traffic through

such locations These declines however have been offset somewhat by increases in the number of our devices located in shopping malls and

other retail locations that benefit from increased consumer traffic during the summer vacation and holiday buying season Similarly we have

seen increases in transaction volumes during the second quarter at our devices located near popular spring break destinations We expect

these location-specific and regional fluctuations in transaction volumes to continue in the future

In the United Kingdom seasonality in transaction patterns tends to be similar to the seasonal patterns in the general retail market

Generally the highest transaction volumes occur on weekend days and thus monthly transaction volumes will fluctuate based on the number

of weekend days in given month However we like other independent ATM operators experience drop in the number of transactions we
process during the Christmas season due to consumers greater tendency to shop in the vicinity of free-to-use ATMs which are ATMs that do

not charge surcharge to the cardholder and the routine closure of some of our ATM sites over the Christmas break We expect these

location-specific and regional fluctuations in transaction volumes to continue in the future

Competition

Historically we have competed with financial institutions and other independent ATM companies for additional ATM placements new

merchant accounts and acquisitions However we also have established relationships with leading national and regional financial institutions

in the United States through our bank branding program and our leading surcharge-free network Allpoint Both of these programs can be

cost-efficient alternatives to banks and other financial service providers in lieu owning and operating extensive ATM networks We believe

the scale of our extensive network our EFT transaction processing services and our focus on customer service provide us with competitive

advantages for providing services to leading financial institutions However our devices do compete with the devices owned and operated by
financial institutions and other operators for underlying consumer transactions In certain merchant location types such as airports large

arenas or stadiums we often will see competition from large financial institutions as the institutions may contemplate utilizing such locations

for marketing and advertising purposes With respect to independent operators of ATMs our major domestic competitors include Payment
Alliance International Global Cash Access Holdings and other independent ATM deployers commonly referred to as lADs and

operators

Through our Allpoint surcharge-free network we have significantly expanded our relationships with local and regional financial

institutions as well as large issuers of stored-value debit card programs With regard to Allpoint we encounter competition from other

organizations surcharge free networks who are seeking to both sell their network to retail locations and offer surcharge-free ATM access to

issuers of stored-value debit cards as well as smaller financial institutions that lack large ATM footprints

As previously noted we are increasing the types of services we provide to financial institutions and merchants including providing

services to manage their ATMs With respect to our managed services offering we believe we are well-positioned to offer comprehensive

ATM outsource solution with our breadth of services in-house expertise and network of existing locations that can leverage the economies

of the physical services required to operate an ATM portfolio There are several large financial services companies equipment

manufacturers and service providers that currently offer some of the services in our offering with whom we expect to compete directly in

this area In spite of this we believe that we have unique advantages that will allow us to offer compelling solution to financial institutions

and retailers alike
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In the United Kingdom we compete with banks such as the Royal Bank of Scotland Barclays and Lloyds for the free-to-use ATMs while

we also compete with several large non-bank ATM operators including Cashzone formerly Cardpoint and now wholly-owned subsidiary

of Payzone Notemachine and Paypoint for the pay-to-use ATMs In Mexico we compete primarily with national and regional financial

institutions for multi-unit retail placements including Banamex Bancomer and HSBC and with small ATM operators for specific merchant

locations In Canada we compete with ATM providers such as DirectCash Payments Inc and GabEZEE ATM as well as large banks for

ATM placements

Government and Industry Regulation

United States

Our principal business ATM network ownership and operation is not subject to significant government regulation though we are subject

to certain industry regulations Additionally various aspects of our business are subject to state regulation Our failure to comply with

applicable laws and regulations could result in restrictions on our ability to provide our products and services in such states as well as the

imposition of civil fines

Americans with Disabilities Act ADA The ADA requires that ATMs be accessible to and independently usable by individuals with

disabilities such as visually-impaired or wheel-chair bound persons The U.S Department of Justice has issued accessibility regulations

under the ADA that become effective in March 2012 We have been preparing for these new regulations for several years by ensuring that

the ATMs that we purchase and deploy are compliant with these then proposed regulations For that reason we do not believe that these new

guidelines will have an adverse effect on our business regarding Company-owned machines We have also been working with our merchant-

owned ATM customer base to help them to achieve compliance with the ADA However as result of the new requirements under the ADA
we could experience some account attrition in our merchant-owned business as some merchants may elect to discontinue operating an ATM

Rehabilitation Act On November 26 2006 U.S District Court judge ruled that the United States currencies as currently designed

violate the Rehabilitation Act law that prohibits discrimination in government programs on the basis of disability as the paper currencies

issued by the United States are identical in size and color regardless of denomination As consequence of this ruling the United States

Treasury conducted study to determine the options to make United States paper currency accessible to the blind or visually impaired It is

our understanding that the Bureau of Engraving and Printing BEP received that study on or about July 28 2009 and together with the

United States Treasury and the Federal Reserve are reviewing the study Upon the completion of that review these institutions will publish

their recommendations and thereafter seek public comments in writing and at public forums on those recommendations Following the

public comment period final recommendation will be made to the Secretary of the Treasury who has authority to change the design and

features of the currency notes utilized in the United States While it is still uncertain at this time what impact if any this process will have on

the ATM industry including us it is possible that any changes made to the design of the paper currency notes utilized in the United States

could require us to incur additional costs which could be substantial to modify our ATMs in order to store and dispense such notes

Dodd-Frank Act The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the Dodd-Frank Act which contains broad

measures aimed at overhauling existing financial regulations within the United States was signed into law on July 21 2010 Among many

other things the Dodd-Frank Act includes provisions that call for the establishment of new Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection

limit the activities that banking entities may engage in and give the Federal Reserve the authority to regulate interchange transaction

fees charged by electronic funds transfer networks for electronic debit transactions Many of the detailed regulations required under the

Dodd-Frank Act have still yet to be finalized As result of the Dodd-Frank Act we have seen networks and banks take different actions to

attempt to mitigate reductions to fees that they previously earned on certain transaction types such as point-of-sale debit interchange As

potentially an indirect consequence we have been notified by certain networks over which our ATM transactions are routed that the net

interchange that the network will pay to us will be reduced in future periods Other possible impacts of this broad legislation are unknown to

us at this time but we have seen certain actions taken by banks that indicate debit cards are no longer as an attractive form of payment

Decreased profitability on point-of-sale debit transactions could cause banks to provide incentives to their customers to use other payment

types such as cash or credit However it is too early to determine what ultimate impact the reduction in point-of-sale debit interchange will

have on us In addition there are other components to the Dodd-Frank Act that may ultimately impact us but at this time we are uncertain as

to what impact the existing laws and to be written laws and the resulting behavior by consumers and financial institutions will ultimately have

on our business Finally the newly issued regulations require debit cards to be recognized or authorized over at least two non-affiliated

networks and provide for rules that would allow merchants greater flexibility in routing transactions across networks that are more

economical for the merchant

Surcharge Regulation Although there was criticism by certain members of the U.S Congress of the increase in surcharge fees by several

financial institutions that were recipients of federal funding under the Troubled Asset Relief Program TARP the amount of surcharge an

ATM operator may charge consumer is not currently subject to federal regulation However there have been and continue to be various

state and local efforts to ban or limit surcharge fees on certain types of cash withdrawals generally resulting from pressure created by

consumer advocacy groups
that believe that surcharge fees are unfair to certain cardholders Generally U.S federal courts have ruled against
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these efforts We are currently not aware of any existing bans on surcharge fees and only small number of states currently impose limit as

to how much consumer may be charged Regardless there can be no assurance that surcharge fees will not be banned or limited in the

future by federal or local governments in the jurisdictions in which we operate Any such bans or limits could have material adverse effect

on us and other independent ATM operators

EFT Network Regulations EFT networks in the United States are subject to extensive regulations that are applicable to various aspects of

our operations and the operations of other ATM network operators The major source of EFT network regulations is the Electronic

Fund Transfer Act commonly known as Regulation The federal regulations promulgated under Regulation establish the basic rights

liabilities and responsibilities of consumers who use EFT services and of financial institutions that offer these services The services covered

include among other services ATM transactions Generally Regulation requires us to provide not only surcharge notice on the ATM
screens but also on the ATM machines themselves establishes limits on the consumers liability for unauthorized use of his card requires us

to provide receipts to the consumer and establishes protest procedures for the consumer During 2011 the number of putative class action

lawsuits filed in connection with Regulation disclosures against financial institutions and ATM operators alike appears to have increased

dramatically We have been named several lawsuits in the last couple of years We believe that we are in material compliance with the

requirements of Regulation Further Regulation provides two defenses that the fee disclosure notice was on the ATM but was

removed by someone other than the operator the safe harbor defense or that the fee disclosure notice was unintentionally left off of an

ATM despite ATM operators policies and procedures that provide for the installation of such fee disclosure notices on all of its ATMs the

bona fide error defense We believe these defenses will prevent any of these cases from having material adverse impact on our business

Europay MasterCard Visa EMV The EMV standard provides for the security and processing of information contained on microchips

embedded in certain debit and credit cards known as smart cards In the last year MasterCard announced plans for liability shift from

the issuers of these cards to the party that has not made the investment in EMV cards or equipment issuer or acquirer for cross-border

transactions MasterCards liability shift occurs in April 2013 Visa announced plans for liability shift to occur in 2015 on point-of-sale

POS transactions however their announcement specifically excluded ATM transactions It is possible in the future that Visa will include

ATMs in their announced liability shift At this time neither MasterCard nor Visa are requiring mandatory upgrades to ATM equipment

however increased fraudulent activity on ATMs in the future or the shifting of liability for fraudulent activity on all ATM transactions

without EMY readers or other business or regulatory factors could cause us to upgrade or replace significant portion of our existing U.S

ATM fleet

United Kingdom

In the United Kingdom MasterCard International requires compliance with the EMV standard We completed our compliance efforts in

2008 and as of December 31 2011 all of our ATMs in the United Kingdom were EMV compliant

Additionally the Treasury Select Committee of the House of Commons heard evidence in 2005 from interested parties with respect to

surcharges in the ATM industry This committee was formed to investigate public concerns regarding the ATM industry including

adequacy of disclosure to ATM customers regarding surcharges whether ATM providers should be required to provide free services

in low-income areas and whether to limit the level of surcharges While the committee made numerous recommendations to Parliament

regarding the ATM industry including recommendation that ATMs should be subject to the Banking Code voluntary code of practice

adopted by all financial institutions in the United Kingdom the government did not accept the committees recommendations Despite

its rejection of the committees recommendations the U.K government sponsored an ATM task force to look at social exclusion in relation

to ATM services As result of the task forces findings approximately 600 additional free-to-use ATMs to be provided by multiple ATM
deployers were required to be installed in low income areas throughout the United Kingdom While this was less than 2% increase in free-

to-use ATMs through the United Kingdom there is no certainty that other similar proposals will not be made and accepted in the future

Mexico

The ATM industry in Mexico has been historically operated by financial institutions The Central Bank of Mexico Banco de Mexico
supervises and regulates ATM operations of both financial institutions and non-bank ATM deployers Although Banco de Mexicos

regulations permit surcharge fees to be charged on ATM transactions it has not issued specific regulations for the provision of ATM services

In addition in order for non-bank ATM deployer to provide ATM services in Mexico the deployer must be affiliated with PROSA-RED or

E-Global which are credit card and debit card proprietary networks that transmit information and settle ATM transactions between their

participants As only financial institutions are allowed to be participants of PROSA-RED or E-Global Cardtronics Mexico entered into

joint venture with Bansi who is member of PROSA-RED As financial institution Bansi and all entities with which it participates

including Cardtronics Mexico are regulated by Secretaria de Hacienda CrØdito PiThlico the Ministry of Finance and Public Credit and

supervised by Comisión Nacional Bancaria de Valores the Banking and Securities Commission Additionally Cardtronics Mexico is

subject to the provisions of the Ley del Banco de Mexico Law of the Bank of Mexico the Ley de Instituciones de CrØdito Mexican

Banking Law and the Ley para la Transparencia Ordenamiento de los Servicios Financieros Law for the Transparency and

Organization of Financial Services
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In May 2010 as supplemented in October 2010 rules promulgated by the Central Bank of Mexico became effective that require ATM

operators to choose between receiving an interchange fee from the consumers card-issuing bank or surcharge fee from the consumer When

surcharge is received by the ATM operator the rules prohibit bank from charging its cardholder an additional fee The rules also prohibit

bank from charging its cardholders surcharge fee when those cardholders use its ATMs Cardtronics Mexico elected to assess surcharge

fee rather than selecting the interchange fee-only option and subsequently increased the amount of its surcharge fees to compensate for the

loss of interchange fees that it previously earned on such ATM transactions Although the total cost to the consumer including bank fees of

an ATM transaction at Cardtronics Mexico ATM has stayed approximately the same average transaction counts revenues and profit per

machine have declined As result of the above developments we have reduced our ATM deployments in Mexico and are continuing to

work on strategies to reverse or offset the negative effects of these events If we are unsuccessful in such efforts our overall profitability in

that market will decline If such declines are significant we may be required to record an impairment charge in future periods to write down

the carrying value of certain existing tangible and intangible assets associated with that operation

In January 2010 the Central Bank of Mexico decided that the ATMs in the country should be compliant with the EMV standard The

date of implementation of the EMV standard varies by the risk grade of the ATMs with high risk ATMs to be compliant by February

2012 medium risk AIMs by September 2013 and low risk ATMs by September 2014 In Mexico liability for fraudulent transactions

conducted on ATMs without EMV has effectively shifted to the ATM operator as of February 2012 We are in the process of upgrading all

of our ATMs in Mexico to be in compliance with the EMV standard

Canada

In Canada Interac announced their commitment to adopt the EMV standard in 2006 Since then ATMs have migrated to the new

technology Deadlines were established by Interac to ensure industry cooperation in the migration which the final deadline to comply is

December 31 2012 After this date all noncompliant ATMs will be disconnected from the Shared Cash Dispensing SCD network As of

December 31 2011 we were substantially in compliance with the EMV standard in our Canadian operations

Risk management

Management has put in place formalized Enterprise Risk Management ERM program that identifies the major risks we face The risks

are prioritized assigned to member of the management team who develops mitigation plans monitors the risk activity and is responsible

for implementation of the mitigation plan if necessary The risks plans and activities are monitored by the management team and the Board

of Directors on regular basis

Employees

As of December 31 2011 we had approximately 643 employees none of which were represented by union or covered by collective

bargaining agreement We believe that our relations with our employees are good
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

We depend on ATM and financial services transaction fres for substantially all of our revenues and our revenues and profits would be

reduced by decline in the usage of our TMs and financial services kiosks or decline in the number of devices that we operate

whether as result ofglobal economic conditions or otherwise

Transaction fees charged to cardholders and their financial institutions for transactions processed on our AIMs and financial services

kiosks including surcharge and interchange transaction fees have historically accounted for most of our revenues We expect that transaction

fees including fees we receive through our bank branding and surcharge-free network offerings will continue to account for substantial

majority of our revenues for the foreseeable future Consequently our future operating results will depend on the continued market

acceptance of our services in our target markets maintenance of the level of transaction fees we receive our ability to install acquire

operate and retain more devices continued usage of our devices by cardholders and our ability to continue to expand our surcharge-

free and other consumer financial services offerings If alternative technologies to our services are successfully developed and implemented

we will likely experience decline in the usage of our devices Surcharge fees which are determined through negotiations between us and

our merchant partners could be reduced over time Further growth in surcharge-free ATM networks and widespread consumer bias toward

these networks could adversely affect our revenues even though we maintain our own surcharge-free offerings Many of our devices are

utilized by consumers that frequent the retail establishments in which our devices are located including convenience stores and gas stations

malls grocery stores drug stores airports and other large retailers If there is significant slowdown in consumer spending and the number

of consumers that frequent the retail establishments in which we operate our devices declines significantly the number of transactions

conducted on those devices and the corresponding transaction fees we earn may also decline

Although we experienced an increase in our monthly ATM operating gross profit per device during 2011 it cannot be assured that our

transaction gross profits will not decline in the future decline in usage of our devices by cardholders or in the levels of fees received by us

in connection with this usage or decline in the number of devices that we operate would have negative impact on our revenues and gross

profits and would limit our future growth

The proliferation ofpayment options other than cash including credit cards debit cards and stored-value cards could result in

reduced need for cash in the marketplace and resulting decline in the usage of our TMs

The United States has seen shift in consumer payment trends since the late 1990s with more customers now opting for electronic

forms of payment e.g credit cards and debit cards for their in-store purchases over traditional paper-based forms of payment e.g cash and

checks Additionally some merchants offer free cash back at the point-of-sale for customers that utilize debit cards for their purchases thus

providing an additional incentive for consumers to use these cards According to the Nilson Report issued in December 2011 cash transaction

counts declined from approximately 38% of all payment transactions in 2005 to approximately 33% in 2010 with declines also seen in check

usage as credit debit and stored-value card transactions increased However in terms of absolute dollar value the volume of cash used in

payment transactions actually increased from $1.4 trillion in 2005 to $1.5 trillion in 2010 Furthermore in the past few
years we saw an

increase in the number of cash withdrawal transactions conducted on our domestic ATMs in part due to the proliferation of stored-value

cards thus implying continued demand for cash and convenient reliable access to that cash Regardless the continued growth in electronic

payment methods could result in reduced need for cash in the marketplace and ultimately decline in the usage of our ATMs

Interchange fees which comprise substantial portion of our transaction revenues may be lowered at the discretion of the various EFT
networks through which our transactions are routed or through potential regulatory changes thus reducing our future revenues

Interchange fees which represented approximately 32% of our total ATM operating revenues for the year ended December 31 2011 are

in some cases set by the various EFT networks through which transactions conducted on our devices are routed and typically vary from one

network to the next As of December 31 2011 approximately one third of our total interchange revenues were subject to pricing changes by
U.S networks over which we currently have very limited ability to influence Approximately one third of our interchange revenues are

derived from our U.K operation where interchange rates are set by the major interbank network in that market Link based on an annual

cost-based study The remainder of reported interchange revenue reflects transaction-based revenues whereby we have contractually agreed

to the rate with financial institution Accordingly if some of the networks through which our ATM transactions are routed were to reduce

the interchange rates paid to us or increase their transaction fees charged to us for routing transactions across their network or both our

future transaction revenues could decline

During 2010 certain networks reduced the net interchange fees paid to ATM deployers for transactions routed through their networks For

example effective April 2010 global network reduced the interchange rates it pays to domestic ATM deployers for ATM transactions

routed across its debit network In addition to the impact of the net interchange rate decrease we saw certain financial institutions migrate

their volume away from other networks to take advantage of the lower pricing offered by this network resulting in additional transaction

volume at lower rate In mid-October 2011 another global network announced reduction in interchange paid to ATM deployers and

significant increase in the acquirer fees paid by ATM deployers on withdrawal transactions processed over their network This new fee
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structure is planned to go into effect in April 2012 Based on preliminary estimates and projections our evaluation of the anticipated effect of

this new fee structure indicates that prior to any mitigating efforts on our part our revenues in 2012 will be lower by approximately $7.0

million to $8.0 million and gross profits will be lower by approximately $6.0 million

Additionally interchange rates in the United Kingdom which are set by LINK the United Kingdoms primary ATM debit network

declined effective as of January 2011 LINK sets the interchange rates in the United Kingdom annually by using cost-based methodology

that incorporates the interest rates and cash costs from the previous year
Since interest rates and cash costs were lower in 2010 than in 2009

LINK reduced the interchange rates effective January 2011 therefore the interchange revenues generated by certain of our ATMs in the

United Kingdom declined in 2011 Further the interchange rate for transactions routed through LINK in 2012 has been further reduced by

3% effective January 2012

Finally some government officials in the United States have expressed concern that consumers using an ATM may not be aware that in

addition to paying the surcharge fee that is disclosed to them at the ATM their financial institution may also assess an additional fee to offset

any interchange fee assessed to the financial institution by the EFT networks with regard to that consumers transaction While there are

currently no pending legislative actions calling for limits on the amount of interchange fees that can be charged by the EFT networks to

financial institutions for ATM transactions there can be no assurance that such legislative actions will not occur in the future

Any potential future network or legislative actions that affect the amount of interchange fees that can be assessed on transaction may

adversely affect our revenues Historically we have been successful in offsetting the effects of any such reductions in interchange fees

received by us through changes in our business However we can give no assurances that we will be successful in offsetting the effects of any

future reductions in the interchange fees received by us if and when they occur

We operate in changing and unpredictable regulatory environment If we are subject to new legislation regarding the operation of our

TMs we could be required to make substantial expenditures to comply with that legislation which may reduce our net income and our

profit margins

With its initial roots in the banking industry the United States ATM industry is regulated by the rules and regulations of the federal

Electronic Funds Transfer Act which establishes the rights liabilities and responsibilities of participants in EFT systems The vast majority

of states have few if any licensing requirements However legislation related to the United States ATM industry is periodically proposed at

the state and local level In recent years certain members of the U.S Congress called for re-examination of the interchange and surcharge

fees that are charged for an ATM transaction To date no such legislation has been enacted that materially adversely affects our business

However an amendment proposing limits on the fees that ATM operators including financial institutions can charge consumers was

introduced in the United States Senate in 2010 but was ultimately not included in the final version of the Dodd-Frank Act that was signed

into law As part of the Dodd-Frank Act the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau CFPB was created The exact areas of oversight of

this agency are still being determined but its possible that this new governmental agency could enact new or modify existing regulations that

could have direct or indirect impact on our business For further discussion on this topic see the risk factor below entitled The passing of

legislation banning or limiting the fees we receive for transactions conducted on our TMs would severely impact our revenues

The Americans with Disabilities Act ADA requires that ATMs be accessible to and independently usable by individuals with

disabilities such as visually-impaired or wheel-chair bound persons The U.S Department of Justice has issued accessibility regulations

under the ADA that become effective in March 2012 While we have taken measures to achieve compliance with the ADA it is possible that

certain of our ATMs may be deemed to be non-compliant and we may be forced to replace and or stop operating such ATMs until such time

as compliance has been achieved

In the United Kingdom the ATM industry is largely self-regulating Most ATMs in the United Kingdom are part of the LINK network

and must operate under the network rules set forth by LINK including complying with rules regarding required signage and screen messages

Additionally legislation is proposed from time-to-time at the national level though to date nothing has been enacted that materially affects

our business

Finally the ATM industry in Mexico has been historically operated by financial institutions Banco de Mexico supervises and regulates

ATM operations of both financial institutions and non-bank ATM deployers Although Banco de Mexicos regulations permit surcharge fees

to be charged in ATM transactions new rules became effective in May 2010 that required ATM operators to elect between receiving

interchange fees from card-issuing banks or surcharge fees from consumers For further discussion on this topic see the risk factor below

entitled The passing of legislation banning or limiting the fees we receive for transactions conducted on our ATMs would severely impact our

revenues In addition in order for non-bank ATM deployer to provide ATM services in Mexico the deployer must be affiliated with

PROSA-RED or E-Global which are credit card and debit card proprietary networks that transmit information and settle ATM transactions

between their participants As only financial institutions are allowed to be participants of PROSA-RED or E-Global Cardtronics Mexico

entered into joint venture with Bansi who is member of PROSA-RED As financial institution Bansi and all entities in which it

participates including Cardtronics Mexico are regulated by the Ministry of Finance and Public Credit and supervised by the Banking and
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Securities Commission Additionally Cardtronics Mexico is subject to the provisions of the Law of the Bank of Mexico the Mexican

Banking Law and the Law for the Transparency and Organization of Financial Services Legislation proposed by any of these regulatory

bodies or adverse changes in the laws that we are subject to may materially affect our business through the requirement of additional

expenditures to comply with that legislation

We will continue to monitor all such legislation and attempt to the extent possible to prevent the passage of such laws that we believe

are needlessly burdensome or unnecessary If regulatory legislation is passed in any of the jurisdictions in which we operate we could be

required to make substantial expenditures which would reduce our net income

Deterioration in global credit markets as well as changes in legislative and regulatory requirements could have negative impact on

financial institutions that we conduct business with

We have significant number of customer and vendor relationships with financial institutions in all of our key markets including

relationships in which those financial institutions pay us for the right to place their brands on our devices Additionally we rely on small

number of financial institution partners to provide us with the cash that we maintain in our Company-owned devices and some of our

merchant owned ATMs Recent volatility in the global credit markets in the future such as that recently experienced in 2008 to 2009 may
have negative impact on those financial institutions and our relationships with them In particular if the liquidity positions of the financial

institutions with which we conduct business deteriorate significantly these institutions may be unable to perform under their existing

agreements with us If these defaults were to occur we may not be successful in our efforts to identify new branding partners and cash

providers and the underlying economics of any new arrangements may not be consistent with our current arrangements Furthermore if our

existing bank branding partners or cash providers are acquired by other institutions with assistance from the Federal Deposit Insurance

Corporation FDICor placed into receivership by the FDIC it is possible that our agreements may be rejected in part or in their entirety

Finally in response to the recent economic crisis the Dodd-Frank Act which contains broad measures that will affect almost all financial

institutions within the United States was signed into law on July 21 2010 Among many other things the Act includes provisions that

call for the establishment of new Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection limit the activities that banking entities may engage in and

give the Federal Reserve Bank the authority to regulate interchange transaction fees charged by electronic funds transfer networks for

electronic debit transactions Many of the detailed regulations required under the Act are still yet to be finalized It is unclear at this point

what impact these new regulations will ultimately have on financial institutions with whom we conduct business However if those financial

institutions are negatively impacted by such regulations our future operating results may be similarly impacted

We rely on thirdparties to provide us with the cash we require to operate many of our devices If these third parties were unable or

unwilling to provide us with the necessary cash to operate our devices we would need to locate alternative sources of cash to operate our

devices or we would not be able to operate our business

In the United States including Puerto Rico we rely on Bank of America Wells Fargo Elan and another vault cash provider to provide

us with the cash that we use in approximately 28600 of our domestic devices where cash is not provided by the merchant vault cash In

the United Kingdom we rely on ALCB to provide us with the vault cash that we use in over 3300 of our ATMs In Mexico Bansi and

Banorte are our vault cash providers and provide us with the cash that we use in over 2700 of our ATMs in that market In Canada the vault

cash has typically been provided by an armored courier but we are currently negotiating with large bank in this market for future service

Under our vault cash rental agreements with these providers we pay vault cash rental fee based on the total amount of vault cash that we
are using at any given time As of December 31 2011 the balance of vault cash held in our United States United Kingdom Mexico and

Canada ATMs and financial services kiosks was approximately $1.7 billion $343.7 million $53.7 million and $0.7 million respectively

Under our vault cash rental agreements at all times during this process beneficial ownership of the cash is retained by the cash

providers and we have no access or right to the cash except for those ATMs that are serviced by our wholly-owned armored courier

operation in the United Kingdom While our armored courier operation has physical access to the cash loaded in those machines beneficial

ownership of that cash remains with the cash provider at all times

Our existing vault cash rental agreements expire at various times from March 2012 through December 2016 However each provider has

the right to demand the return of all or any portion of its cash at any time upon the occurrence of certain events beyond our control including

certain bankruptcy events of us or our subsidiaries or breach of the terms of our cash provider agreements Other key terms of our

agreements include the requirement that the cash providers provide written notice of their intent not to renew Such notice provisions

typically require minimum of 180 to 360 days notice prior to the actual termination date If such notice is not received then the contracts

will typically automatically renew for an additional one-year period Additionally our contract with one of our vault cash providers contains

provision that allows the provider to modify the pricing terms contained within the agreement at any time with 90 days prior written notice

However in the event both parties do not agree to the pricing modifications then either party may provide 180 days prior written notice of its

intent to terminate
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If our vault cash providers were to demand return of their cash or terminate their arrangements with us and remove their cash from our

devices or if they fail to provide us with cash as and when we need it for our operations our ability to operate our devices would be

jeopardized and we would need to locate alternative sources of vault cash In the event this was to happen the terms and conditions of the

new or renewed agreements could potentially be less favorable to us which would negatively impact our results of operations Furthermore

restrictions on our access to cash to fill our devices could severely restrict our ability to keep our devices operating and could subject us to

contracted performance penalties

We derive substantial portion of our revenue from devices placed with small number of merchants If one or more of our top

merchants were to suffer material deterioration of their business and cease doing business with us or to substantially reduce its

dealings with us our revenues could decline

For the year ended December 31 2011 we derived 50.2% of our total revenues from ATMs and financial services kiosks placed at the

locations of our five largest merchant customers For the year
ended December 31 2011 our top five merchants based on our total revenues

were 7-Eleven CVS Walgreens Martin McColl in the United Kingdom and Target 7-Eleven which is the single largest merchant

customer in our portfolio comprised approximately 31% of our total revenues for the year
ended December 31 2011 Accordingly

significant percentage of our future revenues and operating income will be dependent upon the successful continuation of our relationship

with 7-Eleven as well as our other top merchants

The loss of any of our largest merchants or decision by any one of them to reduce the number of our devices placed in their locations

would result in decline in our revenues Furthermore if their financial condition were to deteriorate in the future and as result one or

more of these merchants was required to close significant number of their domestic store locations our revenues would be significantly

impacted Additionally these merchants may elect not to renew their contracts when they expire The contracts we have with our top five

merchants have weighted average remaining life of 4.6 years Even if such contracts are renewed the renewal terms may be less favorable

to us than the current contracts If any of our five largest merchants enters bankruptcy proceedings and rejects its contract with us fails to

renew its contract upon expiration or if the renewal terms with any of them are less favorable to us than under our current contracts it could

result in decline in our revenues and gross profits

We rely on EFT network providers transaction processors
armored courier providers and maintenance providers to provide services

to our TMs If some of these providers that service significant number of our TMs fail or otherwise cease or no longer agree to

provide their services we could suffrr temporary loss of transaction revenues incur significant costs or suffer the permanent loss of any

merchant contract affrcted by such disruption in service

We rely on EFT network providers and have agreements with transaction processors
armored courier providers and maintenance

providers and have more than one such provider in each of these key areas These providers enable us to provide card authorization data

capture settlement and cash management and maintenance services to our ATMs Typically these agreements are for periods of two or three

years each If we improperly manage the renewal or replacement of any expiring vendor contract or key vendor fails or otherwise ceases to

provide the services for which we have contracted and disruption of service to our ATMs occurs our relationship with those merchants with

the disrupted ATM service could suffer

While we do have more than one provider for each of the services that we rely on third parties to perform certain of these providers

currently provide services to or for significant number of our ATMs Although we may be able to transition these services to alternative

service providers this could be time-consuming and costly process In the event one of such service providers was unable to deliver

services to us we could suffer significant disruption in our business which could result in material adverse impact to our financial results

Furthermore any disruptions in service in any of our markets whether caused by us or by third party providers may result in loss of

revenues under certain of our contractual arrangements that contain minimum service-level requirements

In February 2010 we incurred temporary disruption in our armored courier service on portion of our domestic ATMs when Mount

Vernon Money Center MVMCone of our third-party armored service providers in the Northeast United States ceased all cash

replenishment operations for its customers following the arrest of its founder and principal owner on charges of bank fraud Shortly

thereafter the U.S District Court in the Southern District of New York the SDNY appointed receiver the Receiver to among other

things seize all of the assets in the possession of MVMC As result of these actions we were required to convert over 1000 ATMs that

were being serviced by MVMC to another third-party armored service provider resulting in minor amount of downtime being experienced

by those ATMs and some one-time service conversion costs If any of our larger service providers cease or no longer agree to provide their

services we may experience additional disruptions in our services and may incur significant conversion costs to divert those services to

another service provider

17



If we our transaction processors our EFT networks or other service providers experience system failures the products and services we
provide could be delayed or interrupted which would harm our business

Our ability to provide reliable service largely depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operations of our EFT transaction processing
platform third-party transaction processors telecommunications network systems and other service providers Accordingly any significant

interruptions could severely harm our business and reputation and result in loss of revenues Additionally if any such interruption is caused

by us especially in those situations in which we serve as the primary transaction processor such interruption could result in the loss of the

affected merchants or damage our relationships with such merchants Our systems and operations and those of our transaction processors and

our EFT network and other service providers could be exposed to damage or interruption from fire natural disaster unlawful acts terrorist

attacks power loss telecommunications failure unauthorized entry and computer viruses We cannot be certain that any measures we and

our service providers have taken to prevent system failures will be successful or that we will not experience service interruptions

Our armored transport business exposes us to additional risks beyond those currently experienced by us in the ownership and operation

of TMs

During 2008 we implemented our own armored courier operation in the United Kingdom which was further expanded to two cash depot
facilities during 2010 As of December 31 2011 we were providing armored services to approximately 1790 about half of our ATMs in

that market The armored transport business exposes us to significant risks including the potential for cash-in-transit losses as well as claims

for personal injury wrongful death workers compensation punitive damages and general liability While we will seek to maintain

appropriate levels of insurance to adequately protect us from these risks there can be no assurance that we will avoid significant future claims
or adverse publicity related thereto Furthermore there can be no assurance that our insurance coverage will be adequate to cover potential

liabilities or that insurance
coverage will remain available at costs that are acceptable to us The availability of quality and reliable insurance

coverage is an important factor in our ability to successfully operate this aspect of our operations successful claim brought against us for

which coverage is denied or that is in excess of our insurance coverage could have material adverse effect on our business financial

condition and results of operations

Security breaches could harm our business by compromising cardholder information and disrupting our transaction processing services
thus damaging our relationships with our merchant customers and exposing us to liability

As part of our transaction processing services we electronically process and transmit sensitive cardholder information In recent years
companies that process and transmit this information have been specifically and increasingly targeted by sophisticated criminal organizations
in an effort to obtain the information and utilize it for fraudulent transactions Unauthorized access to our computer systems or those of our

third-party service providers could result in the theft or publication of the information or the deletion or modification of sensitive records
and could cause interruptions in our operations While the security risks outlined above are mitigated by the use of encryption and various

layers of security techniques any inability to prevent security breaches could damage our relationships with our merchant customers cause
decrease in transactions by individual cardholders expose us to liability including claims for unauthorized purchases and subject us to

network fines These claims also could result in protracted and costly litigation

Computer viruses or unauthorized software maiware could harm our business by disrupting our transaction processing services

causing noncompliance with network rules and damaging our relationships with our merchant customers causing decrease in

transactions by individual cardholders

Computer viruses or malware could infiltrate our systems thus disrupting our delivery of services and making our applications

unavailable Although we utilize several preventative and detective security controls in our network any inability to prevent computer viruses

or maiware could damage our relationships with our merchant customers cause decrease in transactions by individual cardholders and

cause us to be in non-compliance with applicable network rules and regulations

Operational failures in our EFT transaction processing facilities could harm our business and our relationships with our merchant

customers

An operational failure in our EFT transaction processing facilities could harm our business and damage our relationships with our
merchant customers Damage or destruction that interrupts our transaction processing services could damage our relationships with our
merchant customers and could cause us to incur substantial additional expense to repair or replace damaged equipment We have installed

back-up systems and procedures to prevent or react to such disruptions However prolonged interruption of our services or network that

extends for more than several hours i.e where our backup systems are not able to recover could result in data loss or reduction in

revenues as our devices would be unable to process transactions In addition significant interruption of service could have negative

impact on our reputation and could cause our present and potential merchant customers to choose alternative service providers as well as

subject us to fines or penalties related to contractual service agreements
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Errors or omissions in the settlement of merchant funds could damage our relationships with our merchant customers and expose us to

liability

We are responsible for maintaining accurate bank account information for certain of our merchant customers and accurate settlements of

funds into these accounts based on the underlying transaction activity This process relies on accurate and authorized maintenance of

electronic records Although we have certain controls in place to help ensure the safety and accuracy of our records errors or unauthorized

changes to these records could result in the erroneous or fraudulent movement of funds thus damaging our relationships with our merchant

customers and exposing us to liability

Changes in interest rates could increase our operating costs by increasing interest expense under our credit facilities and our vault cash

rental costs

Interest on amounts borrowed under our revolving credit facility is based on floating interest rate and our vault cash rental expense
is

partially based on floating interest rates As result our interest expense and cash management costs are sensitive to changes in interest rates

Vault cash is the cash we use in our machines in cases where cash is not provided by the merchant We pay
rental fees on the average

amount

of vault cash outstanding in our ATMs under floating rate formulas based on spread above various LIBOR or prime rates to Bank of

America Wells Fargo Elan and another provider in the United States including Puerto Rico and ALCB in the United Kingdom

Additionally in Mexico we pay monthly rental fee to one of our vault cash providers under formula based on the Interbank Equilibrium

Interest Rate commonly referred to as the TIlE Although we currently hedge significant portion of our vault cash interest rate risk

related to our operations in the United States through December 31 2016 and in the United Kingdom through December 31 2013 by using

interest rate swap agreements we may not be able to enter into similar arrangements for similar amounts in the future Furthermore we have

not currently entered into any derivative financial instruments to hedge our variable interest rate exposure in Mexico Any significant future

increases in interest rates could have negative impact on our eamings and cash flow by increasing our operating costs and expenses See

Part II Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Interest Rate Risk

We maintain significant amount of cash within our Company-owned devices which is subject to potential loss due to theft or other

events including natural disasters

As of December 31 2011 there was approximately $2.1 billion in vault cash held in our domestic and international devices Although

legal and equitable title to such cash is held by the cash providers any loss of such cash from our ATMs through theft or other means is

generally our responsibility We typically require that our cash service providers maintain adequate insurance coverage in the event cash

losses occur as result of theft misconduct or negligence on the part of such providers However we also maintain our own insurance

policies to cover significant portion of any losses that may occur that may ultimately not be covered by the insurance policies maintained by

our service providers In the event we incur losses that are covered by our insurance carriers we will be required to fund portion of those

losses through the payment of any related deductible amounts under those policies Furthermore any increase in the frequency and/or

amounts of such thefts and losses could negatively impact our operating results as result of higher deductible payments and increased

insurance premiums Additionally any damage sustained to our merchant customers store locations in connection with any
ATM-related

thefts if extensive and frequent enough in nature could negatively impact our relationships with such merchants and impair our ability to

deploy additional ATMs in those locations or new locations with those merchants in the future Finally impacted merchants may request

and have requested on limited basis that we remove ATMs from store locations that have suffered damage as result of ATM-related

thefts thus negatively impacting our financial results

The ATM industry is highly competitive and such competition may increase which may adversely affrct our profit margins

The ATM business is and can be expected to remain highly competitive Our principal competition comes from independent ATM

companies and national and regional financial institutions in the United States the United Kingdom Mexico and Canada Our competitors

could prevent us from obtaining or maintaining desirable locations for our devices cause us to reduce the surcharge revenue generated by

transactions at our devices or cause us to pay higher merchant fees thereby reducing our profits In addition to our current competitors

additional competitors may enter the market We can offer no assurance that we will be able to compete effectively against these current and

future competitors Increased competition could result in transaction fee reductions reduced gross margins and loss of market share

The election of our merchant customers to not participate in our surcharge-free network offerings could impact the effectiveness of our

offe rings which would negatively impact our financial results

Financial institutions that are members of Allpoint pay fee in exchange for allowing their cardholders to use selected Company-owned

and/or managed ATMs on surcharge-free basis The success of Ailpoint is dependent upon the participation by our merchant customers in

such networks In the event significant number of our merchants elect not to participate in such networks the benefits and effectiveness of

the networks would be diminished thus potentially causing some of the participating financial institutions to not renew their agreements with

us and thereby negatively impacting our financial results
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We may be unable to integrate our future acquisitions in an efficient manner and inefficiencies would increase our cost of operations and

reduce our profitability

We have been an active business acquirer both in the United States and internationally and may continue to be active in the future The

acquisition and integration of businesses involves number of risks The core risks are in the areas of valuation negotiating fair price for

the business based on inherently limited due diligence and integration managing the complex process of integrating the acquired companys

people products technology and other assets so as to realize the projected value of the acquired company and the synergies projected to be

realized in connection with the acquisition

The process of integrating operations could cause an interruption of or loss of momentum in the activities of one or more of our

combined businesses and the possible loss of key personnel The diversion of managements attention and any delays or difficulties

encountered in connection with acquisitions and the integration of the companies operations could have an adverse effect on our business

results of operations financial condition or prospects

In addition acquired businesses may not achieve anticipated revenues earnings or cash flows Any shortfall in anticipated revenues

earnings or cash flows could require us to write down the carrying value of the intangible assets associated with any acquired company

which would adversely affect our reported earnings For example during the year ended December 31 2008 we recorded $50.0 million

impairment charge to write down the value of the goodwill associated with our investment in our United Kingdom operations

Since May 2001 we have acquired 17 ATM portfolios surcharge-free ATM network and technology product offering that

complements our surcharge-free offering We have made acquisitions to obtain the assets of deployed ATM networks as well as the related

businesses and their infrastructure We currently anticipate that our future acquisitions will likely reflect mix of asset acquisitions and

acquisitions of businesses with each acquisition having its own set of unique characteristics To the extent that we elect to acquire an existing

company or the operations technology and personnel of another ATM provider we may assume some or all of the liabilities associated with

the acquired company and face new and added challenges integrating such acquisition into our operations

During 2011 we completed four business acquisitions Any inability on our part to effectively manage the acquisition process could

limit our ability to successfully grow the revenue and profitability of our business

Our international operations involve special risks and may not be successful which would result in reduction of our gross and net

profits

As of December 31 2011 13.0% of our devices were located in the United Kingdom Mexico and Canada Those devices contributed

14.0% of our gross profits exclusive of depreciation accretion and amortization for the year ended December 31 2011 We expect to

continue to expand in the United Kingdom Mexico and Canada and potentially into other countries as opportunities arise However our

international operations are subject to certain inherent risks including

exposure to currency fluctuations including the risk that our future reported operating results could be negatively impacted by

unfavorable movements in the functional currencies of our international operations relative to the United States dollar which

represents our consolidated reporting currency

difficulties in complying with the different laws and regulations in each country and jurisdiction in which we operate including

unique labor and reporting laws

unexpected changes in laws regulations and policies of foreign governments or other regulatory bodies including changes that

could potentially disallow surcharging or that could result in reduction in the amount of interchange or other transaction-based fees

that we receive

unanticipated political and social instability that may be experienced

rising crime rates in certain of the areas we operate in including increased incidents of crimes on our ATMs and against store

personnel where our ATMs are located

difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations including hiring and retaining skilled workers in those countries in which

we operate

decreased ATM usage related to decreased travel and tourism in the markets that we operate in such as our ATMs in Mexico that

are located in tourist destinations and
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potential adverse tax consequences including restrictions on the repatriation of foreign earnings

Any of these factors could reduce the profitability and revenues derived from our international operations and international expansion For

example during the latter half of 2008 and during 2009 we incurred reduced reported revenues as consequence of the United States dollar

strengthening relative to the British pound and Mexican peso Additionally recent regulatory changes in Mexico have had an adverse impact

on our transaction volumes in that market Furthermore the recent political and social instability in Mexico resulting from an increase in

drug-related violence could negatively impact the level of transactions incurred on our existing devices in that market as well as our ability to

successfully grow our business there See further discussion on this topic in the above risk factor entitled The passing of legislation banning

or limiting the fees we receive for transactions conducted on our TMs would severely impact our revenues

Our possible expansion efforts into new international markets involve unique risks and may not be successful

We may continue to expand our operations internationally The regulatory environments in many international markets are evolving and

unpredictable thus increasing the risk that particular deployment model chosen at inception may not be economically viable in the future

Further consolidations within the banking industiy may impact our branding relationships as existing branding customers are acquired

by other financial institutions some of which may not be existing branding customers

In recent years an unprecedented amount of consolidation unfolded within the United States banking industry For example Washington

Mutual which had over 950 ATMs branded with us was acquired by JPMorgan Chase an existing branding customer of ours in 2008

Additionally Wachovia which had 15 high-transaction ATMs branded with us was acquired by Wells Fargo bank that was not an existing

branding customer of ours at the end of 2008 Furthermore in 2009 Sovereign Bank which currently has over 1150 ATMs branded with us

was acquired by Banco Santander one of the largest banks in Europe Although our branding contracts were largely unaffected by these

transactions we cannot assure you that they will remain unaffected by future consolidations that may occur within the banking industry and

in particular our branding partners

If we experience impairments of our goodwill or other intangible assets we will be required to record charge to earnings which may be

significant

We have large amount of goodwill and other intangible assets and are required to perform periodic assessments for any possible

impairment for accounting purposes
As of December 31 2011 we had goodwill and other intangible assets of $383.2 million or 53.7% of

our total assets During the year
ended December 31 2011 we added $159.8 million in goodwill and intangible assets associated with the

acquisition of four businesses in the year We periodically evaluate the recoverability and the amortization period of our intangible assets

under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States U.S GAAP Some of the factors that we consider to be important in

assessing whether or not impairment exists include the performance of the related assets relative to the expected historical or projected future

operating results significant changes in the manner of our use of the assets or the strategy for our overall business and significant negative

industry or economic trends These factors assumptions and any changes in them could result in an impairment of our goodwill and other

intangible assets In the event we determine our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets are impaired we may be required to record

significant charge to earnings in our financial statements which would negatively impact our results of operations and that impact could be

material For example during the year ended December 31 2008 we recorded $50.0 million goodwill impairment charge Additionally

during the years
ended December 2011 2010 and 2009 we recorded $0.1 million $0.2 million and $0.4 million respectively in net

impairment charges associated with intangibles related to our acquired merchant contracts/relationships Other impairment charges in the

future may also adversely affect our results of operations

We have substantial amount of indebtedness which may adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business remain

in compliance with debt covenants and make payments on our indebtedness

As of December 31 2011 we had outstanding indebtedness of approximately $370.9 million which represents 76.6% of our total

capitalization of $484.1 million Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences to you For example it could

make it more difficult for us to satisf our obligations with respect to our indebtedness and any failure to comply with the

obligations of any of our debt instruments including financial and other restrictive covenants could result in an event of default

under the indentures governing our senior subordinated notes and the agreements governing our other indebtedness

require us to dedicate substantial portion of our cash flow in the future to pay principal and interest on our debt which will reduce

the funds available for working capital capital expenditures acquisitions and other general corporate purposes

limit our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in our business and in the industry in which we operate

make us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general economic industry and competitive conditions and adverse changes in

government regulation and

21



limit our ability to borrow additional amounts for working capital capital expenditures acquisitions debt service requirements

execution of our growth strategy research and development costs or other purposes

Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations If we do not have sufficient earnings to

service our debt we may be required to refinance all or part of our existing debt sell assets borrow more money or sell securities none of

which we can guarantee we will be able to do

The terms of our credit agreement and the indentures governing our senior subordinated notes may restrict our current and future

operations particularly our ability to respond to changes in our business or to take certain actions

Our credit agreement and the indentures governing our senior subordinated notes include number of covenants that among other items

restrict or limit our ability to

sell or transfer property or assets

pay dividends on or redeem or repurchase stock

merge into or consolidate with any third party

create incur assume or guarantee additional indebtedness

create certain liens

make investments

engage in transactions with affiliates

issue or sell preferred stock of restricted subsidiaries and

enter into sale and leaseback transactions

In addition we are required by our credit agreement to adhere to certain covenants and maintain specified financial ratios While we

currently have the ability to borrow the full amount available under our credit agreement as result of these ratios we may be limited in the

manner in which we conduct our business in the future and may be unable to engage
in favorable business activities or finance our future

operations or capital needs Accordingly these restrictions may limit our ability to successfully operate our business and prevent us from

fulfilling our debt obligations failure to comply with the covenants or financial ratios could result in an event of default In the event of

default under our credit agreement the lenders could exercise number of remedies some of which could result in an event of default under

the indentures governing the senior subordinated notes An acceleration of indebtedness under our credit agreement would also likely result in

an event of default under the terms of any other financing arrangement we have outstanding at the time If any or all of our debt were to be

accelerated we cannot assure you that our assets would be sufficient to repay our indebtedness in full If we are unable to repay any amounts

outstanding under our bank credit facility when due the lenders will have the right to proceed against the collateral securing our

indebtedness See Part II Item Managements Discussion and Analysis ofFinancial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and

Capital Resources Financing Facilities

The passing of legislation banning or limiting the fees we receive for transactions conducted on our TMs would severely impact our

revenues

Despite the nationwide acceptance of surcharge fees at ATMs in the United States since their introduction in 1996 consumer activists

have from time to time attempted to impose local bans or limits on surcharge fees Even in the few instances where these efforts have passed

the local governing body such as with an ordinance adopted by the city of Santa Monica California federal courts have overturned these

local laws on federal preemption grounds Although Section 1044 of the Dodd-Frank Act passed in July 2010 contains provision that will

limit the application of federal preemption with respect to state laws that do not discriminate against national banks federal preemption will

not be affected by local municipal laws where such proposed bans or limits often arise More recently some federal officials have expressed

concern that surcharge fees charged by banks and non-bank ATM operators are unfair to consumers To that end an amendment proposing

limits on the fees that ATM operators including financial institutions can charge consumers was introduced in the United States Senate but

was not ultimately included in the final version of the Dodd-Frank Act that was signed into law If similar proposed legislation were to be

enacted in the future and the amount we were able to charge for consumers to use our ATMs was reduced our revenues and related

profitability would be negatively impacted Furthermore if such limits were set at levels that are below our current or future costs to operate

our ATMs it would have material adverse impact on our ability to continue to operate under our current business model

In the United Kingdom the Treasury Select Committee of the House of Commons published report regarding surcharges in the ATM
industry in March 2005 Following this report this committee was formed to investigate public concerns regarding the ATM industry

including adequacy of disclosure to ATM customers regarding surcharges whether ATM providers should be required to provide free

services in low-income areas and whether to limit the level of surcharges While the committee made numerous recommendations to

Parliament regarding the ATM industry including that ATMs should be subject to the Banking Code voluntary code of practice adopted by

all financial institutions in the United Kingdom the United Kingdom government did not accept the committees recommendations Despite

22



the rejection of the committees recommendations the United Kingdom government sponsored an ATM task force to look at social exclusion

in relation to ATM services As result of the task forces findings approximately 600 additional free-to-use ATMs to be provided by

multiple ATM providers were required to be installed in low income areas throughout the United Kingdom While this was less than 2%

increase in free-to-use ATMs throughout the United Kingdom there is no certainty that other similar proposals will not be made and accepted

in the future If the legislature or another body with regulatory authority in the United Kingdom were to impose limits on the level of

surcharges for ATM transactions our revenue from operations in the United Kingdom would be negatively impacted

In Mexico surcharging for off-premise ATMs was legalized in late 2003 but was not formally implemented until July 2005 In early

October 2009 the Central Bank of Mexico adopted new rules regarding how ATM operators disclose fees to consumers The objective of

these rules was to provide more transparency to the consumer regarding the cost of specific ATM transaction rather than to limit the

amount of fees charged to the consumer Such rules which became effective in May 2010 required ATM operators to elect between

receiving interchange fees from card-issuing banks or surcharge fees from consumers Cardtronics Mexico elected to assess surcharge fee

on the consumer rather than select the interchange fee-only option and subsequently raised the level of its surcharge fees in order to recoup

the interchange fees it is no longer receiving Since the new fee structure became effective the number of surcharge withdrawal transactions

conducted on Cardtronics Mexicos ATMs has substantially declined on same-store basis and to date there has been no indication that

suggests transaction levels will recover to levels experienced prior to the new rules being in effect At the current transaction levels the

additional surcharge fee amounts at number of Cardtronics Mexicos ATMs are not sufficient to offset the lost interchange revenues which

has resulted in lower revenues and profitability per
ATM in that market

As result of the above developments we have reduced our ATM deployments in Mexico in order to better measure the impact of the

above rules on our ATM transaction levels and related profits In 2011 we reached an agreement with Banorte to provide certain services to

segment of our ATMs in Mexico in exchange for branding rights on these ATMs Based on early analysis it appears
that our new branding

relationship with Banorte has helped improve the profitability of our Mexico business If we are unsuccessful in our efforts to continue to

mitigate the effects of the new rules in Mexico our overall profitability in that market will decline and we may be required to record an

impairment charge in future periods to write-down the carrying value of certain existing tangible and intangible assets associated with that

operation

Furthermore one of our primary merchant contracts in Mexico requires us to install certain number of ATMs within specified period

of time in order to maintain exclusive rights to deploy ATMs at their retail locations As result of the negative effects of the recent

regulatory changes to the Cardtronics Mexico business and our decision to reduce our ATM deployments we could lose our exclusivity

rights with this merchant

Potential new currency designs may require modifications to our TMs that could severely impact our cash flows

On November 26 2006 U.S District Court judge ruled that the United States currencies as currently designed violate the

Rehabilitation Act law that prohibits discrimination in government programs on the basis of disability as the paper currencies issued by the

United States are identical in size and color regardless of denomination As consequence
of this ruling the United States Treasury

conducted study to determine the options to make United States paper currency
accessible to the blind or visually impaired It is our

understanding that the BEP received that study on or about July 28 2009 and together with the United States Treasury and the Federal

Reserve are reviewing the study Upon the completion of that review these institutions will publish their recommendations and thereafter

seek public comments in writing and at public forums on those recommendations Following the public comment period final

recommendation will be made to the Secretary of the Treasury who has authority to change the design and features of the currency notes

utilized in the United States While it is still uncertain at this time what impact if any this process will have on the ATM industry including

us it is possible that any changes made to the design of the paper currency notes utilized in the United States could require us to incur

additional costs which could be substantial to modifi our ATMs in order to store and dispense such notes

Noncompliance with established EFT network rules and regulations could expose us to fines and penalties and could negatively impact

our results of operations Additionally new EFT network rules and regulations could require us to expend significant amounts of capital

to remain in compliance with such rules and regulations

Our transactions are routed over various EFT networks to obtain authorization for cash disbursements and to provide account balances

These networks include Star Pulse NYCE Cirrus and Plus in the United States LINK in the United Kingdom PROSA-RED in Mexico

and Interac in Canada EFT networks set the interchange fees that they charge to the financial institutions as well as the amounts paid to us

Additionally EFT networks including MasterCard and Visa establish rules and regulations that ATM providers including ourselves must

comply with in order for member cardholders to use those ATMs Failure to comply with such rules and regulations could expose us to

penalties and/or fines which could negatively impact our financial results For example in the United Kingdom MasterCard and Visa

require compliance with the EMV security standard This standard provides for the security and processing of information contained on

microchips imbedded in certain debit and credit cards known as smart cards In January 2010 the Central Bank of Mexico decided that the
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ATMs in the country should be compliant with the EMV standard as well The date of implementation of the EMV standard varies by the risk

grade of the ATMs with high risk ATMs to be compliant by February 2012 medium risk ATMs by September 2013 and low risk

ATMs by September 2014 In Mexico liability for fraudulent transactions conducted on ATMs without EMV has effectively shifted to the

ATM operator as of February 2012 We are in the process of upgrading all of our ATMs in Mexico to be in compliance with the EMV
standard In October of 2011 we were notified by major global network that certain of our United States dollar-dispensing ATMs USD
ATMs in Mexico were not in compliance with that networks procedures for settling U.S dollar-denominated transactions through

PROSA-RED We are working with PROSA-RED to begin offering an acceptable solution to continue operating the USD ATMs with some

modifications to our current process This solution could result in reduction of the revenues and profits we earn from the USD ATMs in

Mexico

In the last year MasterCard announced plans that may require ATM transaction acquirers to comply with the EMV standard in the United

States in order to process transactions over these networks or potentially face increased liability for fraudulent transaction activity During

2011 Visa announced plans for liability shift to occur in 2015 on point-of-sale POS transactions however their announcement

specifically excluded ATM transactions It is possible in the future that Visa will include ATMs in their announced liability shift At this

time neither MasterCard nor Visa are requiring mandatory upgrades to ATM equipment however increased fraudulent activity on ATMs in

the future or the shifting of liability for fraudulent activity on all ATM transactions without EMV readers or other business or regulatory

factors could cause us to upgrade or replace significant portion of our existing U.S ATM fleet

The majority of the electronic debit networks over which our transactions are conducted require sponsorship by bank

In each of the geographic segments in which we operate bank sponsorship is required in order to process transactions over certain

networks In the United States our largest geographic segment by revenues bank sponsorship is required on the significant majority of our

transactions and we currently rely on one primary sponsor bank for access to the applicable networks In our United Kingdom segment only

international transactions require bank sponsorship In Mexico all ATM transactions require bank sponsorship which is currently provided

by our banking partners in the country In Canada bank sponsorship is also required and is obtained through our relationships with third

party processors
If our current sponsor banks decide to no longer provide this service or are no longer financially capable of providing this

service as may be determined by certain networks it may be difficult to find an adequate replacement at cost similar to what we incur

today or potentially we could incur temporary service disruption for certain transactions in the event we lose or do not retain bank

sponsorship

Developments in electronic financial transactions could materially reduce our transaction levels and revenues

Certain developments in the field of electronic financial transactions may reduce the need for services offered at our devices in the

future These developments could encompass technological changes and advancement in the areas of payments as well as physical self-

service financial devices governmental actions customer preferences as well as other factors If transaction levels over our existing ATM
locations were to decrease as result of one or several of these developments our business could be adversely affected

The passing of anti-money laundering legislation could cause us to lose certain merchant accounts and reduce our revenues

Recent concerns by the U.S federal government regarding the use of ATMs to launder money could lead to the imposition of additional

regulations on our sponsoring financial institutions and our merchant customers regarding the source of cash loaded into their ATMs In

particular such regulations could result in the incurrence of additional costs by individual merchants who load their own cash thereby

making their ATMs less profitable Accordingly some individual merchants may decide to discontinue their ATM operations thus reducing

the number of merchant-owned accounts that we currently manage If such reduction were to occur we would see corresponding decrease

in our revenues

Our operating results have fluctuated historically and could continue to fluctuate in the future which could affect our ability to maintain

our current market position or expand

Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and may continue to fluctuate in the future as result of variety of factors many of

which are beyond our control including the following

changes in general economic conditions and specific market conditions in the ATM and financial services industries

changes in payment trends and offerings in the markets in which we operate

competition from other companies providing the same or similar services that we offer

the timing and magnitude of operating expenses capital expenditures and expenses related to the expansion of sales marketing and

operations including as result of acquisitions if any
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the timing and magnitude of any impairment charges that may materialize over time relating to our goodwill intangible assets or

long-lived assets

changes in the general level of interest rates in the markets in which we operate

changes in regulatory requirements associated with the ATM and financial services industries

changes in the mix of our current services

changes in the financial condition and credit risk of our customers and

changes in the financial condition and operational execution of our key vendors and service providers

Any of the foregoing factors could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

Although we have experienced growth in revenues in recent years
this growth rate is not necessarily indicative of future operating results

relatively large portion of our expenses are fixed in the short-term particularly with respect to personnel expenses depreciation and

amortization expenses and interest expense Therefore our results of operations are particularly sensitive to fluctuations in revenues As

such comparisons to prior periods should not be relied upon as indications of our future performance

If we lose key personnel or are unable to attract additional qualified personnel as we grow our business could be adversely affrcted

We are dependent upon the ability and experience of number of key personnel who have substantial experience with our operations the

rapidly changing automated consumer financial services industry and the geographical segments in which we operate It is possible that the

loss of the services of one or combination of several of our senior executives would have an adverse effect on our operations Our success

also depends on our ability to continue to attract manage and retain other qualified management as well as technical and operational

personnel as we grow We may not be able to continue to attract and retain such personnel in the future which could adversely impact our

business

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located at 3250 Briarpark Drive Suite 400 Houston Texas 77042 and our telephone number is

832 308-4000 We lease approximately 52500 square feet of space under our Houston headquarters office lease In addition we lease

approximately 41300 square feet of office and warehouse space in north Houston Furthermore we lease approximately 25500 square feet in

Frisco Texas where we manage our EFT transaction processing operations We also lease various spaces in the state of New Jersey which

is where our Access to Money operations are located We are in the process of consolidating these spaces into single New Jersey office

located in Whippany New Jersey Finally we lease office space in Bethesda Maryland where we manage our Allpoint surcharge-free

network operations

In addition to our domestic office space we lease office and storage spaces in the countries that we operate in In the United Kingdom we

lease office space in Hatfield Hertfordshire England two Green Team armored operations cash depot facilities located outside of London

England and Manchester England and warehouse space
in Crawley West Sussex England In Mexico we lease office and warehouse

space in Mexico City Mexico In Canada we lease office space in Lethbridge Canada

Our facilities are leased pursuant to operating leases for various terms We believe that our leases are at competitive or market rates and do

not anticipate any difficulty in leasing suitable additional space upon expiration of our current lease terms

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For description of our material pending legal and regulatory proceedings and settlements see Part II Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data Note 15 Commitments and Contingencies Legal Matters

ITEM MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Ou common stock trades on The SASDAQ Global Market under the symbol CATM As of February 24 2012 there were

106 shareholders of record of our common stock

Quarterly Stock P1 ices The following table reflects the quarterly high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported on the

NASDAQ Stock Market

High Low

2011

Fourth Quarter
28.74 19.74

Third Quarter
25.92 19.46

Second Quarter
23.61 18.57

first Quarter
20.50 16/10

2010

Fourth Quarter
18.79 14.91

Third Quarter 1547 11.55

Second Quarter
14.58 10.40

First Quarter 13.44 9.51

Dividend fnjbrmation We have historically not paid nor do we anticipate paying dividends with respect to our common stock For

information on restrictions regarding our ability to pay dividends see Item Managements Discussion andAnalysis of Financial Condition

and Resu/ts of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources Financing Facilities Revolving Credit Facility and Senior Subordinated

2018 Sotes and Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Note 10 Long-Term Debt

Stock Performance Graph The following graph compares
the cumulative three-year total return to holders of Cardtronics Inc.s common

stock the NASDAQ Composite index the Index and customized peer group of six companies that includes Coinstar Inc Euronet

Worldwide Inc Global Cash Access Holdings Inc Heartland Payment Systems Inc TNS Inc and Wright Express Corp collectixely the

Peer Group We selected the Peer Group companies because they are publicly traded companies that are competitors for products and

services iimay experience similar market cycles to ours iii may be tracked similarly by analysts iv are in generally comparable

bracket of market capitalization and or res enue to ours and compete for the specialized talent of our executi\ es The performance graph

was upared based on the following assumptions $100 was invested in our common stock at $9.50 per share the closing market price at

the end of our first trading day in the Peer Group and the Index on December 11 2007 our first trading day ii investment in the Peer

Group was weighted based on the returns of each individual company within the Peer Group according to their market capitalization at the

beginning of the period and iii dividends were reinvested on the relevant payment dates The stock price performance included in this graph

is historical and not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance The following graph and related information ha1l not be

deemed soliciting materiaf or filed with the SEC nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any
future filing under the

Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act each as amended except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such

01mg
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer anclAffIliated Purchasers The following table provides information about purchases of equity

securities that are registered by us pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act during the quarter ended December 31 2011

Total Number of Approximate Dollar

Total Number A%erage Shares Purchased as Value that May Vet

of Shares Price Paid Part of Publicly he Purchased lnder

Period Purchased Per Share Jam1_
October 31 2011

Nos ember 30 2011 105072 26.40k

December 31 2Q11 496t2 27O5

In connection with the lapsing of the forfeiture restrictions on restricted shares granted by us under our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan which uas adopted in

December 2007 and expires in December 2017 we permitted employees and directors to sell portion of their shares to us in order to satisfy their tax

liabilities that arose as consequence of the lapsing of the forfeiture restrictions In future periods we may not permit individuals to sell their shares to

us in order to satisfy such tax liabilities Since the number of restricted shares that will become unrestricted each year is dependent upon the continued

employment of the award recipients we cannot forecast either the total amount of such securities or the approximate dollar value of those securities that

we might purchase in future years as the forfeiture restrictions on such shares lapse

Represents shares surrendered to us by participants in our 2007 Stock Incentise Plan to settle the participants personal tax liabilities that resulted from

the lapsing of restrictions on shares ass arded to the participants under the plan

The price paid per share ssas based on the average high and low trading prices of our common stock on the dates that we repurehased shares from the

participants under our 2007 Stock Incentis Plan
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ITEM SELECTED FiNANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected financial data derived from our consolidated financial statements As result of our acquisitions of

the 7-Eleven Financial Services Business in July 2007 and the acquisition of EDC LocatorSearch Mr Cash and Access to Money during the

second half of 2011 our financial results for the years presented below are not comparable in all periods Additionally these selected

historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in the future

For the Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

In thousands except share and per share infbrmation and number of TMs

CS Co

26
Income loss from operations 77 275 66263 43000 38118 158

77 787
income loss attributable controlling interests

and avalablc to common stockholders 70 233 409 277 71375 63753

Basicn incomelossper common hare 1.60 0.98 0.13 1.84 4.13

Basi weighted ave ag sh out tanding 42201491 40 347 194 39 244057 38 800 782 15 3744

780

otal cash and cash equival nt 576 3189 10 449 3424 439

78 88 077
otal long-term debt ai capital leas obligation

in luding cLrrent portion 370949 254833 307287 347 181 310744

005 14 44

ash flows om op ritng activiti 113 325 105168 74874 16218 08

76
Cash flow rom fnan ing activities 123532 62150 42232 34 07 158 55

taU

ATM op rations 4810 33116 32413 320 3151

Total numb ATMs at period nd 52886 36970 044 33755 988

For the year ended December 31 2008 amounts include $50.0 million goodwill impairment charge associated with our United Kingdom operations

For the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 amounts include $37.0 and $27.2 million respectively in income tax benefits The income tax

benefit in 2011 related to tax reporting change that was implemented in our United Kingdom operations and the benefit in 2010 related to the reversal

of previously-established valuation allowances on our domestic deferred tax assets Additionally 2010 includes pre-tax charge of approximately

$14.5 million related to certain charges associated with the refinancing of our outstanding debt obligations

For the year ended December 31 2007 net loss attributable to controlling interests and available to common stockholders reflects $36.0 million one

time non-cash charge associated with the conversion of our Series redeemable convertible preferred stock into shares of common stock in

conjunction with our initial public offering in December 2007 and the accretion of issuance costs associated with the Series redeemable convertible

preferred stock
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements that are

based on managements current expectations estimates and projections about our business and operations Our actual results may differ

materially from those currently anticipated and expressed in such forward-looking statements Known materialfactors that could cause our
actual results to differ from those in the forward-looking statements are those we discuss under Part Item JA Risk Factors Additionally

you should read the following discussion together with the financial statements and the related notes included in Item Financial Statements

and Supplementary Data

Our discussion and analysis includes the following

Strategic Outlook

Developing Trends in the ATM and Financial Services Industry

Recent Events

Overview of Business

Results of Operations

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

New Accounting Pronouncements Issued but Not Yet Adopted

Commitments and Contingencies

Strategic Outlook

Over the past several years we have expanded our operations through acquisitions built an electronic funds transfer EFT transaction

processing platform launched our armored courier operation in the United Kingdom continually deployed ATMs in high-traffic locations

under our contracts with well-known retailers expanded our relationships with leading financial institutions grown our surcharge-free ATM
network Allpoint and developed new product offerings such as managed ATM services

During 2011 we completed four separate acquisitions in July we acquired all of the outstanding securities of EDC ATM Subsidiary
LLC and Efmark Deployment Inc collectively referred to as EDC from EDC Holding Company LLC which provided us with over

3600 ATMs that are primarily located in well-known convenience store locations throughout the United States in August we completed
the acquisition of LocatorSearch LLC LocatorSearch leading provider of location search technology deployed by financial institutions

to help customers and members find the nearest most appropriate and convenient ATM location based on the service they seek in

October we acquired Mr Cash ATM Network Inc Mr Cash privately-held company with approximately 600 ATMs across Canada
which allowed us to expand our international presence into Canada and in November we completed the acquisition of Access to Money
Inc Access to Money leading operator of ATMs with approximately 10000 ATMs across the United States including both multi-unit

regional retail chains and individual merchant ATM locations

We expect to continue to launch new initiatives in the future to further leverage the significant investment that we have made in the

development of our extensive ATM and financial services kiosk network and to continue to integrate the operations of the entities acquired

during 2011 In particular we see opportunities to further expand our operations in 2012 and beyond through the following

Increasing our Number of Deployed Devices with Existing as well as New Merchant Relationships We believe that there is

significant opportunity to deploy additional ATMs with our existing retail customers in locations that currently do not have ATMs
Furthermore many of our retail customers continue to expand their number of active store locations either through acquisitions or

through new store openings thus providing us with additional ATM deployment opportunities Additionally we are actively

pursuing opportunities to deploy ATMs with new retailers including retailers that currently do not have ATMs as well as those that
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have existing ATM programs
but that are looking for new ATM provider We believe that our size and scale as well as our proven

operational track record position us well to capitalize on these opportunities as they arise

Expand our Relationships with Leading Financial Institutions Through our merchant relationships as well as our diverse product

and service offerings we believe we can provide our existing financial institution customers with convenient solutions to fulfill their

growing ATM and automated consumer financial services requirements Further we believe we can leverage these offerings to

attract additional financial institutions as customers Our services currently offered to financial institutions include branding our

ATMs with their logos providing remote deposit capture and providing surcharge-free access to their customers through our

Allpoint network The number of machines and financial institutions participating
in our Allpoint network are also increasing

enabling us to increase transaction counts and profitability on our existing machines

Working with Non-Traditional Financial Institutions and Card Issuers to Further Leverage our Extensive TM and Financial

Services Kiosk Network We believe that there are opportunities to develop relationships with non-traditional financial institutions

and card issuers that are seeking an extensive and convenient ATM network to complement their new card offerings Additionally

we believe that many of the prepaid debit card issuers that exist today in the United States can benefit by providing their cardholders

with access to our ATM network on discounted or fee-free basis For example through our Allpoint network we have sold access

to our ATM network to issuers of stored value prepaid debit cards to enable the customers of such issuers with convenient and

surcharge-free access to cash

Increasing Transaction Levels at our Existing Locations We believe that there are opportunities to increase the number of

transactions that are occurring today at our existing ATM locations On average only small fraction of the customers that enter our

retail customers locations utilize our ATMs and financial services kiosks In addition to our existing initiatives that tend to drive

additional transaction volumes to our ATMs such as bank branding and network branding we are working on developing new

initiatives to potentially drive incremental transactions over our existing ATM locations recent example of this effort is our recent

LocatorSearch acquisition which helps locate convenient access to our ATMs

Pursue Additional Managed Services Opportunities Over the last couple of years we significantly expanded the number of ATMs

that are operated under our managed services arrangement type We plan to pursue
additional opportunities with leading merchants

and financial institutions in the United States as well as international opportunities as they arise working with our customers to

provide them with customized solution that fits their needs

International Expansion We currently operate in the United States including the territories of Puerto Rico and the U.S Virgin

Islands the United Kingdom Mexico and Canada We believe that there may be further opportunities to expand our business

outside the United States

Longer term we believe there are opportunities to not only expand our ATM and financial services kiosk network but to also expand the

types
of services that we offer through that network We believe that recent industry regulatory changes coupled with the proliferation of

stored-value prepaid debit cards provide us with unique opportunity to leverage our extensive retail ATM and financial services kiosk

network to provide broader array of automated financial services to financial institutions and card issuers For example with recently

enacted and pending regulatory changes with respect to credit cards debit cards and traditional demand deposit accounts there is

considerable amount of uncertainty surrounding many of the revenue streams traditionally earned by financial institutions As result we

believe that our network of ATMs located in prime retail locations represents an attractive and affordable option for financial institutions

looking to continue to expand their ATM network in cost-effective manner Additionally we believe that the deployment of devices that

perform other financial services including check cashing remote deposit capture money transfer bill payment services and stored-value

card reload services could provide compelling and cost-effective solution for financial institutions and stored-value prepaid debit card

issuers looking to provide the convenience of branch banking in an off-premise retail setting

Developing Trends in the ATM and Financial Services Industry

Increase in Surcharge-Free Offerings Many United States banks providing banking services are aggressively competing for market share

and part of their competitive strategy is to increase their number of customer touch points including the establishment of an ATM network to

provide convenient surcharge-free access to cash for their customers While large owned-ATM network would be key strategic asset for

bank we believe it would be uneconomical for all but the largest banks to build and operate an extensive ATM network Bank branding of

ATMs and participation in surcharge-free networks allow financial institutions to rapidly increase surcharge-free ATM access for their

customers at substantially less cost than building their own ATM networks These factors have led to an increase in bank branding and

participation in surcharge-free networks and we believe that there will be continued growth in such arrangements
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Increase in Usage of Stored- Value Prepaid Debit Cards In the United States we have seen proliferation in the issuance and acceptance

of stored-value prepaid debit cards as means for consumers to access their cash and make routine retail purchases Based on published

studies the value loaded on stored-value prepaid cards such as open ioop network-branded money and financial services cards payroll cards

social security cards and unemployment benefit cards is expected to double in the next three years These figures do not include card types

less likely or unable to be used at ATMs such as gift cards consumer incentive cards and transit cards

We believe that our network of ATMs and financial services kiosks located in well-known retail establishments throughout the United

States provides convenient and cost-effective way for holders of such cards to access their cash and potentially conduct other financial

services transactions Furthermore through Allpoint which partners with financial institutions that issue and sponsor
stored-value prepaid

debit card programs on behalf of corporate entities and governmental organizations we are able to provide holders of such cards convenient

surcharge-free access to their cash While it is difficult to measure the precise number of cash withdrawal transactions occurring from stored-

value cards on our network we believe that such number increased significantly over the last couple of years and represented significant

portion of the year-over-year withdrawal transaction count gains that we saw in the United States

Growth in Other Automated Consumer Financial Services Approximately 75% of all ATM transactions in the United States are cash

withdrawals with the remainder representing other basic banking functions such as balance inquiries transfers and deposits We believe that

there are significant opportunities for large non-bank ATM operator to provide additional financial services to customers such as check

cashing remote deposit capture money transfer bill payment services and stored-value card reload services through self-service kiosks

These additional consumer financial services would result in additional revenue streams for us and could ultimately result in increased

profitability It would require additional capital expenditures on our part to offer these services more broadly

Managed Services While many banks own significant networks of ATMs that serve as extensions of their branch networks and increase

the level of service offered to their customers large ATM networks are costly to operate and typically do not provide significant revenue for

banks and smaller financial institutions Similarly there are retailers that own their own network of ATMs for added services to their

customers Operating network of ATMs is not core competency for the majority of banks or other financial institutions and for retailers

therefore we believe there is an opportunity for large non-bank ATM and financial services kiosk operator such as ourselves with lower

costs and an established operating history to contract with fmancial institutions and retailers to manage their ATM networks Such an

outsourcing arrangement could reduce financial institutions operational costs while extending their customer service Additionally we

believe there are opportunities to provide selected services on an outsourced basis such as transaction processing services to other

independent owners and operators of ATMs and financial services kiosks

Growth in International Markets In most regions of the world ATMs are less common than in the United States We believe the ATM

industry will grow faster in certain international markets than in the United States as the number of ATMs per capita in those markets

increases and begins to approach the levels in the United States In addition there has been trend towards growth of off-premise ATMs in

several international markets including the United Kingdom Mexico and Canada

United Kingdom The United Kingdom is the largest ATM market in Europe Until the late 1990s most United Kingdom ATMs

were installed at bank and building society branches Non-bank operators began to deploy ATMs in the United Kingdom in

December 1998 when LINK which connects the ATM networks of all United Kingdom ATM operators allowed them entry into its

network via arrangements between non-bank operators and the United Kingdom financial institutions We believe that non-bank

ATM operators have benefited in recent years from customer demand for more conveniently located cash machines the emergence

of internet banking with no established point of presence and the closure of bank branches due to consolidation According to

LINK approximately 65000 ATMs were deployed in the United Kingdom as of December 2011 latest statistics date of which

approximately 30000 were operated by non-banks The current number of ATMs has grown from approximately 36700 ATMs in

the United Kingdom in 2001 with less than 7000 operated by non-banks Similar to the United States electronic payment

alternatives have gained popularity in the United Kingdom in recent years However cash is still the primary payment method

preferred by consumers representing approximately 56% of total transaction spending according to the UK Payments

Administration Ltds UK Cash Cash Machines 2011 publication We expect to continue to grow in this market through new

locations with existing merchant customers along with new merchants with whom we may acquire relationships

Mexico Historically surcharge fees were not allowed pursuant to Mexican law In July 2005 the Mexican government approved

measure that allowed ATM operators to charge fee to individuals withdrawing cash from their ATMs However effective May

2010 the Central Bank of Mexico adopted new rules that required ATM operators to elect between receiving interchange fees from

card issuers or surcharge fees from consumers Cardtronics Mexico elected to assess surcharge fee to the consumer rather than

receive an interchange payment from the consumers financial institution i.e the card issuer According to the Central Bank of

Mexico as of September 2011 Mexico had approximately 35900 ATMs operating throughout the country substantially all of

which were owned by national and regional banks
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Canada We entered the Canadian market in October of 2011 through our acquisition of Mr Cash We expect to continue to acquire

new ATM locations in this market and plan to leverage our United States operations to support our anticipated growth in this market

We believe that we can leverage our existing relationships with merchant retailer with whom we have significant existing

relationships in place in the United States to service their Canadian operations In addition we plan to seek to partner with financial

institutions in this market to implement bank branding and other financial services similar to our bank branding and surcharge-free

strategy in the United States

Increases in Surcharge Rates As financial institutions in the United States increase the surcharge rate charged to non-customers for the

use of their ATMs it enables us to increase the surcharge rates charged on our ATMs in selected markets and with certain merchant

customers as well We also believe the higher surcharge rates make our surcharge-free offerings more attractive to consumers and other

financial institutions In 2009 and 2010 we saw significant increases in surcharge rates in the industry During 2011 we saw slowing of

surcharge rate increases and expect to see more modest increases in surcharge rates in the near future

Decrease in Interchange Rates The interchange rates paid to independent ATM deployers such as ourselves are in some cases set by the

various EFT networks over which the underlying transactions are routed Over the last couple of years several networks have not only

reduced the per
transaction interchange paid to ATM deployers for transactions routed through their networks but also increased the fees

they charge ATM deployers to have access to their networks These access fees are referred to as acquirer fees As result of these actions

we have experienced decrease in the net interchange rate we receive on transactions performed at our ATMs In mid-October 2011 another

major global network announced reduction in interchange paid to ATM deployers and an increase in the acquirer fees paid by ATM

deployers The new fee structure takes effect in April 2012 We expect that this rate decrease will result in approximately $7 to million in

lower revenues than we otherwise would have earned If additional financial institutions move to take advantage of the lower interchange

rate or if additional networks reduce the interchange rates they currently pay to ATM deployers or increase their network fees our future

revenues and gross profits would be further negatively impacted We have taken certain measures to mitigate our exposure to interchange

rate reductions by networks including where possible routing transactions through preferred network such as Allpoint where we have

influence over the per transaction rate negotiating directly with our financial institution partners for contractual interchange rates on

transactions involving their customers developing contractual protection from such rate changes in our agreements with merchants and

financial institution partners and other measures

Additionally interchange rates in the United Kingdom which are set by LINK the United Kingdoms primary ATM debit network

declined effective as of January 2011 and also further declined effective January 2012 LINK sets the interchange rates in the United

Kingdom annually by using cost-based methodology that incorporates interest rates and other ATM service costs from two years back i.e

interest rates and other costs from 2010 are considered for determining the 2012 interchange rate As result the interchange revenues per

transaction generated by certain of our ATMs in that market declined in 2011 and are expected to decline slightly more in 2012

Recent Events

Withdrawal Transaction and Revenue Trends United States For year ended December 31 2011 total same-store cash withdrawal

transactions conducted on our domestic ATMs increased by 3.8% over the prior year We define same-store ATMs as all ATMs that were

continuously transacting for the trailing 24-month period to ensure the exclusion of any new growth or mid-month installations

The increase in transactions was primarily attributable to two factors continued shift in the mix of withdrawal transactions being

conducted on our domestic network of ATMs i.e more surcharge-free and less surcharge-based withdrawal transactions resulting from the

continued evolution and growth of our surcharge-free product offerings and the proliferation in the use of network-branded stored-value

cards by employers and governmental agencies for payroll and benefit-related payments With respect to the latter the increase in the number

of stored-value cards in circulation has served to increase our potential customer base as these stored-value cards are capable of being used at

ATMs and many of the individuals to whom the cards have been issued are traditionally unbanked or under-banked and have not historically

been able to utilize ATMs We expect to continue to see an increase in the number of stored-value cards in the future which we believe will

result in an increase in the number of cash withdrawal transactions being conducted on our domestic ATMs

In addition many United States banks serving the market for consumer banking services are aggressively competing for market share and

part of their competitive strategy is to increase their number of customer touch points including the establishment of an ATM network to

provide convenient surcharge-free access to cash for their customers While large owned-ATM network would be key strategic asset for

bank we believe it would be uneconomical for all but the largest banks to build and operate an extensive ATM network Bank branding of

ATMs and participation in surcharge-free networks allow financial institutions to rapidly increase surcharge-free ATM access for their

customers at substantially less cost than building their own ATM networks We also believe there is an opportunity for large non-bank

ATM and financial services kiosk operator such as ourselves with lower costs and an established operating history to contract with financial

institutions and retailers to manage their ATM networks Such an outsourcing arrangement could reduce financial institutions operational

costs while extending their customer service Furthermore we believe there are opportunities to provide selected services on an outsourced

basis such as transaction processing services to other independent owners and operators of ATMs and financial services kiosks These
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factors have led to an increase in bank branding participation in surcharge-free networks and managed services arrangements and we believe

that there will be continued growth in such arrangements

Financial Regulatoiy Reform in the United States The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the Dodd-Frank

Act which contains broad measures aimed at overhauling existing financial regulations within the United States was signed into law on

July 21 2010 Among many other things the Dodd-Frank Act includes provisions that call for the establishment of new Bureau of

Consumer Financial Protection limit the activities that banking entities may engage in and give the Federal Reserve the authority to

regulate interchange transaction fees charged by electronic funds transfer networks for electronic debit transactions Many of the detailed

regulations required under the Dodd-Frank Act have still yet to be finalized As result of the Dodd-Frank Act we have seen networks and

banks take different actions to attempt to mitigate reductions to fees that they previously earned on certain transaction types such as point-of-

sale debit interchange As potentially an indirect consequence we have been notified by certain networks over which our ATM transactions

are routed that the net interchange that the network will pay to us will be reduced in future periods Other possible impacts of this broad

legislation are unknown to us at this time but we have seen certain actions taken by banks that indicate debit cards are no longer as an

attractive form of payment Decreased profitability on point-of-sale debit transactions could cause banks to provide incentives to their

customers to use other payment types such as cash or credit However it is too early to determine what ultimate impact the reduction in

point-of-sale debit interchange will have on us In addition there are other components to the Dodd-Frank Act that may ultimately impact us
but at this time we are uncertain as to what impact the existing laws and to be written laws and the resulting behavior by consumers and

financial institutions will ultimately have on our business Finally the newly issued regulations require debit cards to be recognized or
authorized over at least two non-affiliated networks and provide for rules that would allow merchants greater flexibility in routing
transactions across networks that are more economical for the merchant

Withdrawal Transaction and Revenue Trends United Kingdom For the year ended December 31 2011 withdrawal transactions per
ATM in the United Kingdom increased by 33% over the prior year We continued to see shift in the mix of ATMs in the United Kingdom
from fewer pay-to-use ATMs and more surcharge-free or free-to-use ATMs As result we have installed more free-to-use machines in

this market in recent periods Specifically the average number of free-to-use machines we had in the United Kingdom during 2011 increased

by approximately 63% compared to 2010 whereas the number of pay-to-use machines decreased by approximately 13% Although we earn

less revenue per cash withdrawal transaction on free-to-use machine the increase in the number of transactions conducted on free-to-use

machines has generally translated into higher overall revenues However excluding the impact of the LINK interchange rate decrease

discussed above the interchange revenues generated by some of our ATMs in that market would have been higher by approximately $7.4
million in 2011

Recent Events Mexico In May 2010 as supplemented in October 2010 rules promulgated by the Central Bank of Mexico became
effective that require ATM operators to choose between receiving an interchange fee from the consumers card-issuing bank or surcharge
fee from the consumer When surcharge is received by the ATM operator the rules prohibit bank from charging its cardholder an
additional fee The rules also prohibit bank from charging its cardholders surcharge fee when those cardholders use its ATMs

Our majority-owned subsidiary Cardtronics Mexico elected to assess surcharge fee-only rather than selecting the interchange fee-only

option and subsequently increased the amount of our surcharge fees to compensate for the loss of interchange fees that we previously earned

on such ATM transactions Although the total cost to the consumer including bank fees of an ATM transaction at Cardtronics Mexico
ATM has stayed approximately the same average transaction counts revenues and profit per machine have declined As result of the

above developments we are working on strategies to mitigate the negative effects of these events such as the bank branding agreement that

was executed during the first quarter of 2011 with Grupo Financiero Banorte S.A de CV Banorte to brand up to 2000 machines in that

market As result of this agreement we have experienced improved profitability on the machines covered by the agreement If we are

unsuccessful in our efforts to continue to mitigate the negative effects of the new regulations our overall profitability in that market will

decline If such declines are significant we may be required to record an impairment charge in future periods to write down the carrying
value of certain existing tangible and intangible assets associated with that operation

In October of 2011 we were notified by major global network that certain of our United States dollar-dispensing ATMs USD
ATMs in Mexico were not in compliance with that networks procedures for settling U.S dollar-denominated transactions through
Promoción Operación S.A de CV PROSA-RED We are working with PROSA-RED to begin offering an acceptable solution to

continue operating the USD ATMs with some modifications to our current process This solution could result in reduction of the revenues
and profits we earn from the USD ATMs in Mexico

Factors Impacting Comparability

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates Our reported financial results are subject to fluctuations in exchange rates Due to minor fluctuations

in the average rates between 2009 and 2011 our overall results were not significantly positively or negatively impacted
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Acquisitions Our results for the year ended December 31 2011 includes the effect of the acquisitions that were completed during the year

which includes EDC in July 2011 LocatorSearch in August 2011 Mr Cash in October 2011 and Access to Money in November 2011 The

results of operations for the acquired entities have been included in our consolidated results for the year ended December 31 2011 since the

respective dates of acquisition

Overview of Business

As of December 31 2011 we operated network of approximately 52900 ATMs and financial services kiosks throughout the United

States including the U.S territories of Puerto Rico and the U.S Virgin Islands the United Kingdom Mexico and Canada Our extensive

network is strengthened by multi-year contractual relationships with wide variety of nationally and internationally-known merchants

pursuant to which we operate ATMs and financial services kiosks in their locations We offer ATM services in which we deploy our devices

under two distinct arrangements with our merchant partners Company-owned and merchant-owned arrangements as well as offer various

forms of managed services solutions

Company-owned Arrangements Under Company-owned arrangement we own or lease the device and are responsible for controlling

substantially all aspects of its operation These responsibilities include what we refer to as first line maintenance such as replacing paper

clearing paper or bill jams resetting the device resolving any
telecommunications and power issues or performing other maintenance

activities that do not require trained service technician We are also responsible for what we refer to as second line maintenance which

includes more complex maintenance procedures that require trained service technicians and often involve replacing component parts In

addition to first and second line maintenance we are responsible for arranging for cash cash loading supplies transaction processing

telecommunications service and all other services required for the operation of the device other than electricity We typically pay fee

either periodically on per-transaction basis or combination of both to the merchant on whose premises the device is physically located

We operate limited number of our Company-owned devices on merchant-assisted basis In these arrangements we own the device and

provide all transaction processing services but the merchant generally is responsible for providing and loading cash and performing first line

maintenance

Typically we deploy our devices under Company-owned arrangements for our national and regional merchant customers Our customers

include 7-Eleven Chevron Costco CVS ExxonMobil Hess Rite Aid Safeway Speedway Target Walgreens and Wiim-Dixie in the

United States Asda Euro Garages Ltd Forces Financial IKEA Martin McColl Ltd Murco Petroleum Ltd Tates Ltd and Welcome Break

in the United Kingdom and OXXO in Mexico Because Company-owned locations are controlled by us i.e we control the on-line

availability of the machines and are usually located in major national chains they are more likely candidates for additional sources of

revenue such as bank branding In addition they generally offer higher transaction volumes and greater profitability which we consider

necessary to justify the upfront capital cost of installing such machines As of December 31 2011 we operated approximately 30600 devices

under Company-owned arrangements

Merchant-owned Arrangements Under merchant-owned arrangement merchant owns the device and is generally responsible for its

first-line maintenance and the majority of the operating costs however we generally continue to provide all transaction processing services

second-line maintenance 24-hour per day monitoring and customer service and in some cases retain responsibility for providing and

loading cash We typically enter into merchant-owned arrangements with smaller independent merchant customers but we now also have

large retail merchant customers as result of our acquisitions in 2011 In situations where merchant purchases device from us the

merchant normally retains responsibility for providing cash for the device Because the merchant bears more of the operating costs under this

arrangement the merchant typically receives higher fee on per-transaction basis than is the case under Company-owned arrangement In

merchant-owned arrangements under which we have assumed responsibility for providing and loading cash and/or second line maintenance

the merchant receives smaller fee on per-transaction basis than in the typical merchant-owned arrangement As of December 31 2011 we

operated approximately 17500 devices under merchant-owned arrangements

In the future we expect the percentage of our Company-owned and merchant-owned arrangements to continue to fluctuate in response to

the mix of devices we add through internal growth and acquisitions

Managed Services Over the last few years we expanded the type of products we offer by providing various forms of managed services

solutions Under managed services arrangement retailers and financial institutions rely on us to handle some or all of the operational

aspects associated with operating and maintaining as well as at times owning their ATM fleets Under these types of arrangements we

typically receive fixed management fee or fixed fee per transaction in return for providing certain services including monitoring

maintenance cash management customer service and transaction processing We do not receive surcharge and interchange fees in these

arrangements but rather those amounts are earned by our customer Our domestic customers include Carnival Corporation The Kroger Co
and Travelex Currency Services Inc We also offer these services in the United Kingdom and plan to grow internationally as well as

domestically in the future As of December 31 2011 we provided managed services solutions to approximately 4800 ATMs
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Electronic Funds Transfer EFT Transaction Processing As of December 31 2011 substantially all of our fleet operated on our EFT
transaction processing platform except for certain acquired ATMs during 2011 Our EFT transaction processing capabilities provide us with

the ability to control the processing of transactions conducted on our network and allow us to control the content of the information appearing

on the screens of our devices which increases the types of products and services that we are able to offer to financial institutions For

example with the ability to control screen flow we are able to offer customized branding solutions to financial institutions including one-to-

one marketing and advertising services at the point of transaction Additionally the transition of our devices to our own EFT transaction

processing platform has provided us with operational cost savings in terms of lower overall processing costs

As our EFT transaction processing efforts are focused on controlling the flow and content of information on the device screens we
typically rely on third-party service providers to handle the generic back-end connections to the EFT networks and limited funds settlement

and reconciliation processes for our Company-owned accounts

Armored Courier Services in the United Kingdom We operate our own armored courier operation in the United Kingdom Green Team
Services Limited Green Team with two secure cash depot facilities located outside of London England and Manchester England As of

December 31 2011 this operation was servicing roughly 1790 of our ATMs in the United Kingdom We believe this operation allows us to

provide higher-quality and more cost-effective cash-handling services in that market and has proven to be an efficient alternative to third-

party armored providers

Components of Revenues Cost of Revenues and Expenses

Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from providing ATM and automated consumer financial services and to lesser extent from branding

arrangements surcharge-free network offerings and sales of ATM equipment We currently classify revenues into two primary categories
ATM operating revenues and ATM product sales and other revenues

ATM Operating Revenues We present revenues from ATM and automated consumer financial services branding arrangements surcharge-
free network offerings and managed services as ATM operating revenues in our Consolidated Statements of Operations These revenues
include the fees we earn per transaction on our ATMs fees we generate from bank branding arrangements and our surcharge-free network

offerings fees we earn on managed services arrangements and fees earned from providing certain maintenance services Our revenues from

ATM services have increased rapidly in recent years due to the acquisitions we have completed by unit growth expansion with our customer

base acquisition of new merchant relationships and the growth of our Allpoint network

ATM operating revenues primarily consist of the four following components surcharge revenue interchange revenue branding
and surcharge-free network revenue and managed services revenue

Surcharge revenue surcharge fee represents convenience fee paid by the cardholder for making cash withdrawal from an

ATM Surcharge fees often vary by the type of arrangement under which we place our ATMs and can vary widely based on the

location of the ATM and the nature of the contracts negotiated with our merchants In the future we expect that surcharge fees per

surcharge-bearing transaction will vary depending upon the competitive landscape for surcharge fees at newly-deployed ATMs the

roll-out of additional branding arrangements and future negotiations with existing merchant partners For those ATMs that we own

or operate that participate in surcharge-free networks we do not receive surcharge fees related to withdrawal transactions from

cardholders who are participants of such networks rather we receive interchange and branding or surcharge-free network revenues
which are further discussed below For certain ATMs owned and primarily operated by the merchant we do not receive any portion
of the surcharge but rather the entire fee is earned by the merchant In the United Kingdom ATM operators must either operate
ATMs on free-to-use surcharge-free or on pay-to-use surcharging basis On free-to-use ATMs in the United Kingdom we only
earn interchange revenue on withdrawal transactions that is paid to us by the customers financial institution through the ATM
network in the United Kingdom On pay-to-use ATMs we only earn surcharge fee and no interchange is paid to us by the

cardholders financial institution These surcharge fees are typically somewhat higher in the United Kingdom compared to surcharge
fees in the United States In Mexico domestic surcharge fees are generally similar to those charged in the United States except for

machines that dispense U.S dollars where we charge an additional foreign currency convenience fee Finally in Canada surcharge
fees are comparable to those charged in the United States as well

Interchange revenue An interchange fee is fee paid by the cardholders financial institution for its customers use of an ATM
owned by another operator and for the EFT network charges to transmit data between the ATM and the cardholders financial

institution We typically receive majority of the interchange fee paid by the cardholders financial institution with the remaining

portion being retained by the EFT network In the United States interchange fees are earned not only on cash withdrawal

transactions but on any ATM transaction including balance inquiries transfers and surcharge-free transactions On approximately
half of our United States transactions the interchange fees that we earn are set by the EFT networks and vary according to EFT
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network arrangements with financial institutions as well as the type of transaction Such fees are typically lower for balance

inquiries and fund transfers and higher for withdrawal transactions On the other half of our U.S transactions we have negotiated

with the financial institution for the per transaction interchange fees that we earn In the United Kingdom interchange fees are

earned on all ATM transactions other than pay-to-use cash withdrawals LNK the United Kingdoms primary ATM debit network

sets the interchange rates in the United Kingdom annually by using cost-based methodology that incorporates the interest rates and

cash costs from the previous year Currently we do not receive interchange revenue from domestic transactions in Mexico due to

rules promulgated by the Central Bank of Mexico which became effective in May 2010 These rules require ATM operators to

choose between receiving an interchange fee from the consumers card-issuing bank or surcharge fee from the consumer When

surcharge is received by the ATM operator the rules prohibit bank from charging its cardholder an additional fee In Canada

interchange fees are determined Interac and have remained at fairly steady rate over the past few years

Branding and surcharge-free ne/work revenue Under bank branding agreement ATMs that are owned and operated by us are

branded with the logo of the branding financial institution Customers of the branding institution can use those machines without

paying surcharge and in exchange for that value the customers financial institution typically pays us monthly per-machine fee

for such branding Historically this type of branding arrangement has resulted in an increase in transaction levels at the branded

ATMs as existing customers continue to use the ATMs and new customers of the branding financial institution are attracted by the

surcharge-free service Additionally although we forego the surcharge fee on transactions by the branding institutions customers

we continue to earn interchange fees on those transactions along with the monthly branding fee and typically enjoy an increase in

surcharge-bearing transactions from users who are not customers of the branding institution as result of having bank brand on the

devices Based on these factors we believe branding arrangement can substantially increase the profitability of an ATM versus

operating the same machine without bank brand Fees paid for branding vary widely within our industry as well as within our own

operations depending on the ATM location financial institutions operating in the area and other factors Regardless we typically

set branding fees at levels that more than offset our anticipated lost surcharge revenue

Under the Allpoint network financial institutions who are members of the network pay us either fixed monthly fee per cardholder

or set fee per transaction in exchange for us providing their cardholders with surcharge-free access to most of our ATMs These

fees are meant to compensate us for the loss of surcharge revenues Although we forego surcharge revenues on those transactions

we do continue to earn interchange revenues Allpoint also works with financial institutions that manage stored-value debit card

programs on behalf of corporate entities and governmental agencies including general purpose payroll and electronic benefits

transfer EBT cards Under these programs the issuing financial institutions pay Ailpoint either per transaction fee or fee per

issued stored-value card in return for allowing the users of those cards surcharge-free access to Allpoints participating network

In addition to Ailpoint the ATMs that we operate in 7-Eleven stores as well as select other merchant locations participate in the

CO-OP network the nations largest surcharge-free network devoted exclusively to credit unions

Managed services revenue Under managed service arrangement we offer ATM-related services depending on the needs of our

customers including monitoring maintenance cash management customer service and transaction processing Our customers

which include retailers and financial institutions may also at times request that we own the ATM fleets Under managed services

arrangement all of the transaction-based surcharge and interchange fees are earned by our customer whereas we typically receive

fixed management fee or fixed rate per transaction for the services we provide This arrangement allows our customers to have

greater flexibility to control the profitability per ATM by managing the surcharge fee levels Currently we offer managed services

in the United States and recently began offering these services in the United Kingdom and plan to grow internationally as well as

domestically in the future

In addition to the above we also earn ATM operating revenues from the provision of more sophisticated financial services transactions at

approximately 2200 financial services kiosks that in addition to standard ATM services offer bill payment check cashing remote deposit

capture and money transfer services
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The following table presents the components of our total ATM operating revenues for the years indicated

2011 2010 2009

Surobgg6enue

Interchange revenue 31.7 30.3 30.7

Bxkbidg ai fur9brge-flgi ttututs 15.6 15.6 14.6

Other ATM operating revenues including managed services 4.0 29 2.4

FofuiATh ppqiatig venhe

Growth in our interchange revenues as percentage of our total revenues from 2010 to 2011 is principally being driven by higher

percentage of our United Kingdom operation operating under free-to-use interchange only model partially offset by lower interchange
rates eamed on withdrawal transactions in the United Kingdom and the United States Growth in our other ATM operating revenues is

principally driven by an increase in the number of locations operating under managed service arrangement

TM Product Sales and Other Revenues We present revenues from the sale of ATMs and other non-transaction-based revenues as ATM
product sales and other revenues in our Consolidated Statements of Operations These revenues consist primarily of sales of ATMs and

related equipment to merchants operating under merchant-owned
arrangements as well as sales under our value-added reseller VAR

program with NCR Under our VAR program we primarily sell ATMs to associate VARs who in turn resell the ATMs to various financial

institutions throughout the United States in territories authorized by the equipment manufacturer We expect to continue to derive portion of

our revenues from sales of ATMs in the future and in the near term expect to continue to benefit from new requirements under the

Americans with Disabilities Act ADA which calls for ATMs to be accessible to persons with disabilities As result of this regulation
ATM owners are required to operate ADA-compliant equipment by March 2012

Cost of Revenues

Our cost of revenues primarily consists of those costs directly associated with transactions completed on our network of ATMs and

financial services kiosks These costs include merchant commissions vault cash rental expense other cost of cash repairs and maintenance

expense communications expense transaction processing fees and direct operations expense To lesser extent cost of revenues also

includes those costs associated with the sales of ATMs The following is description of our primary cost categories

Merchant Commission.s We pay our merchants fee for allowing us an exclusive right to place our ATM at their location and that

fee amount depends on variety of factors including the type of arrangement under which the device is placed the type of location

and the number of transactions on that device For the year ended December 31 2011 merchant commissions represented 31 .2% of

our ATM operating revenues

Vault Cash Rental Expense We pay fee to our vault cash providers for renting the cash that is maintained in our devices As the

fees we pay under our contracts with our vault cash providers are based on market rates of interest changes in interest rates affect

our cost of cash In order to limit our exposure to increases in interest rates we have entered into number of interest rate swaps on

varying amounts of nur current and anticipated outstanding cash balances in our domestic operations through 2016 and in our United

Kingdom operations through 2013 For the year ended December 31 2011 vault cash rental expense inclusive of our interest rate

swap expense represented 8% of our ATM operating revenues

Other Costs of Cash Other costs of cash includes al costs associated with the provision of cash for our devices except for rental

expense including armored courier services insurance cash reconciliation associated wire fees and other costs For the year ended

December 31 2011 other costs of cash represented 9.2% of our ATM operating revenues

Repairs and Maintenance Depending on the type of arrangement with the merchant we may be responsible for first and/or second

line maintenance for the device We typically use third parties with national operations to provide these services Our primary
maintenance vendors are Diebold NCR and Pendum For the year ended December 31 2011 repairs and maintenance expense
represented 6.9% of our ATM operating revenues

Communications Under our Company-owned arrangements we are responsible for expenses associated with providing
telecommunications capabilities to the devices allowing them to connect with the applicable EFT network

Transaction Processing We maintain our own EFT transaction processing platform through which the majority of our AiMs arc

driven and monitored from these terminal-driving platforms We continue to pay fees to third-party processors to gateway
transactions to the EFT networks for authorization by the cardholders financial institutions and to settle transactions As result of

acquisitions completed during 2011 we have inherited transaction processing contracts with certain third party providers that have
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varying lengths of remaining contractual terms Over the next couple of years we expect to migrate ATMs currently operating under

these contracts to our own EFT transaction processing platform

Other Expenses Other expenses primarily consists of direct operations expenses which are costs associated with managing our

network including expenses
for monitoring the devices program managers technicians cash ordering and forecasting personnel

and customer service representatives Additionally it includes personnel-related costs for maintaining our in-house armored courier

operation and maintenance teams in our operations in the United Kingdom

Cost ofATM Product Sales In connection with the sale of equipment to merchants and VAR we incur costs associated with

purchasing equipment from manufacturers as well as delivery and installation expenses

We define variable costs as those that vary based on transaction levels The majority of merchant commissions vault cash rental expense

transaction processing and other costs of cash fall under this category The other categories of cost of revenues are generally fixed in nature

meaning that any significant decrease in transaction volumes would lead to decrease in the profitability of our operations unless there was

an offsetting increase in per-transaction revenues or decrease in our fixed costs Although the majority of our operating costs are variable in

nature an increase in transaction volumes may lead to an increase in the profitability of our operations due to the economies of scale obtained

through increased leveraging of our fixed costs and incremental preferential pricing obtained from our vendors We exclude depreciation

accretion and amortization of ATMs and ATM-related assets from our cost of ATM revenues

The profitability of any particular location and of our entire ATM and financial services kiosk operation is driven by combination of

surcharge interchange branding and surcharge-free network revenues and managed services revenues as well as the level of our related

costs Accordingly material changes in our surcharge or interchange revenues may be offset and in some cases more than offset by branding

revenues surcharge-free network fees managed services revenues or other ancillary revenues or by changes in our cost structure

Other Operating Expenses

Our other operating expenses
include selling general and administrative expenses related to salaries benefits advertising and marketing

professional services and overhead Acquisition-related costs depreciation and accretion of the ATMs ATM-related assets and other assets

that we own amortization of our acquired merchant contracts and other amortizable intangible assets are also components of our other

operating expenses We depreciate our capital equipment on straight-line basis over the estimated life of such equipment and amortize the

value of acquired intangible assets over the estimated lives of such assets
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our statement of operations information as percentage of total revenues for the years indicated Percentages
may not add due to rounding

Years Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009

Re enues

.\ RI operating re enues 95.6 17
ATM product sales and other re enues 4.4 1.7 2.1

Total re\ canes
100.0 100.0 00.0

Cost of revenues

cost of operating re enucs exclusive ol depreciation accretion
and amorti7alion shown separatel heIov O3.5 66.1 07.7

ost of ATM product sales and other reenues 3.8 1.7 2.1

Fotal cost of re enue 67.3 67.7 69.8
Gross protit 3.7 32.3 302
Operating expenses

Selling general and administrati
expenses- 8.9 8.4 8.4

Acquisitionrelated expenses 0.8

Depreciation and accretion
expense 77 8.0 8.0

Amortization expense 2.9 2.9 3.8

oss on disposal of assets 0.2 0.5 1.2

Total operating expenses 21.4 9.8 21.5
Income from operations 12.4 .5 8.7

Other expene illeome

Interest expense net 3.2 5.0

.\mortation otdeferred tinancing costs and bond discounts 0.2 0.4 0.5

\riteotf of deferred linaneing costs and bond discounts
.4

--

Redemption costs for early extingukhment of debt
1.4

Other income expense 0.1 0.2 LI

Excludes effects of depreciation accretion and amortization expense of $59.3 million $51.0 million and $51.5 million for the years ended
December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively The inclusion of this depreciation accretion and amortization expense in Cost of ATM operating
revenues would have increased our Cost of ATM operating revenues as percentage of total revenues by 9.5% 9.6% and 10.4% for the years ended
December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Year ended December31 2011 includes $8.4 million in stock-based compensation expense compared to $5.3 million and $3.8 million in the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Year ended December 31 2010 includes $1.0 million of costs associated with the preparation and
filing of shelf registration statement and the completion of two secondary equity offerings and $0.7 million in severance costs associated with

management reorganization Year ended December 31 2009 includes the effect of $1.2 million in severance costs associated with the departure of our
former Chief Executive Officer in March 2009

Includes pre-tax impairment charges of $0.1 million $0.2 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31 20112010 and 2009
respectively

Year ended December 31 2011 includes $37.0 million in income tax benefits that was realized as result of tax reporting change implemented in our
U.K operations Year ended December 31 2010 includes $27.2 million in income tax benefits related to the reversal of previously-established
valuation allowances on our domestic deferred tax assets
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Key Operating Metrics

We rely on certain key measures to gauge our operating performance including total transactions total cash withdrawal transactions

ATM operating revenues per ATM per month and ATM operating gross profit margin The following table sets forth information regarding

certain of these key measures for the years indicated gq eefoisitis completed in 2011 for EDC Access to Money and

Mr Cash

ed ates ompany owned 19 18272 190

xi 897 2867 2197

bto al 470 97 99

crag uisberoftrans eting Ms ATM operatio
33 56 32597 32117

United Sta Mar ged se ie 4319 41 2450

ye age numb oft ansictng ATMs Manag ervices 337 24 2450

ob average umbe of tr nsac ng
37 893 838 34 567

ra

78

Ma aged services 26107 17580 11621

Mop aions 00799 253890 241928

Total cash hd walt ctions 318040 2669 1866

ns de es

tofA Mope aingrev nu 902 89 864

Excludes effects of depreciation accretion and amortization expense of $59.3 million $5 1.0 million and $5 1.5 million for the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively The inclusion of this depreciation accretion and amortization expense in Cost of ATM operating

revenues would have increased our Cost of ATM operating revenues per ATM per month and decreased our ATM operating gross profit per ATM

per month by $147 $130 and $134 for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

ATM operating gross profit is measure of profitability that uses only the revenues and expenses that relate tu operating the ATMs in our portfolio

Revenues and expenses relating to managed services and ATM equipment sales and other ATMre1ated services are not included

TIONS
2011 2010 2009

The number of ATMs for the year ended December 31 2011 and 2010 includes 2523 and 2535 ATMs respectively for which we only provided

EFT transaction processing services We provided various other services to the remainder of the ATMs included in this number including

combination of monitoring maintenance cash management customer service and other services depending on the needs of our customers During

the year ended December 2009 we only provided EFT transaction processing services to the ATMs represented in this category
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the following table sets forth information regarding certain of these key measures for the years indicated inclgjggjhggffgctof

4gqpisitio1js completed in 2011 for fDC Access to Money and Mr Cash

Average ninuber of ransaating ATMs
United States Company-owned

United Krngdoin

Mexico

Canada

Subtotal

United States Merchantowngd

Average number of transacting ATMs ATM operations

2011

21125

3255

2897

Q5

27382

9954

37316

2010

18272

2832

2867

23971

8626

32597

2009

18190

2606

2197

22993

9124

321 17

United States Managed services

United Kingdo1n Managed services

Average number of transacting ATMs Managed services

Total
average number of transacting ATMs

3241

_________ 18
_______________

4337 3241

Total transactions in thousands

ATM operations

Managed services

Total transactions

516564

26107

542671

41378Q

17580

431360

380744

11621

392365

Total eath withdrawal trnsactions in thansandss

ATM operations

Managgd Services

Total cash withdrawal transactions

Per ATM per month amounts excludes managed services

Cash withdra4kal transactions

ATM operating revenues

Cost of ATM operating revenues

ATM operating gross prOfit
02

ATM operating gross margin inclusive of depreciation accretion

and amortization

1310

866

444

237

1327

891

23.0%

1249

864

385

20.2%

Excludes effects of depreciation accretion and amortization expense of $59.3 million $51.0 million and $51.5 million for the years ended
December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively The inclusion of this depreciation accretion and amortization expense in Cost of ATM operating
revenues would have increased our Cost of ATM operating revenues per ATM per month and decreased our ATM operating gross profit per ATM
per month by 1132 $130 and $134 for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

ATM operating gross profit is measure ofprofifb0ity that uses only the rcsenues and expenses that relate to operating he ATM in our pufulio
Revenues and expenses relating to managed services and ATM equipment sales and other ATM-related 5cr ices arc not included

4319

41653

2450

2450

35838 34567

318615 253890 241928

17241 13020 9926

335856 266910 251866

712 649 628

42



Revenues

For the Years Ended December 31

Change

2011 2010 2010to2011 2009 ____________
In thousands excluding percentages

4%
ATM rodu sales nd her iue 27 57 178 198.1% 10 10 2%

17/o 78/0

Change

2009 to 2010

Year ended December 31 2011 compared to year ended December 31 2010

ATM operating revenues ATM operating revenues generated during the year ended December 31 2011 increased $74.3 million over the

year ended December 31 2010 Below is detail by segment of changes in the various components of ATM operating revenues

2010 to 2011 Variance

Other

US UK International Total

Increase decrease

In thousands

37 78

nt rchanger ye 14 55 18452 176 31 244

21

Manag vie ares 479 214 6693

80

Total increase decrease in ATM operating revenues 59423 14995 99 74319

United States During the year ended December 31 2011 our United States operations experienced $59.4 million or 14% increase in

ATM operating revenues over 2010 Of this increase $33.4 million was attributable to the contribution of acquired entities since their

respective acquisition dates The remaining $26.0 million increase was due to combination of growth achieved from several revenue

sources including an increase in bank branding and surcharge-free network revenues that resulted from the continued growth of

participating banks and other financial institutions in our bank branding program and Allpoint surcharge-free network an increase in

managed services revenue as result of the expansion of these services in the past year which resulted in the addition of approximately 900

machines operating under managed services arrangements increased surcharge revenue as result of slightly higher average surcharge

rate and higher machine count and increased interchange revenue as result of higher withdrawal transactions slightly offset by

decline in the per withdrawal interchange rate

For additional information on recent trends that have impacted and may continue to impact the revenues generated by our United States

operations see Recent Events Withdrawal Transaction and Revenue Trends United States above

pteindom Our United Kingdom operations experienced $15.0 million or 18% increase in ATM operating revenues during 2011

when compared to 2010 This increase was due primarily to higher interchange revenues as result of 53% increase in the total number of

transactions conducted on our ATMs in that market The increased level of transactions was primarily attributable to three factors 5%

increase in the average number of transacting ATMs which was the result of additional ATM deployments made throughout 2011 at

locations of new and existing customers an 8% increase in the number of cash withdrawal transactions conducted on our free-to-use

ATMs on same-store basis and conversion of many ATMs from surcharging to free-to-use during the past year resulting in higher

percentage of our revenues being from this machine type Conversely we experienced decline in surcharge revenues generated by our

United Kingdom operations as result of same-store transaction declines and the conversion discussed above Excluding the favorable impact

of foreign currency exchange rate movements between the two years the total increase in ATM operating revenues during 2011 would have

been $11.5 million or 14% when compared to 2010

For additional information on recent trends that have impacted and may continue to impact the revenues generated by our United

Kingdom operations see Recent Events Withdrawal Transaction and Revenue Trends United Kingdom above

Other International This segment now includes the results of our newly acquired Canadian subsidiary since the date of its acquisition on

October 28 2011 and this operation contributed $0.4 million for the year ended December 31 2011 Offsetting the increase in ATM

operating revenues from our Canada operations was decrease in ATM operating revenues from our Mexico operations as the decrease in
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interchange revenue was not fully offset by the increase in bank branding and other revenues during 2011 The decrease in interchange

revenue was attributable to the decrease in transaction levels as result of regulatory change by the Central Bank of Mexico which went into

effect in May 2010 and required ATM operators to choose between receiving an interchange fee from the consumers card issuing bank or

surcharge fee from the consumer We elected to receive surcharge-only fees which caused us to effectively no longer receive interchange

fees after May 2010 The increase in bank branding revenues was result of the new bank branding agreement with Banorte that was

executed in the first quarter of 2011 Foreign currency exchange rate movements in Canada and Mexico had an insignificant impact on our

consolidated revenues

For additional information on the new ATM fee rules and recent trends that may impact the revenues generated by our Mexico operations

see Recent Events Recent Events Mexico above

TM product sales and other revenues ATM product sales and other revenues for the year ended December 31 2011 were significantly

higher than those generated during 2010 due principally to increased equipment sales and higher value-added reseller VAR program
sales Under our VAR program we primarily sell ATMs to associate VARs who in turn resell the ATMs to various financial institutions

throughout the United States in territories authorized by the equipment manufacturer Over the past few years financial institutions and other

businesses reduced their ATM purchases in response to the weak economic climate However new regulations under the ADA that will come

into effect in 2012 are driving the replacement of certain noncompliant ATMs and are driving the increase in our VAR sales

Year ended December 31 2010 compared to year ended December 31 2009

TM operating revenues ATM operating revenues generated during the year ended December 31 2010 increased $39.8 million over the

year ended December 31 2009 Below is detail by segment of changes in the various components of ATM operating revenues

2009 to 2010 Variance

US UK Other International Total

Increase decrease

In thousands40
ntcrchange reve 144 12 22 813 936

Managed ice ye 396 96

al ase opelating re enue 22 382 7827 39 762

United States During the year ended December 31 2010 our United States operations experienced $22.6 million increase in ATM
operating revenues over 2009 This increase was primarily due to 20% increase in bank branding and surcharge-free network revenues that

resulted from the continued growth of participating banks and other financial institutions in our bank branding programs and our Allpoint

surcharge-free network Also contributing to the increase in ATM operating revenues were the surcharge rate increases that we implemented

in certain retail partner locations during the latter half of 2009 and the first half of 2010 Although these surcharge rate increases resulted in

an increase in surcharge revenues the rate increases somewhat negatively impacted the level of surcharge transactions conducted on our

machines which in turn contributed to slight decline in the total number of transactions conducted on our domestic devices when compared
to the prior year The decline in total transactions combined with the loss of two significant customers in late 2009 and in the first half of

2010 and the recent reduction in the net interchange fees paid to ATM deployers by certain networks caused our interchange revenues to

decline slightly in the United States Finally managed services revenue increased as result of our expansion of these services which

resulted in the addition of approximately 1200 machines under managed services arrangements during 2010

jgpinOur United Kingdom operations also contributed to the higher ATM operating revenues for the year ended December

31 2010 increasing by $9.4 million or 13% over 2009 This increase was primarily driven by 37% increase in the total number of

transactions conducted on our ATMs in that market The increased level of transactions was primarily attributable to two factors 9%
increase in the average number of transacting ATMs which was the result of additional ATM deployments made throughout 2009 and the

first half of 2010 at locations of new and existing customers and 65% increase in the number of cash withdrawal transactions conducted

on our free-to-use ATMs Conversely we experienced decline in surcharge transactions per pay-to-use ATM which resulted in decline in

the amount of surcharge revenues generated by our United Kingdom operations

Other International The $7.8 million or 44% increase in ATM operating revenues generated by our Mexico operations during the year

ended December 31 2010 was mainly the result of 30% increase in the
average number of transacting ATMs associated with these

operations The new ATMs many of which were installed during the fourth quarter of 2009 and the first quarter of 2010 contributed to an

11% increase in total transactions during 2010 compared to year ago As is further discussed above in Recent Events Recent Events
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Mexico our transaction volumes per unit were significantly impacted by the new regulations in Mexico and while our total revenues grew

over the same period in 2009 our revenues per unit declined Also contributing to the year-over-year increase in ATM operating revenues

was increased revenues per transaction from our ATMs deployed in resort locations during 2010 Finally foreign currency exchange rate

movements between the years favorably impacted the revenues earned by our Mexico business during 2010 contributing approximately 9%

of the total increase

TMproduct sales and other revenues ATM product sales and other revenues for the year ended December 31 2010 were lower than

those generated during 2009 by $1.0 million primarily due to lower equipment sales and lower VAR program sales which was in turn reduced

in response to the economic climate in which the financial institutions were operating then

Cost of Revenues

For the Years Ended Dccc

%Chae 0/

2OlOto 20
thousand excluding percentage

/e

Cost of produ sal and oth

venu 23 768 8902 167.0% 10567 .8%

__________
0/ 6/

ea 20 oy eec er

Cost oJA TM operatinJ reve ues exclusive of depreciation accretion and amortizatioq The cost of ATM operating revenues exclusive

of cci tion acc etion and mortization curred durng hey ar nded December 31 2011 increased $44.9 million from the year ended

Dec mbe 31 010 Below is detail by segment of ch ges in the various components of the cost of ATM operating revenues exclusive

dep eciation ccretion and amortization

2010 to 2011 Variance

Other

US UK International Total

Increase decrease

In thousands

ult ash rental cx ense 20 189 155 2176

St

epai mantena cc 4301 875 5167

ans tion proc ssi 665 1765 209 109

th
expense 35 3749 17 84

United States During the year ended December 31 2011 our United States operations experienced $32 million increase in cost of

ATM operating revenues compared to the same period in 2010 As was the case with the increase in ATM revenues explained above the

acquisitions completed in the second half of 2011 contributed to $24.4 million of the increase The remaining $7.7 million increase was

mostly due to higher total machine count and higher transaction volumes on our domestic devices $2.4 million of the increase included in

Other expenses in the table above was related to payments made to third parties for transactions on their ATMs through our Allpoint network

The higher vault cash rental expense resulted from higher average cash balances outstanding and additional interest rate swap contracts

entered into in January 2011 to further extended the terms of our interest rate hedging program through the end of 2016 These interest rate

swaps serve to fix the interest rate on portion of the monthly vault cash rental fees we pay under our domestic vault cash rental

agreements These interest rate swaps are currently at higher than current market floating interest rates however the fixed rates under these

swap contracts extend through various periods into the future up to 20 16 and serve to reduce our risk exposure
in the event market rates rise

over the next few years The remainder of the costs of ATM operating revenues generally increased as result of higher total machine count

in the United States for which we provide services including managed services The cost increases were partially offset by decrease in
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transaction processing expense due to the conversion of our ATMs located in 7-Eleven locations to our EFT processing platform from third-

party processor during 201 ft

United Kingdom Our United Kingdom operations experienced an overall increase in the cost of ATM operating revenues exclusive of

depreciation accretion and amortization by $12.7 million during 2011 compared to 2010 This overall increase was due primarily to the

15% year-over-year increase in the number of average transacting ATMs associated with these operations increased cash losses due to theft

and an increase in employee-related costs As noted above in our discussion of revenues the majority of our newly-deployed ATMs in the

U.K market are high transacting free-to-use ATMs which frequently carry increased operating costs due to the higher amounts of cash and

more frequent fill rates that are required to keep them operating As result we expected to see an overall increase in several of the cost of

ATM operating revenue expense categories Also contributing to the increased cost of ATM operating revenues was an increase in

employee-related costs for the additional personnel to operate second cash depot for Green Team our United Kingdom operations armored

courier operation which is included in Other expenses above The foreign currency exchange rate movements between periods also

significantly contributed to the overall increase in cost of ATM operating revenues which contributed $2.7 million of the increase

Other international As noted above in our discussion of revenues this segment now includes the effect of our Canadian subsidiary which

increased the cost of ATM operating revenues exclusive of depreciation accretion and amortization by $0.3 million for the year ended

December 31 2011 which was offset by decrease of $0.3 million from our Mexico operations The decrease in Mexico was primarily due

to 25% decrease in the number of surcharge transactions conducted on our ATMs in that market which was mainly attributable to the

change in regulations and effectively lowered our merchant commission expenses compared to the prior year The impact of exchange rate

movements had an insignificant impact on our consolidated costs of revenues

Cost of Tiviproduct sales and other revenue Relatively consistent with the 198.1% increase in ATM product sales and other revenues

discussed above the cost of ATM product sales and other revenues increased by 167.0% during 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to the

increased equipment and VAR program sales during the period to comply with the new ADA rules

Year ended December 31 2010 compared to year ended December 31 2009

Cost ofA TM operating revenues exclusive of depreciation accretion and amortization The cost of ATM operating revenues exclusive

of depreciation accretion and amortization incurred during the year ended December 31 2010 increased $17.6 million from the year ended

December 31 2009 Below is the detail by segment of changes in the various components of the cost of ATM operating revenues exclusive

of depreciation accretion and amortization

2009 to 2010 Variance

US UK Other International Total

Increase decrease

In thousands

//
$/

Vault sh ental xpen 2225 1843 624 4692

epai mainte 332 356 457 2433

H/

ransactio proce sng 2624 944 19 489
i/ /7

0th enses 418 1841 434 693

r1i/

United States During the year ended December 31 2010 the cost of ATM operating revenues exclusive of depreciation accretion and

amortization incurred by our United States operations increased $0.2 million from the costs incurred during 2009 Although the total cost of

ATM revenues did not increase significantly the variance in the individual components of the total increased or decreased significantly

depending on the nature of the expense Merchant commissions increased by approximately 3% which is consistent with the 3% increase in

domestic surcharge transaction revenues during 2010 as our domestic merchant commissions are primarily calculated based on the surcharge

revenues generated by the devices We also incurred higher vault cash rental expense which resulted from certain domestic vault cash rental

agreements being renewed at slightly less favorable terms during the year and additional interest rate swap contracts entered into during the

latter half of 2009 and the first half of2OlO

The majority of the increased expenses were offset by declines in other cost of cash repairs and maintenance and transaction processing

Other cost of cash decreased due to decline in armored courier expense resulting from more favorable pricing terms in place with our

armored service providers and fewer cash fills during the year as result of our efforts to aggressively manage our costs Similarly our
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primary domestic maintenance service agreements were renewed on more favorable terms in 2009 however the benefits from the improved

pricing terms were somewhat offset by additional costs incurred to load certain software upgrades on number of our ATMs during the year

Additionally our transaction processing costs decreased due to the conversion of our ATMs located in 7-Eleven locations over to our EFT

processing platform from third-party processor

jpçingprn Our United Kingdom operations experienced an overall increase in the cost of ATM operating revenues exclusive of

depreciation accretion and amortization of $11.0 million This overall increase was due primarily to the 9% year-over-year increase in the

number of average transacting ATMs associated with these operations As noted above in our discussion of revenues the majority of our

newly-deployed ATMs in the U.K market are high transacting free-to-use ATMs which frequently carry increased operating costs due to

the higher amounts of cash and more frequent fill rates that are required to keep them operating As result we expected to see an overall

increase in several of the cost of ATM operating revenue expense categories The 37% increase in total transactions during 2010 also

contributed to the increase in merchant commissions during the period Finally contributing to the increased cost of ATM operating

revenues was an increase in vault cash rental expense and other costs of cash which increased 41% on combined basis during the period

as result of certain interest rate swap transactions that we entered into during the latter half of 2009 and became effective in January 2010

and higher vault cash rental costs which occurred as result of slightly higher renegotiated pricing terms with our vault cash provider and

as result of higher cash management fees paid to our vault cash provider in that market As is the case with our domestic interest rate

swaps the interest rate swaps serve to fix the interest rate on portion of the monthly vault cash rental fees we pay under our vault cash rental

agreement in the United Kingdom While the fixed rates are higher than current market floating interest rates they serve to reduce our risk

exposure in the event market rates rise over the next few years

Other International Also contributing to the consolidated increase in the cost of ATM operating revenues exclusive of depreciation

accretion and amortization during 2010 compared to 2009 were the costs incurred by our Mexico operations The higher costs in Mexico

were primarily attributable to the 30% increase in the average number of transacting ATMs and the 11% increase in the total number of

transactions conducted on these machines during 2010 when compared to 2009 However we also saw disproportionate increase in

armored courier expense which is included in the other costs of cash line item above as result of incremental distance-based charges to

service our additional ATMs in that market and higher costs associated with servicing our dollar dispensing ATMs in that market

During the fourth quarter of 2010 we worked with our armored courier vendors in Mexico to maximize the efficiency of their service routes

and minimize these distance-based charges prospectively

Cost ofATM product sales and other revenue Relatively consistent with the 102% decrease in ATM product sales and other revenues

discussed above the cost of ATM product sales and other revenues decreased 15.8% during 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to lower

equipment and VAR program sales during the period

Gross Profit Margin

For the Years Ended December 31

2010 200920

xclusiv. deprecia ion acer tion and amo tizatio .6% 32.8% 30.9%

$4

ATM product sales and other revenue gross profit marpin
3.1% 3.0% 3.4%

elusive of depr ciation ccre ion and ti ation 32.7% 32.3% 30.2%

ATM operating gross profit margin For the year ended December 31 2011 our ATM operating gross profit margin exclusive of

depreciation accretion and amortization increased by 0.8 percentage points when compared to 2010 Additionally our ATM operating

gross profit margin inclusive of depreciation accretion and amortization increased by 0.7 percentage points when compared to 2010 These

increases were due to higher margins earned in our United States operating segment during 2011 The margin improvements in the United

States were primarily attributable to the year-over-year increase in revenues from our surcharge-free offerings bank branding and our new

managed services offerings Offsetting this margin increase from our United States operating segment were decreases in the gross profit

margins generated by our United Kingdom and Mexico operating segments

In the United Kingdom the gross margin decrease was primarily the result of decrease in the withdrawal interchange rate in 2011 and

the increase in cash withdrawal transactions conducted on our free-to-use ATMs which have lower margin but generates higher volume

and the reduction in the interchange rate as set by LINK for 2011 In Mexico gross profit margin for 2011 continued to be negatively

impacted by the change in ATM fee rules adopted by the Central Bank of Mexico which went into effect in May 2010 See Recent Events

Recent Events Mexico above
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We expect that our gross margin in the near term will be relatively consistent with our 2011 results as our 2011 acquisitions carried lower

margins than that of our overall business Additionally interchange rate declines in the United States will tend to negatively impact margins

in 2012 This margin pressure associated with the 2011 acquisitions and the interchange rate declines will largely offset margin increases we

would otherwise expect to gain through organic revenue growth

TM product sales and other revenues gross profit margin ATM product sales and other revenues gross profit margin during 2011

increased by 10.1 percentage points compared to 2010 due to higher sales volumes and the corresponding margins achieved on VAR sales

This is contrary to what we experienced in 2009 when we had lower margins but higher volume of ATM product sales that resulted from

lowered sales prices in light of the reduced market demand for ATM product sales which started to improve during 2010

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change

2011 2010 2010 to 2011 2009 2009 to 2010

_J_.-.L .-1....-

rjju eurpei

Stock-based com sa ion ease 421 284 9.4% 3822 38 3%

0%
Total selli ge eral and administ tiv

xpense 60 29 44581 35.3% 41 527 7.4%

Percentage of eve cs

Sto k-based sation expen 3% .0% 0.8%

0/

otal lling general and adminstrative

xp 9.7% 8.4% 8.4%

Selling general and admindtrative expenses SGA expenses excluding stock-based compensation For the year coded December 31
2011 SG cxpenses di stock-based compensation increased $7.9 million compared to 2010 This increase was due to higher

employ lat costs compared to the same periods last year due to increased headcount including employees added from the acquisitions

dur th econd half of 2011 increased incentive-based compensation higher professional costs higher legal expense related to

going litgation and other matters and costs related to the expansion of our corporate marketing flinction

or he year ended December 31 2010 SGA expenses excluding stock-based compensation increased $1.6 million compared to 2009

inc ease was primarily attributable to approximately $1.0 million of costs incurred related to the preparation and filing of shelf

egi tratio statement during the first quarter of 2010 and the completion of two secondary equity offerings during the first and third quarters

20 as well as overall higher employee-related costs compared to the same periods last year due to increased headcount and increased

com ensation costs These increases were offset by decrease in severance costs recognized during the
year as we recognized $0.7 million

in 2010 assocated with our recent management reorganization whereas we recognized $1 .2 million in 2009 associated with the departure of

orm hief ecutive Officer in March 2009

Stock-ba ed compen ation The increases in stock-based compensation during the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 were due to

thc issuance of additional hares of restricted stock and stock options during the periods Particularly in early 2011 we issued awards under

ou 2011 Term Incentive Plan the 2011 LTIP which initially vest based on performance-based requirements followed by continued

vice based vesting requirements Although these awards were not considered to be earned and outstanding during 2011 although included

in the calcula on of iluted earnings per share we recognized compensation expense based on the ultimate awards we expected to issue in

2012 as result of the Companys performance For additional details on these equity awards see Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data Note Stock-Based Compensation In 2012 we expect that our stock-based compensation costs will further increase

due to additional quity grants that were made throughout 2011 and additional equity grants that are planned for 2012

Acquisition related expenses We incurred an additional $4.7 million of costs in 2011 associated with the acquisition of four entities

EDC oc to ch Cash and Access to Money which were expensed as incurred as required by the current accounting standards

hes costs inclu of ssio al fe uch as legal and accounting fees incurred to execute the acquisitions severance payments made to

employees of acquired isinesse nd other non-recurring costs associated with the execution and integration of the acquisitions
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Depreciation and Accretion Expense

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change

2011 2010 2010to2011 2009 2009to2010

In thousands excluding percentages

Accr tion ens 46 98 13.5% 017 28.8%

9/

reeiati pen
3% 6%

9/ 0%
otal depreciatioi acele ion 7.7% 8.0% 8.0%

For the year ended December 31 2011 depreciation expense increased 13.9% when compared to 2010 This increase was primarily the

result of the deployment of additional Company-owned ATMs throughout 2011 as well as the acquisition of assets completed during the

year Accretion expense
decreased slightly compared to 2010 due primarily to change in estimate during 2011 When we install our ATMs

we estimate the fair value of future retirement obligations associated with those ATMs including the anticipated costs to deinstall and in

some eases refurbish certain merchant locations Accretion expense represents the increase of this liability from the original discounted net

present value to the amount we ultimately expect to incur

For the year ended December31 2010 both depreciation expense and accretion expense increased when compared to 2009 These

increases were primarily the result of the deployment of additional Company-owned ATMs in the fourth quarter of 2009 and throughout

2010 Also contributing to the increase in accretion expense was our change in the estimated useful life of our asset retirement obligation

assets As we decreased the number of years over which our asset retirement obligation assets are being depreciated we also made

corresponding decrease to the number of years over which the related liabilities are being accreted which resulted in increased accretion in

2010 and 2011 compared to 2009

Amortization Expense

eYe

/o %Cha
Oo 2009to

In thousands excluding percentages

9/ 8%

9/ 9/0

Amo ization expen primaril comp is of th amo ti ation of intangible asset elated to chant ont ac latio ships

associat with our ac uisi ions he incr se in ortiza io during 2011 as compared to 2010 was due to he addition of 52 llion in

intangible assets from th four acquisitions ompleted dun the cond half of 201 Amo ization pense dec ased during 2010

compared to 2009 as certain domestic contract intangibl assets om evo qui tions weie fully amo ti ed during 2009 and 2010

Amortization
expense during the year ended Decembe 31 2009 included $1.2 rn llion impairment charge recorded by our U.S reporting

segment related to the unamortized intangible asset associated with one of our rchai contracts The impairment resulted from the higher-

than-anticipated attrition of sites in this portfolio stemming from the merchant de sion to divest of the majority of its domestic retail

locations Although this merchant announced its divestiture program in 2007 was ot until the fourth quarter of 2009 that the full impact of

the sales and attrition was evident As result of the anticipated reduction in fu cash flows from the portfolio we concluded in the fourth

quarter of 2009 that an impairment of the related contract intangible ass was warrant It should be noted however that we received one

time payment from this merchant in May 2009 totaling $0.8 million relating to termination fees as result of certain divestitures made by the

merchant in prior periods At the time we concluded that the futu cash flows the remaining portfolio of ATMs would be sufficient to

recover the carrying value of the related tangible and intangible asse Accordingly his morn was recorded as other income in the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations As such he net ount imp cting on consolidated results in 2009 totaled $0.4

million
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Loss on Disposal ofAssets

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change

2011 2010 2010to2011 2009 2009to2010

In thousands excluding percentages

During 2011 and 2010 we recognized significantly lower losses on disposal of assets than the comparable prior years as result of

decrease in the number of assets that we removed during 2011 compared to the past few years

Interest Expense net

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change

2011 2010 2010 to 2011 2009 2009 to 2010

In thousands excluding percentages

Amortization of defe ed financing costs and

bond discounts 993 029 51.l% 395 15.3%

Interest expense net Interest expense net decreased during the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 compared to the prior years

due to the reduction in the average balances outstanding and the interest rate on our senior subordinated notes as result of series of

transactions completed in the third quarter of 2010 Our total debt outstanding was also significantly lower for the first half of 2011 compared

to the first half of the prior year however in July 2011 we borrowed $145.0 million under our revolving credit facility to fund the EDC

acquisition and made subsequent additional borrowings to fund other acquisitions completed during the second half of 2011 which resulted

in year-over-year increase in debt outstanding over the last five months of 2011 For additional details see Item Financial Statements and

Supplementaiy Data Note 10 Long-Term Debt

Amortization of deferred financing costs and bond discounts The decrease in the amortization of deferred financing costs and bond

discounts during 2011 was due to decrease in the deferred financing cost balance after the write-off of these costs related to the previously

outstanding senior subordinated notes and our previous $175.0 million revolving credit facility as described below in Write-offof Deferred

Financing Costs and Bond Discounts and Redemption Costs for Early Extinguishment of Debt However related to these refinancing

activities we capitalized approximately $1.7 million of costs incurred in conjunction with entering into our new revolving credit facility and

approximately $3.7 million of costs incurred in conjunction with the issuance of the $200.0 million 8.25% senior subordinated notes due

2018 2018 Notes which are being amortized over the underlying term of the agreement Additionally because the 2018 Notes were

issued at par we no longer have amortization expense related to bond discounts Finally in connection with credit facility modification

during the third quarter of 2011 an additional $0.7 million was deferred which is being amortized through the new facility termination date of

July 2016

Writeoff of Deferred Financing Costs and Bond Discounts and Redemption Costs for Early Extinguishment of Debt

As noted above in Interest expense net during the year ended December 31 2010 we redeemed all $300.0 million of our previously

outstanding 9.25% senior subordinated notes due 2013 In connection with the redemption of the notes we recorded $6.9 million of pre-tax

non-cash charges to write off the remaining unamortized original issuance discounts and deferred financing costs associated with the notes

and $7.2 million of pre-tax charges associated with the payments of call premiums Additionally during 2010 we recorded $0.4 million

pre-tax non-cash charge to write off portion of the remaining unamortized deferred financing costs related to our previous $175.0 million

revolving credit facility For additional information on our redemption of these notes and refinancing of our revolving credit facility see Item

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Note 10 Long-Term Debt
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Income Tax Benefit Expense

For the Years Ended December 31

Change

2010 2010to2011 2009

In thousands excluding percentages

iiii4
We recognized net income tax benefits during the year ended December 31 2011 due to our tax reporting change with respect to our

United Kingdom operations in the third quarter of 2011 As result we recorded $37.0 million net benefit during the third quarter of 2011

During the third quarter of 2010 we released all of our domestic deferred tax asset valuation allowances based on the determination that it

was more likely than not that we would be able to realize the benefits associated with our net deferred tax asset positions in the future As

result we now record federal and state income tax expense based on earnings in our United States segment We will continue to maintain

valuation allowances for our local net deferred tax asset positions in the United Kingdom and Mexico as we currently believe that it is more

likely than not that these benefits will not be realized We had approximately $53.6 million of United States federal net operating loss

carryforwards for federal income tax purposes as of December 31 2011 which includes $14.9 million from acquired entities

For further information see Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Note 18 Income Taxes

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Included below are certain non-GAAP financial measures that we use to evaluate the performance of our business We believe that the

presentation of these measuies and the identification of unusual or certain non recurring adjustments and non cash items enhance an

investor understanding of the underlying trends in our business and provide for better comparability between periods in different years

EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA Adjusted Net Income and Free Cash Flow are non-GAAP financial measures provided as complement to

results prepared in accordance with U.S GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures reported by other companies

Adjusted EBITDA excludes depreciation accretion and amortization expense as these amounts can vary substantially from company to

company within our industry depending upon accounting methods and book values of assets capital structures and the method by which the

assets were acquired EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA also do not reflect acquisition-related costs and our obligations for the payment of

income taxes interest expense or other obligations such as capital expenditures Free Cash Flow is defined as cash provided by operating

activities less payments for capital expenditures including those financed through direct debt but excluding acquisitions The measure of Free

Cash Flow does not take into consideration certain other non discretionary cash requirements such as for example mandatory pnncipal

payments on portions of our long-term debt The non-GAAP financial measures presented herein should not be considered in isolation or as

substitute for operating income net income cash flows from operating investing or financing activities or other income or cash flow

statement data prepared in accordance with U.S GAAP

reconciliation of EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income to Net Income Attributable to Controlling Interests their most

comparable U.S GAAP financial measure and reconciliation of Free Cash Flow to cash provided by operating activities the most

comparable U.S GAAP financial measure are presented as follows

2011

Change

2009 to 2010
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Reconciliation of Net Income Attributable to Controlling Interests to EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income

For the Years Ended December 31

1fr4 imeattr1l1utahI to co11fro11ig inteestg

Adjustments

It4eest pfle flt

Amortization of deferred financing costs and bond discounts

Wtite-of of etofetred frtarioiug costa artd bond 4isotmt

Redemption costs for
earl extinguishment of debt

ktd6kio tag oott0xponso

Depreciation and accretion
expense

Am4rtiagtion openao

EBITDA

Add back

2011 2010 2009

In thousands except share and per share amounts

20116

993

13176
47962

17914

144042

981

849
1897

9283

4747

156307

19771

90071

3L25

58546

139137
422Q1491

42886780

405$ 5217

L02

100

424794
41059381

6016

982
1281
4617

154

110373

298 11

38539

42023

14708$l5
070

060

39244057

39896366

Amounts exclude unrealized gains losses related to derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Noncontrolling interests adjustment made such that Adjusted EBITDA includes only our 51% ownership interest in the Adjusted EBITDA of our

Mexico subsidiary

Amounts exclude 49% of the expenses incurred by our Mexico subsidiary as such amounts are allocable to the noncontrolling interest shareholders

Acquisition-related costs include costs incurred for professional and legal fees and certain transition and integration-related costs related to the

acquisition of EDC LocatorSearch Access to Money and Mr Cash

35% represents our estimated long-term cross-jurisdictional effective tax rate
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Calculation of Free Cash Flow

For the Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

In thousands

Cash progidd ig GpetatiAg ntiites 74874

Payments for capital expenditures

Cst wed nveatiug nqt$vEes tcEsding oeqwsition SO852 26fi3

Capital expenditures
financed by direct debt 22

Toa1 payweiw frtt crdta eypenditurea 886
Free cash flow 46439 53974 46344

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

As of December 31 2011 we had approximately $5.6 million in cash and cash equivalents on hand and approximately $370.9 million in

outstanding long-tenri debt obligations

We have historically funded our operations primarily through cash flows from operations borrowings under our revolving credit facilities

and the issuance of debt and equity securities Furthermore we have historically used cash to invest in additional ATMs either through the

acquisition of ATM networks or through organically-generated growth We have also used cash to fund increases in working capital and to

pay
interest and principal amounts outstanding under our borrowings Because we collect sizable portion of our cash from sales on daily

basis but generally pay our vendors on 30-day terms and are not required to pay certain of our merchants until 20 days after the end of each

calendar month we are able to utilize the excess available cash flow to reduce borrowings made under our revolving credit facility and to

fund our ongoing capital expenditure program Accordingly we will typically reflect working capital deficit position and carry small cash

balance on our books

We believe that our cash on hand and our current bank credit facilities will be sufficient to meet our working capital requirements and

contractual commitments for the next 12 months We expect to fund our working capital needs from revenues generated from our operations

and borrowings under our revolving credit facility to the extent needed As we expect to continue to generate positive free cash flows in 2012

and beyond we expect to continue repaying the amounts outstanding under our revolving credit facility while enabling us to fund our future

cash needs through operations rather than financing activities See additional discussion under Financing Facilities below

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $113.3 million $105.2 million and $74.9 million for the years ended December31 2011

2010 and 2009 respectively The primary reason for the increase in 2011 and 2010 when compared to the previous years was the generation

of substantially higher operating profits as result of improved operating margins Key drivers of the margin expansion included the increase

in revenues as discussed in Results of Operations Revenues above and our ability to leverage our partially fixed-cost infrastructure to

generate strong margins from those higher revenues The increase in cash flows from operations was partially offset by net increase in

working capital during 2011 driven by an increase in long-term receivable related to insurance proceeds For further information see Item

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Note Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $234.5 million $50.7 million and $26.0 million for the years ended December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 respectively The increase from 2010 to 2011 was primarily the result of $167.6 million paid for the four acquisitions during

2011 The increase from 2009 to 2010 was result of the higher capital expenditures incurred during 2010 as result of our decision to

increase our capital spending budget in 2010 relative to 2009 for machine count growth in all of our segments equipment upgrades in the

United States and the launch of our second cash depot for our armored courier operation in the United Kingdom Finally during 2010 and

2009 we received the benefit of the disbursement of approximately $0.5 million and $2.5 million respectively of funds under financing

facilities entered into by our majority-owned Mexican subsidiary Cardtronics Mexico for the purchase of ATMs These transactions were

considered as non-cash activities to us since they were not remitted by Cardtronics Mexico but rather remitted by the finance company on

our behalf directly to our vendors

Total capital expenditures including exclusive license payments and site acquisition costs but excluding acquisitions were $66.9 million

$50.7 million and $26.0 million for the years ended December 31 20112010 and 2009 respectively
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Ant icipated Future Capita/Expenditures We currently anticipate that the majority of our capital expenditures for the foreseeable future

will be driven by organic growth projects including the purchasing of ATMs for existing as well as new ATM management agreements We
expect that our capital expenditures for 2012 will total approximately $70.0 million the majority of which will be utilized to purchase
additional devices for our Company-owned accounts and enhance our existing devices with additional functionalities We expect such

expenditures to be funded with cash generated from our operations In addition we will continue to evaluate selected acquisition

opportunities that complement our existing ATM network some of which could be material We believe that significant expansion

opportunities continue to exist in all of our current markets as well as in other international markets and we will continue to pursue those

opportunities as they arise Such acquisition opportunities either individually or in the aggregate could be material

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by used in financing activities was $123.5 million $62.2 million and $42.2 million for the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively In 2011 we borrowed $167.6 million under our amended revolving credit facility to pay
for the EDC acquisition and our other 2011 acquisitions The borrowings to finance the 2011 acquisitions were partially offset by repayments
on our outstanding long-term debt during the period attributable to operating cash flows in excess of our capital expenditures and by the

receipt of approximately $11.4 million from the proceeds from exercises of stock options during the year In 2010 we used our excess cash

from operations after capital expenditures along with incremental borrowings under our revolving credit facility to fund the reduction of our

senior subordinated notes outstanding in 2010 During 2009 we generated sufficient cash flows after capital expenditures that allowed us to

repay all previously outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facility

Financing Facilities

As of December 31 2011 we had approximately $370.9 million in outstanding long-term debt which was comprised of $200.0 million

of senior subordinated notes $166.0 million in borrowings under our revolving credit facility and $4.9 million in notes payable

outstanding under equipment financing lines of Cardtronics Mexico

Revolving Credit Facility As of December 31 2011 we had $250.0 million revolving credit facility that was led by syndicate of banks

including JPMorgan Chase N.A and Bank of America N.A This facility which was entered into on July 15 2010 and amended on July 25
2011 provides us with $250.0 million in available borrowings and letters of credit subject to the covenants contained within the facility and

has expiration date of July 2016 The facility contains the ability to further increase the borrowing capacity to $325.0 million subject to the

availability of additional bank commitments by existing or new syndicate participants and other conditions

Borrowings under our revolving credit facility bear interest at variable rate based upon our total leverage ratio and the London
Interbanic Offered Rate LIBOR or Alternative Base Rate as defined in the agreement at our option Additionally we are required to pay

commitment fee on the unused portion of the revolving credit facility Substantially all of our assets including the stock of our wholly-
owned domestic subsidiaries and 66% of the stock of our foreign subsidiaries are pledged to secure borrowings made under the revolving
credit facility Furthermore each of our domestic subsidiaries has guaranteed our obligations under such facility There are currently no
restrictions on the ability of our wholly-owned subsidiaries to declare and pay dividends directly to us The primary restrictive covenants

within the facility include limitations on the amount of senior debt and total debt that we can have outstanding at any given point in time

and the maintenance of set ratio of earnings to fixed charges as computed quarterly on trailing 12-month basis Additionally we are

limited on the amount of restricted payments including dividends which we can make pursuant to the terms of the facility Under the

amended credit agreement these limitations are generally governed by senior leverage ratio test and fixed charge ratio covenant For

additional information on our new facility including descriptions of the intra-period variations in our borrowings see Item Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data Note 10 Long-Term Debt

As of December 31 2011 the weighted average interest rate on our outstanding revolving credit facility borrowings was approximately
2.7% Additionally as of December 31 2011 we were in compliance with all the covenants contained within the facility and would continue

to be in compliance even in the event of substantially higher borrowings or substantially lower earnings As of December 31 2011 we had

$82.0 million in available borrowing capacity under the $250.0 million revolving credit facility

Senior Subordinated 2018 Notes In August 2010 we issued $200.0 million in 2018 Notes The 2018 Notes are subordinate to borrowings
made under the revolving credit facility and carry an 8.25% coupon Interest is paid semi-annually in arrears on March 1st and September
1st of each year The 2018 Notes which are guaranteed by our domestic subsidiaries contain no maintenance covenants and only limited

incurrence covenants under which we have considerable flexibility Pursuant to the terms of the indenture we are limited on the amount of

restricted payments including dividends that we can make These limitations are generally governed by fixed charge ratio incurrence test

and an overall restricted payments basket

As of December 31 2011 we were in compliance with all applicable covenants required under the Notes
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Other Borrowing Facilities

Bank Machine overdraft Jdcility In addition to Cardtronics Inc.s $250.0 million revolving credit facility Bank Machine has

1.0 million overdraft facility This facility which bears interest at 1.0% over the Bank of Englands base rate 0.5% as of December

31 2011 and is secured by letter of credit posted under our revolving credit facility is utilized for general purposes for our United

Kingdom operations As of December 31 2011 there was approximately 136000 $0.2 million U.S outstanding under this

overdraft facility which had been utilized to help fund certain working capital commitments Amounts outstanding under the

overdraft facility are reflected in accounts payable in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as any borrowings are automatically repaid

once cash deposits are made to the underlying bank accounts The letter of credit we have posted that is associated with this overdraft

facility reduces the available borrowing capacity under our corporate revolving credit facility

Cardtronics Mexico equpmentJmnancing agreements Between 2007 and 2010 Cardtronics Mexico entered into nine separate five-

year equipment financing agreements with single lender These agreements which are denominated in pesos and bear interest at an

average fixed rate of 10.27% were utilized for the purchase of ATMs to support our Mexico operations As of December 31 2011

approximately $68.8 million pesos $4.9 million U.S were outstanding under the agreements with any future borrowings to be

individually negotiated between the lender and Cardtronics Mexico Pursuant to the terms of the loan agreements we have issued

guarantees for 510% of the obligations under this agreement consistent with its ownership percentage in Cardtronics Mexico As of

December 31 2011 the total amount of the guarantees was $35.1 million pesos $2.5 millionU.S.

Effects of Inflation

Our monetaly assets consisting primarily of cash and receivables are not significantly affected by inflation Our non-monetary assets

consisting primarily of tangible and intangible assets are not affected by inflation We believe that replacement costs of equipment furniture

and leasehold improvements will not materially affect our operations However the rate of inflation affects our expenses
such as those for

employee compensation and telecommunications which may not be readily recoverable in the price of services offered by us

Contractual Obligations

The following table reflects our significant contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31 2011

Payments Due by Period

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total

In thousands

rind al 2344 1363 205 37 166000 200000 370949

i4ty f3 Ut

erating leases 2975 2667 2435 321 1754 032 17184

Other 10255 1380 426 426 12487

Represents the $200.0 million face value of our senior subordinated notes $166.0 million outstanding under our revolving credit facility and

$4.9 million outstanding under our Mexico equipment financing facilities

Represents the estimated interest payments associated with our long-term debt outstanding as of December 2011 assuming cunent interest rates

and consistent amount of debt outstanding over the periods presented in the table above

Represents commitment to purchase $6.8 million of ATM equipment for the United States from one of our primary ATM suppliers in 2012 $1.9

million of ATMs and armored courier vans for the United Kingdom in 2012 and $3 million of minimum service requirement for Lertain processing

fees over the next year and half to four years

Critical Accountsng Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements included in this 2011 Form 10 have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States GAAP which require that management make numerous estimates and assumptions Actual

results could differ from those estimates and assumptions thus impacting our reported results of operations and financial position The

critical accounting policies and estimates described in this section are those that are most important to the depiction of our financial condition

55



and results of operations and the application of which requires managements most subjective judgments in making estimates about the effect

of matters that are inherently uncertain We describe our significant accounting policies more fully in Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary Data Note Basis of Presentation and Summary of Signfi cant Accounting Policies

Goodwill and Intangible Assets We have accounted for our acquisitions of the 7-Eleven Financial Services Business ETRADE Access
Banjc Machine ATM National LLC EDC LocatorSearch Mr Cash and Access to Money as business combinations Additionally due to

our purchase of majority 51.0% interest in CCS Mexico i.e Cardtronics Mexico we have accounted for this acquisition as business

combination as well Accordingly the amounts paid for such acquisitions have been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed

based on their respective fair values as of each acquisition date Intangible assets that met the criteria established by U.S GAAP for

recognition apart from goodwill included the acquired ATM operating agreements and related customer relationships branding agreements

acquired in the 7-Eleven and EDC acquisitions the Bank Machine and Allpoint via the ATM National Inc acquisition trade names and the

non-compete agreements entered into in connection with the CCS Mexico EDC LocatorSearch and Mr Cash acquisitions

The excess of the cost of the above acquisitions over the net of the amounts assigned to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and

liabilities assumed is reflected as goodwill in our consolidated financial statements As of December 31 2011 our goodwill balance totaled

$271.6 million $104.1 million of which related to our acquisition of EDC $84.5 million of which related to our acquisition of ETRADE
Access $62.2 million of which related to our acquisition of the 7-Eleven Financial Services Business and $13.4 millionof which related to

our acquisition of Bank Machine The remaining balance was comprised of goodwill related to our other acquisitions Other intangible assets

net totaled $111.6 million as of December 31 2011 and included the intangible assets described above as well as deferred financing costs

exclusive license agreements and upfront merchant site acquisition costs

Goodwill and other intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives are not amortized but instead tested at least annually for impairment
and intangible assets that have finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives We follow the specific guidance provided in

U.S GAAP for testing goodwill and other non-amortized intangible assets for impairment The guidance requires management to make

certain estimates and assumptions in order to allocate goodwill to reporting units and to determine the fair value of reporting units net

assets and liabilities including among other things an assessment of market condition projected cash flows interest rates and growth rates

which could significantly impact the reported value of goodwill and other intangible assets Furthermore this requirement exposes us to the

possibility that changes in market conditions could result in potentially significant impairment charges in the future We have determined the

reporting units based on whether the components within our geographical segments were managed separately from the rest of the segment

and if discrete financials were available for that component For the year ended December 31 2011 we performed our annual goodwill

impairment test for five separate reporting units the Companys domestic reporting segment excluding Alipoint the acquired Bank

Machine operations the acquired CCS Mexico subsequently renamed to Cardtronics Mexico operations the acquired ATM National

operations Allpoint and the acquired Canadian operations Mr Cash subsequently renamed to Cardtronics Canada

We evaluate the recoverability of our goodwill and non-amortized intangible assets by estimating the future discounted cash flows of the

reporting units to which the goodwill and non-amortized intangible assets relate We use discount rates corresponding to our cost of capital

risk-adjusted as appropriate to determine the discounted cash flows and consider current and anticipated business trends prospects and

other market and economic conditions when performing our evaluations These evaluations are performed on an annual basis at minimum
or more frequently based on the occurrence of events that might indicate potential impairment Examples of events that might indicate

impairment include but are not limited to the loss of significant contract material change in the terms or conditions of significant

contract or significant decreases in revenues associated with contract or business

Valuation of Long-lived Assets We place significant value on the installed ATMs that we own and manage in merchant locations and the

related acquired merchant contracts/relationships Long-lived assets such as property and equipment and purchased contract intangibles

subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable We test our acquired merchant contract/relationship intangible assets for impairment

quarterly along with the related ATMs on an individual contract/relationship basis for our significant acquired contracts/relationships and

on pooled or portfolio basis by acquisition for all other acquired contracts/relationships

In determining whether particular merchant contract/relationship is significant enough to warrant separate identifiable intangible asset
we analyze number of relevant factors including estimates of the historical cash flows generated by such contract/relationship prior to

its acquisition estimates regarding our ability to increase the contract/relationships cash flows subsequent to the acquisition through
combination of lower operating costs the deployment of additional ATMs and the generation of incremental revenues from increased

surcharges and/or new bank branding arrangements and estimates regarding our ability to renew such contract/relationship beyond its

originally scheduled termination date An individual contract/relationship and the related ATMs could be impaired if the

contract/relationship is terminated sooner than originally anticipated or if there is decline in the number of transactions related to such

contract/relationship without corresponding increase in the amount of revenue collected per transaction portfolio of purchased contract

intangibles including the related ATMs could be impaired if the contract attrition rate is materially more than the rate used to estimate the

portfolios initial value or if there is decline in the number of transactions associated with such portfolio without corresponding increase
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in the revenue collected per
transaction Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that merchant contract/relationship

intangible asset may be impaired we evaluate the recoverability of the intangible asset and the related ATMs by measuring the related

carrying amounts against the estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated with the related contract or portfolio of contracts Should

the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less than the carrying values of the tangible and intangible assets being evaluated an

impairment loss would be recognized The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying values of the ATMs and

intangible assets exceeded the calculated fair value During the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 we recorded approximately

$0.1 million $0.2 million and $1.2 million respectively in additional amortization expense
related to the impairments of certain previously-

acquired merchant contract/relationship intangible assets associated with our U.S reporting segment

Income Taxes Income tax provisions are based on taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred taxes on temporary

differences between the amount of taxable income and income before taxes and between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their

reported amounts in our financial statements We include deferred tax assets and liabilities in our financial statements at currently enacted

income tax rates As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted we adjust our deferred tax assets and liabilities through income tax provisions

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred

tax assets will not be realized The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable income during

the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible We consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities projected

future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment In the event we do not believe we will be able to utilize the

related tax benefits associated with deferred tax assets we record valuation allowances to reserve for the assets We released the valuation

allowance of approximately $27.2 million associated with our domestic deferred tax assets during the year ended December 31 2010 We

believe that it is more likely than not that we will be able to realize the benefits associated with our net deferred tax asset positions in the

United States and did not record valuation allowance in 2011 During the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 we released

approximately $43000 and $0.2 million respectively in valuation allowances associated with our Mexico operations based on our

determination that it was more likely than not that we will be able to realize the benefits associated with our net deferred tax asset positions in

the future In the United Kingdom we established an additional $1.4 million and $4.0 million in valuation allowances for the years ended

December 31 201 land 2010 respectively to reserve for various deferred tax assets associated with that operation Finally in Canada we

established approximately $136000 in valuation allowance for the year ended December 31 2011 to reserve for the deferred tax assets

associated with that operation

Asset Retirement Obligations We estimate the fair value of future retirement obligations associated with our ATMs including costs

associated with deinstalling the ATMs and in some cases refurbishing the related merchant locations Such estimates are based on number

of assumptions including the types of ATMs that are installed the relative mix where those ATMs are installed i.e whether such

ATMs are located in single-merchant locations or in locations associated with large geographically-dispersed retail chains and whether

we will ultimately be required to refurbish the merchant store locations upon the removal of the related ATMs Additionally we are required

to make estimates regarding the timing of when such retirement obligations will be incurred We utilize pooled approach in calculating and

--

managing our retirement obligations as opposed to specific machine-by-machine approach by pooling the retirement obligation of assets

based on the estimated deinstallation dates We periodically review the reasonableness of the retirement obligations balance by obtaining the

current machine count and updated estimates to deinstall such machines

The fair value of liability for an asset retirement obligation is recognized in the period in which it is incurred and can be reasonably

estimated Such asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the

assets estimated useful life Fair value estimates of liabilities for asset retirement obligations generally involve discounted future cash flows

Periodic accretion of such liabilities due to the passage of time is recorded as an operating expense in the accompanying consolidated

financial statements Upon settlement of the liability we recognize gain or loss for any difference between the settlement amount and the

liability recorded

Share-Based Compensation We calculate the fair value of stock-based instruments awarded to employees and directors on the date of

grant and recognize the calculated fair value net of estimated forfeitures as compensation expense over the requisite service periods of the

related awards In determining the fair value of our share-based awards we are required to make certain assumptions and estimates including

the number of awards that may ultimately be forfeited by the recipients the expected term of the underlying awards and the future

volatility associated with the price of our common stock Such estimates and the basis for our conclusions regarding such estimates for the

year ended December 31 2011 are outlined in detail in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Note Stock-Based

Compensation

Derivative Financial Instruments We recognize all of our derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in our Consolidated Balance

Sheets at fair value The accounting for changes in the fair value e.g gains or losses of those derivative instruments depends on whether

such instruments have been designated and qualify as part of hedging relationship and on the type of hedging relationship actually

designated For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments we designate the hedging instrument based

upon the exposure being hedged as cash flow hedge fair value hedge or hedge of net investment in foreign operation These
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instruments are valued using pricing models based on significant other observable inputs Level inputs under the fair value hierarchy

established by U.S GAAP while taking into account the nonperformance risk of the party that is in the liability position with respect to each

trade As of December 31 2011 the majority of our derivatives were designated as cash flow hedges and accordingly changes in the fair

values of such derivatives have been reflected in the accumulated other comprehensive loss line in the accompanying Consolidated Balance

Sheet Additionally as of December 31 2011 we had derivatives that were designated as economic hedges for which the gain or loss was

recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations during the current period See Item Financial Statements and Supplementary

Data Note 16 Derivative Financial Instruments for more details on our derivative financial instrument transactions

New Accounting Pronouncements Issued but Not Yet Adopted

For information on new accounting pronouncements that had been issued as of December 31 2011 but not yet adopted by us see Item

Financial Statement and Supplementary Data Note 1v New Accounting Pronouncements

Commitments and Contingencies

We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business We do not expect that the outcome in

any of these legal proceedings individually or collectively will have material adverse effect on our financial condition results of

operations or cash flows See Item Financial Statement and Supplementary Data Note 15 Commitments and Contingencies for additional

details regarding our commitments and contingencies

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Disclosure about Market Risk

We are exposed to variety of market risks including interest rate risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk The following quantitative

and qualitative information is provided about financial instruments to which we were party at December 31 2011 and from which we may
incur future gains or losses from changes in market interest rates or foreign currency exchange prices We do not enter into derivative or other

financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes

Hypothetical changes in interest rates and foreign currencies chosen for the following estimated sensitivity analysis are considered to be

reasonably possible near..term changes generally based on consideration of past fluctuations for each risk category Flowever since it is not

possible to accurately predict future changes in interest rates and foreign currencies these hypothetical changes may not necessarily be an

indicator of probable future fluctuations

Interest Rate Risk

Vault cash rental expense Because our ATM vault cash rental expense is based on market rates of interest it is sensitive to changes in the

general level of interest rates in the United States the United Kingdom and Mexico In the United States and the United Kingdom we pay

monthly fee to our vault cash providers on the average amount of vault cash outstanding under formula based on the U.S and U.K LIBOR

rates respectively In Mexico we pay monthly fee to our vault cash provider under formula based on the Interbank Equilibrium Interest

Rate commonly referred to as the TILE We currently do not have material amount of vault cash in Canada but expect to incur

additional ATM vault cash rental expense in 2012 as we expand those operations

As result of the significant sensitivity surrounding the vault cash interest expense for our United States and United Kingdom operations

we have entered into number of interest rate swaps to effectively fix the rate of interest we pay on the amounts of our current and

anticipated outstanding vault cash balances The following swaps currently in place serve to fix the interest rate utilized for our vault cash

rental agreements in the United States and the United Kingdom for the following notional amounts and periods
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United Kingdom pound sterling amounts have been converted into nited States dollars at approximately $1.55 to 1.00 which was the exchange rate in effect as of

December 31201

The following table presents hypothetical sensitivity analysis of our vault cash interest expense in 2011 based on our outstanding vault

cash balances as of December 31.2011 and assuming 100 basis point increase in interest rates

Additional Interest

Vault Cash Balance as of

December 31 2011

Functional U.S

currency dollars

In millions

L7241
2219

p8 301.3

0.7
__________

329.1

3437

220
0.7

20955

As of December 31 2011

Amount

Hedged Hedged

In millions

625.0 36.1%

75.0 33.8%

Additional Interest

Incurred on 100 Basis

Point Increase Excluding

Impact of Interest Rate

Swaps

Functional U.S

currency dollars

In millions

2.2

3.1

Incurred on 100 Basis

Point Increase Including

Impact of All Interest

Rate Swaps Currently

under Contract

Functional U.S

nc29_ dollars

In millions

11.0$

1.5

p8 3.1

c$

Average Vault Cash

Batence For the Six

Months Ended December

31 2011

Functional U.S

enc rs
In millions

1414.1

167.1

p$ 895
c$ 0.2

As of December 31 2011

Amount

JiL Hedged

In millions

625Q 44.2%

75.0 44.9%

Additional Interest

Incurred on 100 Basis

Point Increase Excluding

Impact of Interest Rate

Swaps

Functional rs
In millions

4.1 14.1

1.7 2.7

29 02

17.0

Additional Interest

Incurred on 100 Basis

Point Increase Including

Impact of All interest

Rate Swaps Currently

under Contract

Functional U.S
currency dollars

In millions

7.9$ 1.9

0.9 1.5

2.9 11.2

sr

Notional Amounts Notional Amounts Notional Amounts Weighted Average

United States United Kingdom ConsolidatedW Fixed Rate

in thousands

750.900 50000 827451 3.45%

750000 25000 788726 3.35%

750000 750000 329%

550000 550000 3.27%

250000 350000 328%

Term

Jaxwery 2912. December 31 2012

January 12013 December 31 2013

Jnmnuy 12014 Dncmber 2014

January 12015 December 31 2015

Jaouary 2016 December 312016

United S1ate

United Kingdom

Mhxie
Canada

Totkl

p8 -j.- p8

173

34

02

The following table presents similar hypothetical sensitivity analysis of as the above table but based on our average outstanding vault

cash balances for the six months ended December 31 2011 and assuming 100 basis point increase in interest rates

11.0

2.3

0.2

Upit4 Steies

United Kingdom

Mexien

Canada

TOtal

1414.1

265.7

22.5

0.2

7O2.5

As of December 31 2011 we had net liability of $70.5 million recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheet related to our interest rate

swaps which represented the fair value liability of the agreements as derivative instruments are required to he carried at fair value Fair value

was calculated as the present value of amounts estimated to be received or paid to marketplace participant in selling transaction These

swaps are valued using pricing models based on significant other observable inputs Level inputs under the fair value hierarchy established

by U.S GAAP while taking into account the nonperformance risk of the party that is in the liability position with respect to each trade The

vast majority of these swaps are accounted for as cash flow hedges accordingly changes in the fair values of the swaps have been reported in

accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets Certain interest rate swaps in the United Kingdom

are not accounted for as cash flow hedges Accordingly changes in the fair values of such swaps are recorded in other expense income in
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the aeeoinpar ig Consolidot Stitemen of Ore atio is we du 1o certai ofts tti it rat swap tr rsactior hat were en ered

mto in ecer he 2009 of angcs in the values of these swaps have not hod id sic not expect te sig ificaot impact to our ongs ing

results of operations Due to our do mination that net deferred tax asset are realizahie in the future we oow record ftc unrealized loss

amouots rtlated to our itcrcst rate swaps net of stimated taxes in the Accumulated ther comprehensive loss net line item within

Stockholders equity io the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net amounts paid or received under our cash flow hedges are recorded as adjustments to our Cost of ATM open ting revenues in the

accor panying Consolidated Statements of Operations utilize the interest rate swas to ecoumnically hedge exposure to variable

interest rates charged on outstanding vault cash balances cost of reve vies aetivty Duung ftc year ended Deccinbei 2011 2010 and

2009 the gains or losses as result of ineffectiveness associated with our exisdng cash flow hedges were immaterial Bowever we recorded

unrealized losses gains of $0 milhon S0 inilhon and $1 million during the years ended December 31 2011 2010 aid 2009

ct nectively associated with changes in the mark toor arket values of ecitain interest rate swap ontrscts in ihe United Kingdom that did not

qualify as cash flow hedges

As of Decemher 31 2011 we had not entered into any derivative financial instruments to hedge our variable interest rate exposue in the

Mexico as we hate historically not deemed it to be cost effective to engage in such hedging program Bowever we may enter into

uei votive inancial insrrume its in the future to nedge our irrerest rate exposure in this ma ket

interest expense Our iutrcst expense is also sensitive to changes in the inteicst rates in the United States as our borrewi igs under ou
revolving credit facility accrue interest at floating rates Based on the 166.0 million out standing under the facility as of December 31 2011
an increase of 100 basis points in the underlying interest rate xvould have had $1.7 million impact on oui interest expense Bosvevcr there I5

no guarantee that we will not borrow additional amounts under the facility in the future and in the event we borrow an-ounts and interest

rates significa itly increase the interest that we would he required to pay would be more significant

Outlook If we continue to experence low short4erm interest rates in the United States aod the United Kingdom it will sen to be

beneficial to the amount of interest expense we mont under oui hank credit facilities and oui vault cash rental expense Although we currently

hedge substantial portion of our vault cash interest rate risk as noted above we may not be able to enter into similar arrangements for

smla amou tle future and any significaui increase in interest ratcs ii tne future could nave an adverse impact on our business
financial condition and results of operations by inn easing our operating costs and expenses 1-loivever the impact on our financial statements

from significant increase in interest rates would be partially mitigated by the interest rate ssvaps that we currently have in place associated

with our vault cash balances in the United States and the United Kingdom

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As result of our operations in the United Kingdom Mexico and now Canada we are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign

currency exchange rates specifically with respect to changes in the United States dollar relative to the British pound Mexican peso and the

Canadian dollar All of our intemational subsidiaries are consolidated into our financial results and are subject to risks typical of international

businesses including but not limited to differing economic conditions changes in political climate differing tax stn.ictures other regulations

and r.strictiens and foeign exchange 1ate volatility Furtheimoru we ae quired to iranslate 1h financial condition and results of uui

internaoonal operations into United States dollars with
any corresponding translation gains or losses being recorded in other comprehensive

irmcnme loss in our consolidated financIal statements As of December 31 2011 this fran lotion 1055 totaled approximately $27 mlIion

compared to approximately $26.6 million as of December31 2010

Our consolidated financial results for 2011 were positively impacted by the increases in the value of the British pound relative to the

United States dollar but experienced negative impact from the reduction in the value of the British pound relative to the United States

dollar the prior years See Item Munogements Disoussion ondAnulysis off inonciol Condition und Results of Opeotions Results of

Operotions for addifional details on the impact of changes in the foreign exchange rate between the United States dollar and the British

pound Ou consolidated financial results vvere also slightly positively impacted by changes in the value of the Mexican peso ielative to the

United States dollar in 2011 and 2010 hut experienced similar negative impact fiom the changes in the value of the Mexican peso elatise

to ho Uomed te dollar iii 2009 The oserafl coiobiuLd effect 0r foieign currency ezehango rates to our consohda1ed Onaicial results was

immaterial in 2Oll sensitivity analysis indicates that if the United States dollar uniformly strengthened or weakened l0 against the

British pound the effect upon our United Kingdom operations operating income for the yeai idcd December 31 2011 ould have been

immaterial Similarly sensitivity analysis indicates that if the United States dollar uniformly strengthened or weakened 10K against the

Mexican peso or the Canadian dollar for the year ended December 31 2011 the effect upon the respective countrys operating income vvould

have also been immaterial At this tune we have not deemed it to be cost effective to engage in piogram of hedging the efibct of foreign

currency fluctuations on our operating results using derivative financial instruments

Certain intcrcoinprny balauce between uur pament onipany and our initcd Kingdom operations are designated as shorrrerm in

nature nd the changes in these balances arc translated in our Consolidated Statement of Operations As result we are exposed to foreien
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currency exchange risk as it relates to these intercompany balances As of December 31 2011 the intercompany payable balance from our

United Kingdom operations to the parent totaled $31.7 million of which $5.8 million was deemed to be short-term in nature sensitivity

analysis indicates that if the United States dollar uniformly strengthened or weakened 10% against the British pound based on the

intercompany payable balance as of December 31 2011 the effect upon our Consolidated Statements of Operations would be approximately

$0.6 million

We do not hold derivative commodity instruments and all of our cash and cash equivalents are held in money market and checking

funds
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Cardtronics Inc

We have audited Cardtronics Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on criteria established in the

Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
Cardtronics Inc.s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Annual Report on Internal Control

Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our

audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial

reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on the assessed risk Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe

that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles companys internal control over fmancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of

records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of

any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions

or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Cardtronies Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2011 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission

Cardtronies Inc acquired EDC ATM Subsidiary LLC and Efmark Deployment Inc LocatorSearch LLC Mr Cash ATM Network

Inc and Access to Money Inc the acquired companies during 2011 and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness

of Cardtronics Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 the acquired companies internal control over

financial reporting associated with 30% of total gross assets of which 22% represents goodwill and intangibles included within the scope of

the assessment and total revenues of 5% included in the consolidated financial statements of Cardtronics Inc as of and for the year ended

December 31 2011 Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Cardtronies Inc also excluded an evaluation of the internal

control over financial reporting of the acquired companies

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

consolidated balance sheets of Cardtronics Inc as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations

stockholders deficit equity comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31 2011

and our report dated Febrnary 27 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements

Is KPMG LLP

Houston Texas

February 27 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Cardtronics Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cardtronics Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2011 and 2010
and the related consolidated statements of operations stockholders deficit equity comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the

years in the three-year period ended December 31 2011 These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys
management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial position of

Cardtronics Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the

years in the three-year period ended December 31 2011 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Cardtronics

Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO and our report dated February 27
2012 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

is KPMG LLP

Houston Texas

February 27 2012
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Current assets

Cash apd tsI eqalvahu1s

CARDTRONICS INC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands excluding share and per share amounts

Accounts and notes receivable net of allowance of $251 and $507 as of December 31

2011 and 2010 respectively

1rtyototy

Restricted cash

Cuyeui puttoi tf 4eprgd ax aal got

Prepaid expenses deferred costs and other current assets

2qtal eurrout aotets

Property and equipment net

Goodwill

Potaot 11

Prepaid expenses deferred costs and other assets

Cloteut fiabiii1i8

Current portion of long-term debt and notes payable

te iQIt4sf athdrlglhlitiot
Accounts payable

Aobu44 lijuie

Current portion of deferred tax liability net

Th1ruirttot tiitbtlits

Long-term liabilities

Ltiotm debt

Deferred tax liability net

Atebipetlt ohatits
Other long-term liabilities

Total btbtiot

csuitwt$a rwtt cntiggei4es

Total parent stockholders eqyity

ogtgg iptotot

Total stockholders equity

Total btbiIttie and t4e1hoktgts equity

2317

25lt1

33337

927

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidateaJinancial statements

December 31 2011

5576

40867

T51t7

4512

62
13056

9454q

191331

14

271562

2T1O
20774

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

December 31 2010

3189

20270

4466

1fQ7
10222

156465

4149

164558

11$

38 19

3076

4493
20167

54
715

251751

10268

4414
23385

36M72

M147

56877--
Stoc holders eq ity

Addtional paid-n capital 234716 213 754
HA

etained earnings accumulated defcit 14270 55 963
A77

111588

113145Q1
42391

63

4425415
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CARDTRONICS INC

CONSOLIEATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In thousands excluding share and per share amounts

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

/f /5 5/
// /2

ATM rail ye ues 97 19 22 900 48
ic4

Total cv 624576 32078 49 53
5555 /5/5

Os ATM operating cv flu dud ciati cc and

amo ization shown ratel belo See Note 1b 396 47 1490 90744 /5/ // /5 //
/5

talcosto us 011 360 44474

rati
expe ses

Acquisition ated pe es 747

5\
2/ /5 9/

AuluLi ati ii ns 17 14 4/i i8i6Y9r 252I49/
/5 /5 22

/5

/5
A14lfi11 /5

9/

To al
op ratinge pens 127 186 1054 10 879

/5/5
/5/5

4/
44

0th ense inco
4k /5

/5

Amortization ot de ed financing cos and bond discou ts 99 2029 395
54 9/ 5/5 5/ //5

/545
/5

ed mtion cos for any tnguishm nt of debt 193

/44 /5

/5 5/

To al oth pe se 20 305 42 269 32984
/5/5

/59/ 5/ 41

Incom tax ben it pense 13176 17 139 2464 47 474 4474 /41 47741
/5

5/45 /5
/5/5

/5

/5 54

Ne lo inco at nibu able to nonconto1ling in eres 87 174 494

4ç5 /5f 9/41 417 154155 4/5 47 16
4/fS44f/ 55f 5/ 475

141fif6 5/4 67
income common she has 1.60 0.98 13

446 /5S5S4 /55 /5 s4 /5 474
/5

/59/
/5

5/5

5/

eighedav rag sout an basil 4z Oi 491 40347 194 39244057

55 /5 /4
9/

/4
/5 /5

/555 /4 5/ /5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these con olidated financial tatementc
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currency translation

adjustments

CARDTRONICS iNC

CONSOLiDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS DEFICIT EQUITY

Common Stock

In thousands

Ur losses on mt rest ate

wap net of income taxes of

$11219 18283 18283

Ia

Net loss attributable to

noncol trolling interests 87 87
10

43999 234716 83902 14270 53500 1557 $113145

The accompc flying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Additional

Subscription Paid-In

Aouut Rec

Accumulated Retained

Other Earnings

Comprehensive Accumulated Treasury

Sk

Non-

controlling

Issuance Redemption of

c1

2149 87 2062
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CARDTRONICS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands

Year Ended December 31

20 20

tincome 70146 41 133 5771

Depreciation accretion and amortization
expense

65876 58195 58 36

Write off of deferred financing costs and bond discounts 7296

Stock ba ed compensaton expense
9324 6037 4620

Loss on disposal
of assets

981 2647 6016

Amortization of accumulated other compreh nsive losses associated with

derivative inst ment no longer signated as dging in truments 170 1573

Changes assets and liabilitie

rease dec ea inpr paid deferred osts and other current asset 615 211 7255

inc ease decrea in other assets 17865 094 1710

ncr ase crease in accrued liabilitie 19804 9751 166

Net cash provided by operating activities 113325 105 168 74874

ws yes gc es

77
Payments for elusive license agreements site acquisition costs and other

intangible ass ts 2468 2583 261

Net cash ed in investinp
activit 26031

ac es

Repa nts of long term debt and capital
leases 264991 445 840 99212

Debt issuance and modification cost 655 5423 458

11

roceeds from exercse of stock options 11420 7390 596

Repurchase of capital stock 3l50 672

incr ase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 2387 7260 7025

Cash and cash equivalents as of beginni of period 3189 10449 424

Cash paid for in eiest including nt rest on capital leases 20 29830 30470

542 2499
Capital expenditures financed by direct debt

The accompanying notes ace an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CARDTRONICS INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM.ENS

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Descrzption of Business

Cardtronics Inc along with its wholly- and majority-owned subsidiaries collectively the Company provides convenient consumer
financial services through its network of automated teller machines ATMs and multi-function financial services kiosks As
of December31 2011 the Company provided services to approximately 52 900 devices acioss Its portfouo which included ovei 46000
devices located in all 50 states of the United States US as well as in the U.S territories of Puerto Rico and the U.S Virgin Islands

approximately 500 devices throughout the United Kingdom approximately 800 devices throughout Mexico and approximately
600 devices throughout Canada included in the U.S number are approximately 2200 multi-function financial services kiosks that in

sddition to traditional ATM functions such as cash dispensmg and bank account balance inquiries perform other consumer financial services

including bill payments check cashing remote deposit capture which is deposit taking at ATMs using electronic imaging and money
transfers Also included in the total count of 52900 devices are approximately 4800 devices for which the Company provides various forms
of managed services solutions which may include services such as transaction processing monitoring maintenance cash management and

customer service

Through its network the Company provides ATM management and equipment-related services typically under multi-year contracts to

large nationally-known retail irierchants as well as smaller retailers and operators of facilities such as shopping malls and airports In doing
so the Company provides its retail partners with compelling automated financial services solution that helps attract and retain customers
and in turn increases the likelihood that the devices placed at their facilities will be utilized

In addition to its retail merchant relationships the Company also partners with leading national financial institutions to brand selected

ATMs and financial services kiosks within its network including Citibank N.A JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A Sovereign Bank N.A
SunTrust Banks Inc and PNC Bank N.A As of December 31 2011 over 15400 of the Companys devices were under contract with

financial institutions to place their logos on those machines thus providing convenient surcharge-free access for their banking customers The

Company also owns and operates the Allpoint network the largest surcharge-free ATM network within the United States based on the

number of participating ATMs The Allpoint network which has more than 43000 participating ATMs provides surcharge-free ATM
access to customers of participating financial institutions that lack significant ATM network The Allpoint network includes majority of
the Companys ATMs in the United States Puerto Rico and Mexico all of the Companys ATMs in the United Kingdom and over 5000
locations in Australia through partnership with local ATM owner and operator in that market Allpoint also works with financial

institutions that manage stored-value debit card programs on behalf of corporate entities and governmental agencies including general

purpose payroll and electronic benefits transfer EBT cards Under these programs the issuing financial institutions pay Ailpoint fee per
issued stored-value card in return for allowing the users of those cards surcharge-free access to Allpoints participating ATM network

Finally the Company owns and operates an electronic funds transfer EFT tiansaction processing platform that provides transaction

processing services to its network of ATMs and financial services kiosks as well as other ATMs under managed services arrangemnts

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements presented include the accounts of Cardtronics Inc and its wholly- and majority-owned and
controlled subsidiaries Because the Company owns majority 51 .0% interest in and absorbs majority of the losses or returns of
Cardtronics Mexico this entity is reflected as consolidated subsidiary in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with the

remaining ownership Interest not held by the Company being reflected as noncontrolling interest All material intercompany accounts and

transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

In managements opinion all adjustments necessary for fair presentation of the Companys current and prior period results have been

made Additionally the financial statements for prior periods include reclassifications that were made to conform to the current period

presentation Those reclassifications did not impact the Companys total reported net income or stockholders equity
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The Company prcnca us ci aperating revenues and Gross profit within is consolidated financial statements exclusive of

depreciation ace il .rc ninortiuion cxpenses The following table sets fo .n lit cia excluded from cost of ATM operating

revenues and gro.- pwit iHc ears ended December31 2011 2010 ant PiY1

21 ci 2bi

iiaiiti

V7i4 S.-7i

/f o.ua .a ca/s

icprrruIan hc ocsohunLu iaicIcucs ii ccnibrmi with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

iA/7 rcuircs manacincii nkcestimcnc aiI assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities

nH dc.cto1rL orconccnL sscr nad ct dnucui chc ictaccial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

lb bc rcnorti.ry ad ad 0cni itvais uhuc to sici til.c nclude the carrying amount of intangibles goodwill asset retirement

and maccs at /ccc\cbic n\nLcrics and deferred income tax assets Actual results can and often do differ

hoc has cnipcb in tic aIidanv

faal Etonaec/.

For nudosms ol report Ian ii .laiciai Ofl ion and cash hams cash and cash equivalent ciude cash in bt cod shortterm deposit sweep

accawis .\ddcioIiciii\ ha Un cu mainiclins cci cr cic1ii tb banks that is plcadjci hr particticc i.c to support

potamal lhhiiim n- hance cc inii cd ss icicd cash in current or non-ctrrcn sc an it1 nnan\1c nidated Balance

Shcc bcsnd on whet cite Company c\pects thL LIst to be ise ilvre was $4.5 jiHia ci sHeted onsi it Cc as of both

31 0i and ii nod $38000 and h3 OllO resound ek in oder nateuicciu anna Cc cu .earicted cash consisted of

culunHs caliCe .cd on behaii ol tciai mc ltd at CCati ohdc Co npcnvatrehar custait t1id.niy service providers Non

errant rstiiced ecc.h rcpesmnted cerileclie nidapos held ct Cue an4 ompanys ATMs and

funds id at one he banks uI lied he th ompcn aovision ad auto onci at.S aer cicial sCO ecs it its multifunction device

local ti

fri Ca. Jr wiement Program

ehLS on agreements with Bank of America NA Bank of America Elan Financial Services Elan which is

busic of cop dc ells Fargo N.A Wells Fargo and another vault cash provider to provide the cash that it uses in its domestic

devices including ate ii dub the merchants do not provide their own cash Additionally the Company relies on Alliance

Leicester Commeredi .tarI f.LC CliCi owned by the Santander Group in the United Kingdom and BansI S.A lnstitución de

Banca Mfiltiple iiansi ci la bnanuiera Banorte S.A de C.V Banorte in Mexico to provide it with its ATM cash needs In

Canada the Company uses an armada eader to currently supply cash for small number of ATMs The Company pays fee for its usage

of this vault cash based on the total amount of cash outstanding at any given time as well as fees related to the bundling and preparation of

such cash prior to it being loaded in the devices At all times beneficial ownership of the cash is retained by the cash providers and the

Company has no access or right to the cash except for those ATMs that are serviced by the Companys wholly-owned armored courier

operation in the United Kingdom While such armored courier operation has physical access to the cash loaded in those machines beneficial

ownership of that cash remains with the cash provider at all times The Companys domestic vault cash agreements with Bank of America

Elan and Wells Fargo currently extend through October 2013 December 2016 and July 2013 respectively See Note 19 Concentration

Risk for additional information on the concentration risk associated with the Companys arrangements with Bank of America and Wells

Fargo The Company also has another domestic vault cash agreement that extends through December 2014 With respect to its United

Kingdom operations the Companys current agreement with ALCB expired during 2011 but is operated on month-to-month basis while

the renewal terms are being negotiated The Companys vault cash agreement in Mexico with Bansi noncontrolling interest partner in

Cardtronics Mexico expires in March 2012 Finally the agreement with Banorte in Mexico has mandatory period for provision of vault

cash through January 2015 at which time the agreement will be automatically extended for successive 12-month periods unless terminated by

either party Based on the foregoing such cash and the related obligations are not reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements The amount of cash in the Companys devices was approximately $2.1 billion and $1.4 billion as of December 31 2011 and

2010 respectively
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Ac ounts Receivable including Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Aceounis receivable are piimarily comprised of amounts due from the Company clearing and settlement banks for transaction revenues

earned on transactions processed during the month ending on the balance sheet date as well as receivables for equipment sales Trade

accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not hear interest The allowance for doubtful accounts represents the

Cornpmys boa estimate of the amount oprobblc credit losses 00 thc Companys existing accounts receivable Toe Company reviews its

allowance for doubtful accounts monthly and determines the allowance based on an analysis of its past Inc accounts All balances over

90 days past due are reviewcd individually for collectability Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of

collection havc been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company
recorded approximately $84000 in net recoverics and approximately $136000 and $140000 respectively of bad debt expensc for the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2009

Inventory

Inventory consists principally of used ATMs ATM spare parts and ATM supplies and is stated at the lower of cost or market Cost is

determined using the average cost method The following table is breakdown of the Companys primaly inventory components as of

Dccernher3l 2011 and 2010

2011 2010

In thousands
ATM 1f4
ATM parts and supplies 2928 1054

TOa1

Less inventoiy reserves 1057 391
Net itrvgnory 1795

Property and Equipment Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging
from three to eight years Leasehold improvements and property acquired under capital leases are amortized over the useful life of the asset or

the lease term whichever is shorter Also included in property and equipment are new ATMs and/or financial services kiosks and the

associated equipment the Company has acquired for future installation Such devices are held as deployments in process and are not

depreciated until actually installed Depreciation expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

was $45 million $40.1 million and $37.4 million respectively The amounts for 2009 and 2010 included the amortization expense
associated with the assets under capital leases that were assumed by the Company in its acquisition of the financial services business of 7-

Eleven Inc the 7-Eleven ATM Transaction in 2007 As of December 31 2011 the Company did not have
any capital leases

outstanding See Note 11 Asset Retirement Obligations for additional information on asset retirement obligations associated with the

Companys devices

Maintenance on the Companys domestic and Mexico devices is typically perfonned by third parties and is incurred as fixed fee per
month per device Accordingly such amounts are expensed as incurred in the United Kingdom maintenance is performed by in-house

technicians and is expensed as incurred

Significant refurbishment costs that extend the useful life of an asset or enhance its functionality are capitalized and depreciated over the

estimated remaining life of the improved asset

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Companys intangible assets include merchant contracts/relationships and branding agieement acquiied in connection with

acquisitions of ATM and kiosk-related assets i.e the right to receive future cash flows related to transactions occurring at these merchant

locations exclusive license agreements and site acquisition costs i.e the right to be the exclusive ATM or kiosk service provider at

specific locations for the time period under contract with merchant customer non-compete agreements deferred financing costs ielating to

the Companys credit agreements see Note 10 Long-Term Debt and the Bank Machine and Allpoint trade names acquired Additionally

the Company has goodwill related to the acquisitions of ETRADF Access Bank Machine ATM National Cardtronics Mexico the financial

services business of 7-Eleven the 7-Eleven Financial Services Business and as is further described in Note Acquisitions the Company
now also has goodwill related to the following acquisitions that were completed during 2011 EDC ATM Subsidiary 1.1 arid Ffmark

Deployment lnc EDC LocatorSearch LLC Mr Cash ATM Network Inc and Access to Money Inc
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The estimated fair value of the merchant contracts/relationships within each acquired portfolio is determined based on the estimated net

cash flows and useful lives of the underlying contracts/relationships including expected renewals The merchant contracts/relationships

comprising each acquired portfolio are typically homogenous in nature with respect to the underlying contractual terms and conditions

Accordingly the Company generally pools such acquired merchant contracts/relationships into single intangible asset by acquired

portfolio for
purposes

of computing the related amortization expense The Company amortizes such intangible assets on straight-line basis

over the estimated useful lives of the portfolios to which the assets relate Because the net cash flows associated with the Companys acquired

merchant contracts/relationships have historically increased subsequent to the acquisition date the use of straight-line method of

amortization effectively results in an accelerated amortization schedule As such the straight-line method of amortization most closely

approximates the pattern in which the economic benefits of the underlying assets are expected to be realized The estimated useful life of each

portfolio is determined based on the weighted-average lives of the expected cash flows associated with the underlying merchant

contracts/relationships comprising the portfolio and takes into consideration expected renewal rates and the terms and significance of the

underlying contracts/relationships themselves Certain acquired merchant contracts/relationships may have unique attributes such as

significant contractual terms or value and in such cases the Company will separately account for these contracts in order to better assess the

value and estimated useful lives of the underlying merchant relationships See Note 10 Impairment ofLong-LivedAssets and Goodwill

below for further discussion related to the Companys evaluation of significant merchant contracts If subsequent to the acquisition date

circumstances indicate that shorter estimated useful life is warranted for an acquired portfolio or an individual customer relationship as

result of changes in the expected future cash flows associated with the individual contracts/relationships comprising that portfolio or

relationship then that portfolios remaining estimated useful life and related amortization expense are adjusted accordingly on prospective

basis

Goodwill and the acquired Bank Machine and Allpoint trade names are not amortized but instead are periodically tested for impairment at

least annually and whenever an event occurs that indicates that an impairment may have occurred See Note 1J Impairment of Long-Lived

Assets and Goodwill below for additional information on the Companys impairment testing of long-lived assets and goodwill

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill

Long-lived assets The Company places significant value on the installed devices that it owns and manages in merchant locations as well as

the related acquired merchant contracts/relationships and the branding agreements Long-lived assets such as property and equipment and

purchased contract intangibles subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment at least annually and additionally whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable The Company tests its acquired merchant

contract/relationship intangible assets for impairment along with the related devices on an individual contract/relationship basis for the

Companys significant acquired contracts/relationships and on pooled or portfolio basis by acquisition for all other acquired

contracts/relationships

In determining whether particular merchant contract/relationship is significant enough to warrant separate identifiable intangible asset

the Company analyzes number of relevant factors including estimates of the historical cash flows generated by such

contract/relationship prior to its acquisition ii estimates regarding the Companys ability to increase the contract/relationships cash flows

subsequent to the acquisition through combination of lower operating costs the deployment of additional devices and the generation of

incremental revenues from increased surcharges and/or new branding arrangements and iii estimates regarding the Companys ability to

renew such contract/relationship beyond its originally scheduled termination date An individual contract/relationship and the related

devices could be impaired if the contract/relationship is terminated sooner than originally anticipated or if there is decline in the number of

transactions related to such contract/relationship without corresponding increase in the amount of revenue collected per transaction e.g

branding revenue portfolio of purchased contract intangibles including the related devices could be impaired if the contract attrition rate

is materially more than the rate used to estimate the portfolios initial value or if there is decline in the number of transactions associated

with such portfolio without corresponding increase in the revenue collected per transaction Whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that merchant contract/relationship intangible asset may be impaired the Company evaluates the recoverability of the intangible

asset and the related devices by measuring the related carrying amounts against the estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated

with the related contract or portfolio of contracts Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less than the carrying values of the

tangible and intangible assets being evaluated an impairment loss would be recognized The impairment loss would be calculated as the

amount by which the carrying values of the tangible and intangible assets exceeded the calculated fair value The Company recorded

approximately $0.1 million $0.2 million and $1.2 million in additional amortization expense during the years
ended December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 respectively related to the impairments of certain previously acquired merchant contract/relationship intangible assets

associated with its United States reporting segment

Goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets As of December 31 2011 the Company had $271.6 million in goodwill and

$3.3 million of indefinite lived intangible assets reflected in its Consolidated Balance Sheet The Company reviews the carrying amount of its

goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets for impairment at least annually and more frequently if conditions warrant Under U.S GAAP
goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets should be tested for impairment at the reporting unit level which in the Companys case

involves five separate reporting units the Companys domestic reporting segment excluding Allpoint ii the acquired Bank Machine
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operations iii the acquired CCS Mexico subsequently renamed to Cardtronics Mexico operations iv the acquired ATM National

operations Allpoint and the acquired Canadian operations Mr Cash For each reporting unit the carrying amount of the net assets

associated with the applicable reporting unit is compared to the estimated fair value of such reporting unit as of the testing date i.e
December 31 2011 When estimating fair values of reporting unit for its goodwill impairment test the Company utilizes combination of

the income approach and market approach which incorporates both managements views and those of the market The income approach

provides an estimated fair value based on each reporting units anticipated cash flows which have been discounted using weighted-average

cost of capital rate for each reporting unit The market approach provides an estimated fair value based on the Companys market

capitalization that is computed using the market price of its common stock and the number of shares outstanding as of the impairment test

date The sum of the estimated fair values for each reporting unit as computed using the income approach is then compared to the fair value

of the Company as whole as determined based on the market approach If such amounts are consistent the estimated fair values for each

reporting unit as derived from the income approach are utilized

All of the assumptions utilized in estimating the fair value of the Companys reporting units and performing the goodwill impairment test

are inherently uncertain and require significant judgment on the part of management The primary assumptions used in the income approach

are estimated cash flows the weighted average cost of capital for each reporting unit and valuation multiples assigned to the earnings before

interest expense income taxes depreciation and accretion expense and amortization expense EBITDA amounts of each reporting unit in

order to assess the terminal value for each reporting unit Estimated cash flows are primarily based on the Companys projected revenues

operating costs and capital expenditures and are discounted based on comparable industry average rates for the weighted-average cost of

capital for each reporting unit The Company utilized discount rates based on weighted-average cost of capital amounts ranging from 11.8%

to 14.4% when estimating the fair values of its reporting units as of December 31 2011 With respect to the EBITDA multiples utilized in

assessing the terminal value of each of its reporting units the Company utilized the current multiple assigned specifically to its own

company but also compared it to current and historical valuation multiples assigned to number of its industry peer group companies for

reasonableness

Based on the results of the impairment analysis performed for the year ended December 31 2011 the Company determined that no

goodwill impairment existed as of December 31 2011 and the fair values of its reporting units were generally substantially in excess of the

carrying values of such reporting units

Income Taxes

Provisions for income taxes are based on taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred taxes which are based on temporary

differences between the amount of taxable income and income before provision for income taxes and between the tax basis of assets and

liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements Deferred tax assets and liabilities are included in the consolidated financial

statements at current income tax rates As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted through the

provision for income taxes In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that

some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized As the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on the

generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible the Company considers the

scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment In the

event the Company does not believe it will be able to utilize the related tax benefits associated with deferred tax assets valuation allowances

are recorded to reserve for the assets

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company estimates the fair value of future retirement costs associated with its ATMs and recognizes this amount as liability on

pooled basis based on estimated deinstallation dates in the period in which it is incurred and when it can be reasonably estimated The

Companys estimates of fair value involve discounted future cash flows Subsequent to recognizing the initial liability the Company

recognizes an ongoing expense for changes in such liabilities due to the passage of time i.e accretion expense which is recorded in the

depreciation and accretion expense line in the accompanying consolidated financial statements As the liability is not revalued on recurring

basis it is periodically reevaluated based on current information Upon settlement of the liability the Company recognizes gain or loss for

any difference between the settlement amount and the liability recorded Additionally the Company capitalizes the initial estimated fair value

amount as an asset and depreciates the amount over its estimated useful life Additional information regarding the Companys asset

retirement obligations is included in Note 11 Asset Retirement Obligations

Revenue Recognition

TM operating revenues Substantially all of the Companys revenues are generated from ATM and kiosk operating and transaction-based

fees which primarily include surcharge fees interchange fees bank branding revenues surcharge-free network fees managed services fees

and other revenue items including maintenance fees and fees from other consumer financial scrvices offerings such as check-cashing remote

deposit capture and bill pay services Such amounts are reflected as ATM operating revenues in the accompanying Consolidated
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Statements of Operations Surcharge and interchange fees are recognized daily as the underlying transactions are processed Branding fees are

generated by the Companys bank branding arrangements under which financial institutions generally pay fixed monthly fee per device to

the Company to put their brand name on selected ATMs and multi-function kiosks within the Companys portfolio In return for such fees

the branding institutions customers can use those branded devices without paying surcharge fee The monthly per
device branding fees are

recognized as revenues on monthly basis as earned and are subject to escalation clauses within the agreements In addition to the monthly

branding fees the Company may also receive one-time set-up fee per device This set-up fee is separate from the recurring monthly

branding fees and is meant to compensate the Company for the burden incurred related to the initial set-up of branded device versus the on

going monthly services provided for the actual branding In accordance with U.S GAAP the Company has deferred these set-up fees as well

as the corresponding costs associated with the initial set-up and is recognizing such amounts as revenue and expense over the terms of the

underlying bank branding agreements With respect to Allpoint the Companys surcharge-free network the Company allows cardholders of

financial institutions that participate in Allpoint to utilize the Companys network of devices on surcharge-free basis In return the

participating financial institutions pay fixed fee per month per
cardholder or fee per transaction to the Company These surcharge-free

network fees are recognized as revenues on monthly basis as earned Under managed services offering the Company typically receives

fixed management fee which may be supplemented by certain additional fees based on transaction volume While the management fee and

any additional fees are recognized as revenue on monthly basis as earned the surcharge and interchange fees generated by the ATM under

the managed services agreement are earned by the Companys customer therefore not recorded as revenue of the Company With respect to

maintenance services the Company typically charges fixed fee per month per device to its subscribing customers and outsources the

fulfillment of those maintenance services to third-party service provider for corresponding fixed fee per
month per device Accordingly

the Company recognizes such service agreement revenues and the related expenses on monthly basis as earned Finally with respect to its

automated consumer financial services offerings the Company typically recognizes the revenues as the services are provided and the

revenues earned In addition to the transaction-based fees the Company may also receive upfront payments from third-party service providers

associated with providing certain of these services which are deferred and recognized as revenue over the underlying contractual period

ATM equipment sales The Company also generates revenues from the sale of ATMs to merchants and certain equipment resellers Such

amounts are reflected as ATM product sales and other revenues in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations Revenues

related to the sale of ATMs to merchants are recognized when the equipment is delivered to the customer and the Company has completed all

required installation and set-up procedures With respect to the sale of AIMs to associate value-added resellers VARs the Company

recognizes and invoices revenues related to such sales when the equipment is shipped from the manufacturer to the Associate VAR The

Company typically extends 30-day terms and receives payment directly from the associate VAR irrespective of the ultimate sale to third

party

Merchant-owned arrangements In coimection with the Companys merchant-owned ATM operating/processing arrangements the

Company typically pays
all or sizable portion of the surcharge fees that it earns to the merchant as fees for providing placing and

maintaining the ATM unit Pursuant to the guidance in the Financial Accounting Standards Boards FASB Accounting Standards

Codification ASC 605-45-45 Revenue Recognition Principal Agent Considerations Other Presentation Matters the Company has

assessed whether to record such payments as reduction of associated ATM transaction revenues or cost of revenues Specifically if the

Company acts as the principal and is the primary obligor in the ATM transactions provides the processing for the ATM transactions and has

the risks and rewards of ownership including the risk of loss for collection the Company recognizes the surcharge and interchange fees on

gross basis and does not reduce its reported revenues for payments made to the various merchants and retail establishments where the ATM
units are housed As result for agreements under which the Company acts as the principal the Company records the total amounts earned

from the underlying ATM transactions as ATM operating revenues and records the related merchant commissions as cost of ATM operating

revenues However for those agreements in which the Company does not meet the majority of the criteria to qualifi as the principal agent in

the transaction the Company does not record the related surcharge revenue as the rights associated with this revenue stream inure to the

benefit of the merchant

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company calculates the fair value of stock-based instruments awarded to employees on the date of grant and recognizes the calculated

fair value as compensation cost over the requisite service period For additional information on the Companys stock-based compensation see

Note Stock-Based Compensation

Derivative Instruments

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to changing interest rates related to the Companys ATM and

kiosk cash management activities The Company does not enter into derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes although

circumstances may subsequently change the designation of its derivatives to economic hedges

The Company records derivative instruments at fair value on its Consolidated Balance Sheets These derivatives which consist of interest

rate swaps are valued using pricing models based on significant other observable inputs Level inputs under the fair value hierarchy
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prescribed by U.S GAAP while taking into account the nonperforrnance risk of the party that is in the liability position with respect to each

trade The majority of the Companys derivative transactions have been accounted for as cash flow hedges and accordingly changes in the

fair values of such derivatives have been reflected in the accumulated other comprehensive loss line in the accompanying Consolidated

Balance Sheets to the extent that the hedging relationships are determined to be effective and then recognized in earnings when the hedged

transactions occur

During the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company determined that two of its interest rate swap transactions that were previously designated

as cash flow hedges no longer qualified for hedge accounting treatment due to change in the pricing of the underlying vault cash rental

agreement Accordingly the Company recognized $1.4 million unrealized loss associated with those swaps during the fourth quarter of

2009 Subsequent unrealized gains and losses associated with these swaps along with the related realized gains and losses for amounts

received or paid on offsetting swaps have been recorded monthly Such gains and losses have been reflected in Other Income Expense

in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations See Note 16 Derivative Financial Instruments for more details on the

Companys derivative financial instrument transactions

Fair Value of Financial instruments

The fair value of financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in current transaction between willing

parties other than in forced or liquidation sale U.S GAAP does not require the disclosure of the fair value of lease financing arrangements

and non-financial instruments including intangible assets such as goodwill and the Companys merchant contracts/relationships See Note 17

Fair Value Measurements

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company is exposed to foreign currency translation risk with respect to its operations in the United Kingdom Mexico and Canada

The functional currencies for these businesses are the British pound the Mexican peso and the Canadian dollar respectively Accordingly

results of operations of the Companys international subsidiaries are translated into United States dollars using average exchange rates in

effect during the periods in which those results are generated Furthermore the Companys foreign operations assets and liabilities are

translated into United States dollars using the exchange rate in effect as of each balance sheet reporting date The resulting translation

adjustments have been included in accumulated other comprehensive loss net in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

The Company currently believes that the unremitted earnings of its Mexican and Canadian subsidiaries will be reinvested in the

corresponding country of origin for an indefinite period of time Accordingly no deferred taxes have been provided for the differences

between the Companys book basis and underlying tax basis in those subsidiaries or on the foreign currency translation adjustment amounts

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss Net

Accumulated other comprehensive loss net is displayed as separate component of stockholders equity in the accompanying

Consolidated Balance Sheets and current period activity is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive

Income Loss The Companys other comprehensive loss is composed of foreign currency translation adjustments and ii unrealized

losses associated with the Companys interest rate hedging activities net of related income taxes

The following table sets forth the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss net as of December 31 2011 and 2010

2011 2010

In thousands

II

Unreali ed losse on in crest rate swaps net ofi come tax of$1 219 and $1383 in

20 and 2010 espectively 56 767 38 484

See Note 18 income Taxes for additional information on the Companys deferred taxes and associated with its interest rate swaps

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is recorded at cost and carried as reduction to stockholders equity until retired or reissued
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Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled $1.9 million $1.2 million and $1.0 million during the years ended December 31

2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Working Capital Deficit

The Companys surcharge and interchange revenues are typically collected in cash on daily basis or within short period of time

subsequent to the end of each month However the Company typically pays its vendors on 30 day terms and is not required to pay
certain of

its merchants until 20 days after the end of each calendar month As result the Company will typically utilize the excess cash flow

generated from such timing differences to fund its capital expenditure needs or to repay amounts outstanding under its revolving line of credit

which when drawn upon is reflected as long-term liability in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets Accordingly this scenario

will typically cause the Companys balance sheet to reflect working capital deficit position The Company considers such presentation to

be normal part of its ongoing operations

New Accounting Pronouncements

The Company adopted the following accounting standards during 2011

Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements In October 2009 the FASB issued ASU 2009-13 which amends ASC 605 Revenue

Recognition This update removes the criterion that entities must use objective and reliable evidence of fair value in accounting for each

deliverable separately Instead ASU 2009-13 requires entities to allocate revenue in an arrangement using estimated selling prices of the

delivered goods and services based on selling price hierarchy The Company adopted ASU 2009-13 as of January 2011 which did not

have material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations

Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU 2010-06 which amended ASC 820 Fair Value

Measurements and Disclosures This update added new requirements for disclosures about transfers into and out of Level and of the fair

value hierarchy and activity in Level of the hierarchy Additionally it clarified existing fair value measurement disclosures about the level

of disaggregation and about inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value The Company adopted the provisions of ASU 2010-

06 on January 2010 except for the disclosures about the activity in Level fair value measurements which the Company adopted as of

January 2011 The Companys adoption of ASU 2010-06 did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial position

or results of operations

Goodwill impairment Test In December 2010 the FASB issued ASU 20 10-28 intangibles Goodwill and Other Topic 350 When to

Perform Step of the Goodwill Impairment Test for Reporting Units with Zero or Negative Carrying Amounts The ASU does not prescribe

specific method of calculating the carrying value of reporting unit in the performance of step of the goodwill impairment test i.e

equity-value-based method or enterprise-value-based method However it requires entities with zero or negative carrying value to assess

considering qualitative factors such as those used to determine whether triggering event would require an interim goodwill impairment test

listed in ASC 350-20-35-30 Intangibles Goodwill and Other Subsequent Measurement whether it is more likely than not that

goodwill impairment exists and perform step of the goodwill impairment test if so concluded The Company adopted ASU 2010-28 as of

January 2011 which did not have material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations

As of December 31 2011 the following accounting standards and interpretations were issued but have not yet been adopted by the

Company

Fair Value Measurements In May 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Updates ASU 201 1-04 Fair Value Measurements

Topic 820 Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement andDisclosure Requirements in U.S GAAP and IFRS The ASU

was issued to provide consistent definition of fair value and ensure that the fair value measurement and disclosure requirements are similar

between GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS ASU 2011 04 also expands the disclosures for fair value

measurements that are estimated using significant unobservable Level inputs This new guidance is to be applied prospectively ASU

2011-04 will be effective for the Company beginning January 2012 with early adoption permitted and will be applied prospectively The

Company does not believe that the adoption of this standard will have material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of

operations

Presentation of Comprehensive Income In June 2011 the FASB issued ASU 20 11-05 Comprehensive Income ASC Topic 220
Presentation of Comprehensive Income which amends current comprehensive income guidance This ASU eliminates the option to present

the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of shareholders equity Instead the Company must report

comprehensive income in either single continuous statement of comprehensive income which contains two sections net income and other

comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements ASU 2011-OS will be effective for the Company beginning January
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202 nith early adoption pein tted and will he applied retrospectively Ihe adoption of ASU 2011-05 ill not have material impact on the

Ompany consolidated financial statements as it only requires change in pi wentation

Jesting Goodwillfhs Jinpoiinenl In September 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-08 Jesting Goodwill Joe Impairment which amends

SC 3a0 intangibles Goodwill and Othei fhis update piovides an entity with the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine

hciie is oie likely ther not that the fair salve of reporting urh it less than its carrying amount as basis for determining whether it is

necessary to perform tic wo-stcp goodwill imparment test ASU 20l1-08 will be effective for the Company beginning January 12012 with

early adoption permitted The Company does not believe that the adoption of this standard will have material impact on its consolidated

financial position or results of operations

Acquisitions

Acqui.sition of EDC

On June 19 2011 the Company signed definitive agreement to acquire all of the outstanding securities of EDC ATM Subsidiary LLC
and Efmark Deployment Inc collectively referred to as EDC from EDC Holding Company LLC for approximately 145.0 million in

cash On July 25 2011 the Company completed this acquisition through borrowings under its amended credit facility

As result of the acquisition the Company added over 3600 ATMs across 47 states with the majority of the machines located in high.

traffic convenience store locations In addition many of the EDC ATMs were under contract with financial institutions to carry their brand

and logo on the ATM which has further enhanced the Companys surcharge-free product offerings

The results of operations of the acquired EDC portfolio have been included in the Companys consolidated statement of operations

subsequent to the July 25 2011 acquisition date Revenue of $26.5 million and earnings of approximately $0.1 million were included in the

year ended December 31 2011 The estimated earnings since acquisition includes approximately 81 million in acquisition-related expenses

incurred during the year

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date amounts
in thousands The total purchase consideration was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed including identifiable intangible

assets based on their respective fair values at the date of acquisition Such allocation resulted in goodwill of approximately $104.1 million

which has been assigned to the Companys domestic reporting segment and is primarily attributable to expected synergies Of this amount

$57 million is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes

Casb and cash equivalea 3j
Accounts and notes receivable 741

Inventory

Prepaid expenses
deferred costs and other current assets 1297

Property and eqt.ipnJent

Intangible assets 46000

Goodwill IO4
Other assets

Total wagts acquired
__________

Accounts payable 4465
Accrued liabilities 4200

Aswt rebrefnent obigations

Deferred tax liability net 5755

Other long-tofu liabilities 45111

otal liabilities assumed 20762

Net assets acquired 145000

The fair values of intangible assets acquired were determined by utili7ing discounted cash flow approach with the assistance of an

independent appraisal firm The intangible assets acquired as part of the EDC acquisition arc being amortized on straight-line basis and

rnmcQt fl titC mum
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CotOlJ ehtract

Bank branding contracts

NcQmpte agemeht
Total

Fair Values

in thousands

11200

46000

Useful Lives

41 years

ya1a

Weighted Average Period

Before Next Renewal

3.8 years

Pro Forma Results of Operations

Pro forma earnings per share basic

tu onpa ugxpqi gharr 4uted

2011 2010

In thousands

66270 44082

The following table presents the unaudited pro forma combined results of operations of the Company and the acquired EDC portfolios for

the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 after giving effect to certain pro forma adjustments including elimination of intercompany

transactions prior to the consummation of EDC into the Company ii amortization of acquired intangible assets and unfavorable contract

liabilities assumed iii the impact of certain faii value adjustments such as depreciation on the acquired property and equipment and iv

interest expense adjustment for historical long-term debt of EDC that was repaid and interest expense on additional borrowings by the

Company to fund the acquisition

Net

Net income attributable to controlling interests and available to common stockholders

1.57 1.09

1.$ LGI

The unaudited pro forma financial results do not reflect the impact of the other acquisitions consummated by the Company in 2011 see

further details below in Other Acquisitions as the impact from these acquisitions would not be material to its condensed consolidated results

of operations The unaudited pro
forma financial results assume that the acquisition occurred on January 2010 and are not necessarily

indicative of the actual results that would have occurred had those transactions been completed on that date Furthermore it does not reflect

the impacts of any potential operating efficiencies savings from expected synergies or costs to integrate the operations The unaudited pro

forma financial results are not necessarily indicative of the future results to be expected for the consolidated operations

Other Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company completed three other business combinations that were not material individually

or in the aggregate

On August 2011 the Company acquired LocatorSearch LLC provider of location search technology deployed by financial

institutions to help customers and members find the nearest most appropriate and convenient ATM location based on the service they seek

On October 28 2011 the Company acquired Mr Cash ATM Network Inc Mr Cash privately-held company with

approximately 600 ATMs across Canada With its acquisition of Mr Cash the Company expanded its international presence into Canada

On November 2011 the Company completed the acquisition of Access to Money Inc Access to Money pursuant to the

Agreement and Plan of Merger that was previously announced on August 15 2011 Access to Money operated approximately 10000 ATMs

across all 50 states with the majority of those ATMs owned by the merchant operating the store in which the ATM is located In addition to

the cash consideration at closing the Company may pay certain deferred contingent consideration up to maximum of $5.25 million to

former subordinated debt holder of Access to Money over the next four years if certain post-acquisition performance metrics are achieved

The purchase price paid for these business combinations net of cash acquired aggregated to approximately $29.1 million including

approximately $3.5 million in contingent consideration which was recorded on discounted present value basis Purchased identifiable finite

lived intangible assets related to these acquisitions totaled approximately $6.7 million and will be amortized on straight-line basis over

weighted-average life of 62 years lives ranging from to years Total goodwill related to these acquisitions was approximately $2.9

million The results of operations for all acquired businesses have been included in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of

operations from the dates of acquisition Pro forma information for the above three acquisitions is not provided because they did not have

material effect on the Companys consolidated results of operations
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Stock Based Compensation

As noted in Note 11 Stock-Based Compensation if Company accounts for its stock-based compensation by recognizing the grant date

fair value of stock-based awards net of estimated forfeitures as compensation expense on straight-line basis over the underlying requisite

service periods of the related awards The following table reflects the total stock-based compensation expense amounts included in the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations

2011 2010 2009

fn thousands

Cost of ATM operatind revcnues 903 79$

Selling general and administrative
expenses 8421 5284 3822

Total tooiobaed qompoqsattqn espepta $4 7i
The increase in stock-based compensation expense in 2011 compared to 2010 and 2009 was due to the issuance of additional shares of

restricted stock awards RSAs and restricted stock units RSEJs to certain of the Companys employees and directors during 2011 All

grants during the periods above were granted under the Companys Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Incentive Plan discussed below

During the first quarter of 2011 the Company granted RSUs under the Companys 2011 Long Term Incentive Plan the 2011 LTIP
which is an equity program under the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan base pool of27341 RSUs has been set aside for the 2011 LTIP From

this amount the Compensation Committee of the Companys Board of Directors the Committee granted RSUs totaling 264750 which

could result in the issuance of up to 546822 shares of common stock in the future depending on the Companys achievement of certain

performance levels during calendar year 2011 The fair value of single RSU granted under the 2011 LTIP was $16.82 on the date of the

grant These grants have both performance-based and service-based vesting schedule accordingly the number of RSUs potentially earned

by an individual will be based on the level of performance achieved during calendar year 2011 Once the performance-based vesting

requirements are determined to be met by the Committee the RSUs will be earned by the individual and will vest 50% on the second

anniversary of the grant date and 25 each on the third and fourth anniversaries of the grant date Although the RSUs were not be considered

earned and outstanding until at least the minimum perfonriance metrics were met the Company recognized the related compensation expense
over the requisite service period using graded vesting methodology As of December 31 2011 compensation expense for the achievement

of maximum performance level 200% of the granted and non-forfeited RSUs was recognized as management had determined that the

corresponding performance levels during calendar year 2011 had been met

Stock-Based Compensation Plans The Company currently has two long-term incentive plans the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan the 2007

Plan and the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan the 2001 Plan The purpose of each of these plans is to provide members of the Companys
Board of Directors and employees of the Company and its affiliates additional incentive and reward opportunities designed to enhance the

profitable growth of the Company and its affiliates Equity grants awarded under these plans generally vest ratably over four years based on

continued employment and expire 10 years from the date of grant

2007 Plan In August 2007 the Companys Board of Directors and the stockholders of the Company approved the 2007 Plan The

adoption approval and effectiveness of this plan were contingent upon the successful completion of the Companys initial public offering

which occurred in December 2007 The 2007 Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options intended to qualify under Section 422

of the Internal Revenue Code options that do not constitute incentive stock options restricted stock awards phantom stock awards restricted

stock units bonus stock awards performance awards and annual incentive awards The number of shares of common stock that may be

issued under the 2007 Plan may not exceed 5179 393 shares which was increased by 2000000 shares from 3179393 shares at the

Companys 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on June 15 2010 The shares issued under the 2007 Plan are subject to further

adjustment to reflect stock dividends stock splits recapitalizations and similar changes in the Companys capital structure As of

December 31 2011 416500 options and 2855890 shares of restricted stock net of cancellations had been granted under the 2007 Plan

2001 Plan In June 2001 the Companys Board of Directors adopted the 2001 Plan which was subsequently amended for various reasons

As result of the adoption of the 2007 Plan at the direction of the Board of Directors no further awards will be granted under the Company
2001 Plan As of December 31 2011 options to purchase an aggregate of 6438172 shares of common stock net of options cancelled had

been granted pursuant to the 2001 Plan all of which the Company considered as non-qualified stock options and options to purchase

5225812 shares of common stock had been exercised

Stock Options The following table is summary of the Companys stock option ti ansactions for the year ended December 31 2011



Aggregate Weighted

Weighted Intrinsic Average

Number Average Value Remaining

of Shares Exercise Price ousans Contractual Term

Optku dutstaatding annfJanuar 2frt 212O05
Exercised 1207555 9.64

Fqirt _J2
Options outstanding as of December 31 2011 1281950 973 22617 4.26 years

Options vested and exercisable as of December31 2011 1192200 9.89 20850 4.01 years

Options exercised during the years ended December 31 20112010 and 2009 had total intrinsic value of approximately $15.1 million

$11 .3 million and $2.3 million respectively which resulted in tax benefits to the Company of approximately $5.3 million $3.9 million and

$0.8 million respectively However because the Company is currently in net operating loss carryforward position such benefits have not

been reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements The cash received by the Company as result of option exercises was

$11.4 million $7.4 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively The Company handles

stock option exercises and other stock grants through the issuance of new common shares

oiraicAsuinpSIo The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value options which requires the input of

certain subjective assumptions including the expected life of the options risk-free interest rate dividend rate an estimated forfeiture rate

and the future volatility of the Companys common equity These assumptions are based on managements best estimate at the time of grant

There were no options granted in 2011 Listed below are the assumptions utilized in the fair value calculations for options issued during 2010

and 2009

2010 2009

Wcjglitqikaveragu eatiitatd fair value per stocit optiog granted $5.50

Valuation assumptions

Expecd Oiflt1 term iii YeaS 6.25

Expected volatility
46.5% 50.0% 49.5% 53.3%

Expected dividend yield
fkOO% 00Q%

Risk-free interest rate 2.7% 3.0% 2.3% 3.0%

The expected option term of 6.25 years was determined based on the simplified method outlined in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin

SAB No 107 as issued by the SEC This method is based on the vesting period and the contractual term for each grant and is calculated

by taking the average of the expiration date and the vesting period for each vesting tranche In the future as information regarding its exercise

history becomes more available the Company will consider changing this method of deriving the expected term Such change could impact

the fair value of options granted in the future Due to the lack of historical data regarding exercise history the Company will continue to

utilize the simplified method outlined in SAB No 107 as permitted by SAB No 110 The estimated forfeiture rates utilized by the Company

are based on the Companys historical option forfeiture rates and represent the Companys best estimate of future forfeiture rates The

Company periodically monitors the level of actual forfeitures to determine if such estimate should be modified prospectively as well as

adjust the compensation expense previously recorded

Prior to December 2007 the Companys common stock was not publicly-traded and the historical transactions involving the Companys

privately-held equity were limited and infrequent in nature As result the expected volatility factors utilized were determined based on

combination of historical volatility rates for certain companies with publicly-traded equity that operate in the same or related businesses as

that of the Company as well as for the Company itself which was included in the calculation beginning in 2010 since there was sufficient

history since its stock became publicly traded The volatility factors utilized represent the simple average of the historical daily volatility rates

obtained for each company within the designated peer group including the Company itself over multiple periods of time up to and including

period of time commensurate with the expected option term discussed above The Company believes that the volatility rate calculations

which are based on combination of its own historical volatility rates along with its peer groups rates represent reasonable estimates of the

Companys expected future volatility Until there is adequate historical information to determine the volatility of its common stock solely

based on its own common stock the Company will continue to utilize volatility factors based on combination of its own stock and its peer

group

The expected dividend yield was assumed to be zero as the Company has not historically paid and does not anticipate paying dividends

with respect to its common equity The risk-free interest rates reflect the rates in effect as of the grant dates for U.S treasury securities with

term similar to that of the expected option term referenced above
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Non-Vested Stock Options The following table is summary of the status of the Companys non-vested stock options as of December 31
2011 and changes during the year ended December 31 2011

ofitd 00 12
/// // \/

Non tion emb 2011 89

of Dec mber 2011 th wa $0.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted

the om ny quity ii plans That cost is expected to be recognized on straight-line basis over remaining weighted
av age stng iod of ap mteiy 1.7 years The total fair value of options that vested during the year ended December 31 2011 was
0.8 million and in ach th ears ended December 31 2010 and 2009 was $1.5 million Compensation expense recognized related to

stock options otaled app ima ely $0.5 million $1.1 million and $1 .5 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively

Restricted Share Awards summary of the Companys outstanding RSAs as of December 31 2011 and changes during the year ended

December 31 2011 are presented below

Number
of Shares

Gran ed
143 00

eited 27 500
I/ /i11

During 2011 the Company granted 143200 RSAs to certain employees and directors These shares the majority of which represent
shares that will vest ratably over four-year service period had total grant-date fair value of $3.3 million or weighted-average of $23.13

per share The total fair value of RSAs that vested during the years ended December 31 20112010 and 2009 was $5.7 million $3.1 million

and $3.6 million respectively Compensation expense associated with the RSA grants totaled approximately $5.9 million $4.9 million and

$3.1 million during 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively and based upon managements estimates of forfeitures there was approximately $9.5

million of unrecognized compensation cost associated with these shares as of December 31 2011 which will be recognized on straight-line

basis over remaining weighted-average vesting period of approximately 25 years

Earnings per Share

The Company reports its earnings per share under the two-class method Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the calculation

of diluted earnings per share as well as their related income statement impacts when their impact on net income available to common
stockholders is anti-dilutive Dilutive securities were included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended December

31 2011 2010 and 2009 as the Company reported net income for these years

Additionally the shares of restricted stock issued by the Company have non-forfeitable right to cash dividends if and when declared by
the Company Accordingly such restricted shares are considered to be participating securities and as such the Company has allocated the

undistributed earnings for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 among the Companys outstanding common shares and issued

but unvested restricted shares as follows
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Earnings per Share in thousands excluding share and per share amounts

Net income attributab to controlling interes and available to

common stockholders 70233

Net income available to common tockholders 67 607 42 201491 160

Effect of dilutive securities

Stock options added to the denominator under the treasury stock

method 685289

Net income available common stockholde and assumed

conversions 67647 42886780 1.58

eg egt
ea Av 11 gs

Saes es

sad Co tsa

Net income available to common stockholders

and assumed conversions 39423

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 excluded 501331 shares

476162 shares and 37348 shares respectively of potentially dilutive common shares related to restricted stock because the effect would

have been anti-dilutive

Related Party Transactions

The CapStreet Group Fred Lummis the former Chairman of the Companys Board of Directors is senior advisor to The CapStreet

Group LLC the ultimate general partner of CapStreet II L.P and CapStreet Parallel II L.P which did not own any of the Companys

outstanding common stock as of December 31 2011 but was major shareholder through the first half of 2010 From March 17 2009 to

February 2010 Mr Lummis served as the Companys interim Chief Executive Officer for which the Board awarded him one-time

payment of $250000 in 2010

2011

Weighted Average

Shares Outstanding

Earnings Per

Share

Net income attributable to controlling interests

anda

Net income available to common stockholders 3939 40347194 0.98

Stock options added to tne denominator under

41059381 0.96 5100 39896366 0.13
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Jorge Diaz member of the Companys Board of Directors is the Division President and Chief Executive Officer of Fiserv Output

Solutions division of Fiserv Inc During the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 Fiserv provided the Company with third-

party services during the normal course of business including transaction processing network hosting network sponsorship maintenance

cash management and cash replenishment During the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 amounts paid to Fiserv represented

approximately 1.7% and 6.1% respectively of the Companys total cost of revenues and selling general and administrative expenses The

amount paid to Fiserv in 2011 was immaterial

Bansi an entity that owns noncontrolling interest in the Companys subsidiary Cardtronics Mexico provides various ATM management
services to Cardtronics Mexico in the normal course of business including serving as the vault cash provider bank sponsor as well as

providing other miscellaneous services Amounts paid to Bansi represented approximately 1.0% and 0.8% of the Companys total cost of

revenues and selling general and administrative expenses for the
years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively The amount paid

to Bansi in 2011 was immaterial

Property and Equipment net

The following is summary of the components of property and equipment as of December 31 2011 and 2010

2011 2010

In thousands

Office rn ure es and other 52675 43 677

ss accumulat depreciatio 171104 134833

The property and equipment balances nclude deployments in rocess as iscus in Note 1h Property and Equipment Net of

$144 million and $4.8 mllion as of Dec mber 31 20 and 2010 espectiv ly

Intangible Assets with IndefInite Lives Tl lb ing table depicts the nct ca ryng ount of the Companys in angible assets with

indefini lives as of cembe 2009 2010 and 2011 as well as he changes the carrying amounts for the yea ended

ecember3l2OlOan 2011 bys gm nt

US Ton

In thousands

oss balance 150461 63994 714 215169

150461 13991 65166

Fo eign currency translation adjustments 601 608

ross balance 150461 63393 707 4561

150461 13390 707 164558

Acqui itions 05004 2044 107 048

Gross lance 255465 63 364 2736 321565

255465 13361 2736 271562
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Foreign currency translation adjustments

ts of nabfi/1 2G
Foreign currency translation adjustments

hde oD exnber 21

Trade Name

U.S UK
In thousands

2Q0 3243

_______

Total

344
138

3305

Intangible Assets with Definite Lives The following is summary of the Companys intangible assets that are subject to amortization as of

December 31 201 as well as the weighted average remaining amortization period

Cu8tti twd brartditg tilrlttthipa
Deferred financing costs

Eiuiv Iiets agrittnls

Non-comjete agreements

Weighted Average

Remaining

Amortization Period

59
5.8

2.4

Gross

Carrying

Amount

21l1OF

9169

1981

228$%7

Accumulated

Amortization

In thousands

3479
4844

37622

Net

Carrying

Amount

9928
5690

725

1605

108

The majority of the Companys intangible assets with definite lives are being amortized over the assets estimated useful lives utilizing the

straight-line method Estimated useful lives range from four to ten years for customer and branding contracts/relationships two to eight years

for exclusive license agreements and two to four years for non-compete agreements Deferred financing costs are amortized through interest

expense over the contractual term of the underlying borrowings utilizing the effective interest method The Company periodically reviews the

estimated useful lives of its identifiable intangible assets taking into consideration any events or circumstances that might result in

reduction in fair value or revision of those estimated useful lives

Amortization of customer and branding contracts/relationships exclusive license agreements and non-compete agreements including

impairment charges totaled $17.9 million $15.5 million and $18.9 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively The Company recorded approximately $0.1 million $0.2 million and $1.2 million in additional amortization expense during the

years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively related to the impairments of certain previously acquired merchant

contract/relationship intangible assets associated with its United States reporting segment The $1.2 million impairment charge recorded in

2009 related to the unamortized intangible asset associated with one of the Companys merchants which was acquired by the Companys

United States reporting segment in 2005 The impairment resulted from higher-than-anticipated attrition of sites in this portfolio stemming

from the merchants decision to divest of the majority of its domestic retail locations Although this merchant announced its divestiture

program in 2007 it was not until the fourth quarter of 2009 that the full impact of the sales and attrition was evident As result of the

anticipated reduction in future cash flows from the portfolio the Company concluded in the fourth quarter of 2009 that an impairment of the

related contract intangible asset was warranted It should be noted that the Company received one-time payment from this merchant in May

2009 totaling $0.8 million relating to certain divestitures made by the merchant in prior periods At the time it was determined that the future

cash flows under the remaining portfolio of ATMs would be sufficient to recover the canying value of the related tangible and intangible

assets Accordingly such amount was recorded as other income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations As such the

net amount impacting the Companys consolidated results in 2009 totaled $0.4 million

Amortization of deferred financing costs and bond discounts totaled $1.0 million $2.0 million and $2.4 million for the years
ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively
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Estimated amortization exp ruse for the Companys in angible assets with definite lives for each of the next Eve years rud thereafter is as

follows

Customer and

Branding Exclusive

Contracts Deferred License son-Compete

Reionshis ncin Costs gfents gents Total

In thousands

2012 19433 895 770 774 21872

18814 930 509 537 20790
2014 17314 969 185 207 18675
2035 15230 1011 172 57 l6520
2016 11555 829 58 12442

Thorqaex 16919 3056 31 18006
Total 99285 5690 1725 1605 108305

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

The following is summary of prepaid expenses deferred costs and other assets as of December 31 2011 and 2010

2011 2910

In thousands
eparpeJtat DeferrdCa and omqr Gwiea4eLc

Piepaid expenses 8806 7696
1d 606 834

Deferred costs and other current assets 3644 1692

2639

3822

re aid ExpMef Thtferred Cas aaOaidr Nan-Currmu AAets
Prepaid expenses

Defbtr4

Other

ToZgl

16313

20774

The $16.3 million of other non-current assets as of December 31 2011 includes $16.2 million recorded for an insurance

receivable related to the loss sustained as result of the misappropriation of cash in February 2010 by the president and principal owner of

Mount Vernon Money Center MVMCone of the Companys former third-party armored service providers in the Northeast United

States

In February 2010 the Company reported oss under its own cash insurance policy related to the cash misappropriated by MVMC In

May 2011 the Companys supplier of the vault cash at issue demanded repayment from the Company for the $16.2 million that MVMC had

misappropriated The Company subsequently repaid this amount to the vault cash provider through boirowing under its revolving credit

facility Initially the Companys insurance provider indicated that any otherwise unreimbursed portions of the $16.2 million loss would

ultimately be recoverable under the cash insurance policy As result of making the repayment to the vault cash provider the Company
recorded receivable currently classified as non-current as the Company expected to receive full reimbursement of the amount of

misappropriated cash In March 2011 the Company filed formal insurance claim with its mnsurcr seeking meimbursement of the $16.2

million In November of 2011 the Company filed lawsuit against its insurer seeking to expedite the repayment of the Companys loss In

Januaiy 2012 thc inwL flicd gelicmal denial along with certain affirmative defenses Subsequent to December 31 2011 the ompany was
notified by the government receiver overseeing the seized assets that it would receive distribution of $2.8 million representing pro rata

allocation of the seized assets by the government This payment which the Company received in February 2012 will reduce this non-current

receivable balance Whi1e it is uncertain as to the timing of the recovery of the remainder of the asset the Company believes that it is

probable that the Company will be able to fully recover the $16.2 million currently recorded as non-current receivable as of December 31
2011 Events continue to develop in the pending litigation with its inherent uncertainties and as result the timnig ot recovery and the

ultiinatt amount recovered may differ from current expectations

576

2639
624
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Accrued Liabilities

The Companys accrued liabilities include accrued merchant fees and other monies owed to merchants interest payments compensation

maintenance costs and cash management fees Other accrued expenses include professiona services sales and property taxes marketing

costs and other miscellaneous charges The following is summary of the Companys accrued liabilities as of December 31 2011 and 2010

2011 2010

In thousands

ccrued compensation
991 038

Accrued mt rest pense
5709 740

Accru merchant settleme amounts 739 4583

Accrued mt rest rate wap pay nents 2034 199

Ace ed tel ommu ica 10 costs 1161 1402

Other accrued cx enses 12874 894

774

Te

The following is summary of the Companys long tenn bt as of December 2011 and 2010

In thousands

000
Revolving credit faclity including ing line dit facility weighted average

combinad ate of 2.7% nd 3.1% as of Decembe 31 2011 an 2010

respectively
166 000 46200

Total 70949 254833

Total long-tern debt excluding current portion 368632 251757

Financing Facilities

Revolving Credit Facility The Company revolving credit facility entered into on July 15 2010 provides for $250 million in

borrowings and letters of credit subject to the covenants contained within the facility has termination date of July 2016 and contains

feature that allows the Company to expand the facility up to $325.0 million subject to the availability of additional bank commitments by

existing or new syndicate participants The current borrowing capacity and termination date were modified on July 25 2011 concurrent with

the closing of the acquisition of the EDC ATM business at which time we borrowed an additional $145 million to fund the acquisition The

amendment also modified the pricing for borrowings and undrawn commitments under the facility both of which continue to be variable

dependent upon the Companys total leverage ratio Finally the amendment changed certain other covenants in manner that are generally

more favorable to the Company

This revolving credit facility includes $15.0 million swing line facility $60.0 million foreign currency sub-limit and $20.0 million

letter of credit sub-limit Borrowings under the facility bear interest at variable rate based upon the Companys total leverage ratio and the

London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR or Alternative Base Rate as defined in the agreement at the Companys option Additionally the

Company is required to pay commitment fee on the unused portion of the revolving credit facility Substantially all of the Companys assets

including the stock of its wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries and 66% of the stock of its foreign subsidiaries are pledged to secure

borrowings made under the revolving credit facility Furthermore each of the Companys domestic subsidiaries has guaranteed the

Companys obligations under such facility There are currently no restrictions on the ability of the Companys wholly-owned subsidiaries to

declare and
pay dividends directly to us

87



Fhe primary restriciive covenants within the facthty include limitations on the amount of senior debt and total debt that he Company
can have outstanding at any givm poirt in time and ii the maintenance of sd ratio of earnings to fixed charges as computed quarterly on

trailing 12-month basis Additionally the Company is limited on thc amount of restricted payments including dividends which it can make

pursuant to the terms of the facility fhese limitations are generally governed by senior leverage ratio test and the existing fixed charge ratio

covenant

The failure to comply with the covenants will constitute an event of default subject in the case of certain covenants to applicable notice

and/or cure periods under the agreement Other events of default undei the agreement include among other things the failure to timely

pay principal interest fees or other amounts due and owing ii the inaccuracy of representations or warranties in any matcnal respect ni
the occurrence of certain bankruptcy or insolvency cvents iv loss of lien perfcction or priority and the occurrence of change in

control The occurrence and continuance of an event of default could result in among other things termination of the lenders commitments

and acceleration of all amounts outstanding The Companys obligations under the credit agreement are guaranteed by certain of the

Companys existing and futurc domestic subsidiaries subject to certain limitations In addition the Companys obligations under the

agreemcnt subject to certain exceptions are secured on first-priority basis by liens on substantially all of the tangible and intangible assets

of the Company and the guarantors As of Decembcr 31 2011 the Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants and ratios

under the facility

As of December31 2011 $166.0 million was outstanding under the revolving credit facility Additionally the Company has posted $2.0

million letter of credit serving to secure the overdraft facility of its United Kingdom subsidiary further discussed below This letter of credit

which the applicable third-party may draw upon in the event the Company defaults on the related obligations reduces the Company

borrowing capacity under the facility As of December 31 2011 the Companys available borrowing capacity under the amended facility

totaled approximately $82.0 million

Termination of Previous Credit Facility Concurrent with entering into its current revolving credit facility on July 15 2010 the Company
terminated its previous $175.0 million revolving credit facility under which no amounts were outstanding as of the date of the termination

No material termination fees or penalties were incurred by the Company in connection with the termination of the previously-existing credit

facility which was due to mature in May 2012 However the Company recorded $0.4 million prc-tax charge during the third quarter of

2010 to write off certain deferred financing costs associated w1th the previous facility which is included ill the Write-off of deferred

financing costs and bond discounts line item in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations

Redemption of $100.0 Million Senior Subordinated Notes Series On July 21 2010 the Company issued Notice of Redemption for

its $100.0 million 9.25% senior subordinated notes Series the Series Notes which were redeemed on August 20 2010 at price of

102.313% of the principal amount plus accrued but unpaid interest through August 20 2010 The redemption of the Series Notes was

funded with approximately $35.0 million of available cash on hand and $65 million of borrowings under the Companys revolving credit

facility discussed above In connection with the redemption the Company recorded $3 million pre-tax charge during the third quarter of

2010 to write off the remaining unamortized original issue discount and deferred financing costs associated with the Series Notes and

$2.3 million pre-tax charge related to the call premium which are included in the Write-off of deferred financing costs and bond discounts

and the Redemption costs for early extinguishment of debt line items respectively in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of

Operations

Redemption of $200.0 Million Senior Subordinated Notes Series On August 12 2010 the Company commenced tender offer for its

$200.0 million 25% senior subordinated notes the Series Notes of which approximately $97.8 million were tendered by August 25
2010 at the tender offer price of 102563% of the principal amount plus accrued but unpaid interest through September 92010 The

remaining $102.2 million of the Series Notes were redeemed on September 27 2010 pursuant to Notice of Redemption at price of

102.313% of the principal amount plus accrued but unpaid interest through September 27 2010 The redemption of the Series Notes was

funded with proceeds from the Companys issuance of $200.0 million 8.25 senior subordinated notes due 2018 discussed below and

borrowings under the Companys credit facility In connection with the tender offer and the redemption the Company recorded $3.7

millionpre-tax charge during the third quarter of 2010 to write off the remaining unamortized original issue discount and deferred financing

costs associated with the Series Notes and $4.9 million pre-tax charge related to the call premium which are included in the Write-off of

deferred financing costs and bond discounts and the Redemptioi costs for early extinguishnient odebt line items lespectisely ill the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations

Issuance of $200.0 Million 8.25% Senior Subordinated Notes Due 2018 In August 2010 concurrent with the commencement of the tender

offer for its Series Notes the Company launched public offering of and priced $200.0 million 8.25% senior subordinated notes due

September 2018 the 2018 Notes The 2018 Notes were issued at par and the proceeds from the offering were used to fund the redemption

of the Series Notes discussed above Interest under the 2018 Notes is paid semi-annually in arrears on March 1st and September 1st of

each year The 2018 Notes which are guaranteed by the Companys domestic subsidiaries contain no maintenance covenants and only

limited incurrenee covenants under which the Company has considerable flexibility Additionally the Company is limited on the amount of

restricted payments including dividends which it can make pursuant to the terms of the indenture These limitations are generally governed
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by fixed charge ratio incurrence test and an overall restricted payments basket As of December 31 2011 the Company was in compliance

with all applicable covenants required under the 2018 Notes

Other Facilities In addition to the above the Company has the following financing facilities

Bank Machine overdraft facility In addition to Cardtronics Inc.s $250.0 million revolving credit facility Bank Machine has

1.0 million overdraft facility Such facility which bears interest at 10% over the banks base rate 0.5% as of December 31

2011 and is secured by letter of credit posted under the Companys revolving credit facility as discussed above in the Revolving

Credit Facility section is utilized for general corporate purposes for the Companys United Kingdom operations As of

December 31 2011 there was approximately 136000 $0.2 million U.S outstanding under this overdraft facility which had

been utilized to help fund certain working capital commitments Amounts outstanding under the overdraft facility are reflected in

accounts payable in the Company Consolidated Balance Sheets as these amounts are automatically repaid once cash deposits are

made to the underlying bank accounts

Cardtronics Mexico eciuipment financing agreements Between 2007 and 2010 Cardtronics Mexico entered into nine separate

five-year equipment financing agreements with single lender These agreements which are denominated in pesos and bear

interest at an average fixed rate of 10.27% were utilized for the purchase of additional ATMs to support the Companys Mexico

operations As of December 31 2011 approximately $68.8 million pesos $4.9 million U.S were outstanding under the

agreements with any future borrowings to be individually negotiated between the lender and Cardtronics Mexico Pursuant to the

terms of the loan agreements the Company has issued guarantees for 51 .0% of the obligations under this agreement consistent

with its ownership percentage in Cardtronics Mexico As of December 31 2011 the total amount of the guarantees was

$35.1 million pesos $2.5 million U.S.

Debt Maturities

Aggregate maturities of the principal amounts of the Companys long-term debt as of December 31 2011 were as follows in thousands

for the years indicated

/7
///\/

20 1363

2015 37

///

Thereafte 200 000

11 Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligations consist primarily of deinstallation costs of the Companys ATMs and the costs to restore the merchants site to

its original condition In most cases the Company is contractually required to perform this deinstallation and restoration work For each

group of ATMs the Company has recognized the fair value of liability for an asset retirement obligation and capitalized that cost as part of

the cost basis of the related asset The related assets are being depreciated on straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives and the

related liabilities are being accreted to their full value over the same period of time
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he follon ing is summary of the changes the Company isset ietirement obligation liability for the years ended December31 201

and 2010

2011
___________________

In thousands

26657

8680

246

2161
647
258

___________

347

The change in estimate during 2011 was the result of updating certain cost assumptions based on the actual deinstallation costs

experienced by the Company during the year In the United States recent actual costs incurred were lower than the previously-estimated

costs and as result the Company determined that the liability should be reduced by approximately $2.0 million to account for the lower

costs incurred to date and to reduce estimated ftiturc costs In the United Kingdom actual recent costs were higher than the previously-

estimated costs and as result the Company determined that the liability should be increased by approximately $1.3 million to account for

higher expected costs in the future See Note /7 Fair Value Measurements for additional disclosures on the Companys asset retiiement

obligations with respect to its fair value measurements

12 Other Liabilities

The following is summary of the components of the Companys other liabilities as of December 31 2011 and 2010

23637

1446

Current PorIia qf 0/bet Long-Term Liabilities

Interest rate swaps

Delbired revenun

Other

Total

Oong-TentaLiabiiities
Interest rate swaps

Obligations associated with acquired unfavorable cataracts

Deferred revenue

Other

Total

47423

3341

1248

48S7

56877

25J01

The significant increase in the non-current portion of other long-term liabilities since December 31 2010 is attributable to the Companys

interest rate swaps the liabilities for which increased due to movement in the forward interest rate curves particularly for the swaps recently

entered into that extend through 2016 which resulted in an increase in the Companys estimated future liabilities under such contracts See

Note 16 Derivative Financial Instruments for additional information on the Companys interest rate swaps Additionally $5.2 million in

obligations associated with acquired unfavorable contracts were iecorded during the year related to acquisitions completed during 2011

which are being amortized over the remaining terms of the respective unfavorable contracts See Note Acquisitions for additional

information on the acquisitions made during 201

Common and Preferred Stock The Company is authorized to issue l25000000 shares of common stock of which 43 999443 and

42 833342 shares were outstanding as of December 2011 and 2010 iespectively Additionally the Company is authorized to issue

10 000 000 shares of preferred stock of which no shares were outstanding as of December 31 2011 and 2010

Thc omnany sponsors dcfincd contribution retirement pinns for its employees the principal plan being the 40ik plan which is offered

to its employees in the United States During 201 the Company matched 5000 of employee contiibutions up to 3.0c of the employees
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13 Capit Stock

14 Employee Benefits

Asset rcttrenwnt obligation as of beginning period

Additional obligations

Accreliort enpense

Payments

Change in estimates

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Asset retmreinent obligatton as of etid of period

2010

241103

4824

2598

3262
l236

2fu657

2011 2010

In thousands

22955

1050

26

19831

1591

1963

23385



salary for maximum matching contribution of 1.5% of the employees salary by the Company Employees immediately vest in their

contributions while the Companys matching contributions vest at rate of 20% per year The Company also sponsors similar plan for its

employees in the United Kingdom The Company contributed $0.4 million $0.3 million and $0.3 million to the defined contribution benefit

plans for the years
ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

15 Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Matters

Automated Transactions On August 16 2010 lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware entitled

Automated Transactions LLC IYG Holding Co et al 10 Civ 0691 Del the 2010 Lawsuit The 2010 Lawsuit names the

Companys wholly-owned subsidiary Cardtronics USA Inc as one of the defendants The 2010 Lawsuit alleges that the Companys

subsidiary and the other defendants have infringed seven of the plaintiffs patents by providing retail transactions to consumers through their

ATMs The plaintiff is seeking permanent injunction damages treble damages and costs including attorneys fees and
expenses

The

allegations raised by the plaintiff in this suit are similar to the allegations made by the same plaintiff in suit filed in 2006 against 7-Eleven

Inc the 2006 Lawsuit concerning six of the same seven patents In July 2007 when the Company acquired the 7-Eleven portfolio the

Company became subject to the 2006 Lawsuit the ATM supplier in that case agreed to indenmify 7-Eleven Inc against the plaintiffs claims

That indemnity was assigned by 7-Eleven to the Company and the supplier acknowledged that assignment

The Company has stated its belief that it had meritorious defenses to the plaintiffs claims in the 2010 Lawsuit and the 2006 Lawsuit and

that upon agreement of all parties involved in this matter the Court agreed to stay the 2010 Lawsuit until resolution of the major issues

involved in the 2006 Lawsuit In addition on January 28 2011 the United States Patent and Trademark Office USPTO Board of Patent

Appeals and Interferences BPAI issued decision affirming the rejection on the grounds of obviousness of all the claims of one of the

patents asserted by the plaintiff in both the 2006 and 2010 Lawsuits The plaintiff has appealed this decision to the U.S Court of Appeals for

the Federal Circuit

Following motion for summary judgment filed by the Company and the other co-defendants collectively the Defendants in the 2006

case on March 2011 the Court ruled in favor of the Defendants with respect to the infringement issues the March 9th Decision The

Court found that the Defendants did not infringe the claims asserted in any of the plaintiffs five patents the allegations as to the sixth patent

having been dismissed earlier In addition the Court granted the Defendants partial summary judgment that the plaintiffs patent claims

were in part invalid and rendered other findings so as to materially weaken the plaintiffs case On June 92011 the Court entered final

judgment with respect to these rulings the Judgment on less than all the claims and defenses On July 2011 the plaintiff filed Notice

of Appeal of the Judgment and the underlying Decision to the U.S Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit The parties also stipulated to

continue the stay of the 2010 case until after decision on the appeal Regardless of the outcome of the appeal the Company has asserted

additional grounds of invalidity which would have to be determined by the district court before the plaintiff could be successful If affirmed

on appeal the Judgment and March Decision will effectively terminate the 2006 Lawsuit in favor of the Defendants An affirmance should

also resolve in the Companys favor the plaintiffs claims in the 2010 Lawsuit on the same five patents asserted and ruled in the March 9th

Decision and Judgment and effectively resolve in the Companys favor the claims attempted to be asserted in the 2010 Lawsuit on the seventh

asserted patent The Company also believes it has meritorious defenses in the 2010 Lawsuit to the sixth patent not ruled upon in the 2006

Lawsuit

The Company will continue to vigorously defend itself or have its suppliers defend in the 2006 Lawsuit and in the 2010 Lawsuit if the

stay is lifted If the Judgment and March Decision in the 2006 Lawsuit is modified or reversed on appeal the Company cannot currently

predict the outcome of either lawsuit nor can it predict the amount of time and expense that will be required to resolve these lawsuits An

unfavorable resolution of this litigation could adversely impact the Companys financial condition or results of operation

Regulation EFT networks in the United States are subject to extensive regulations that are applicable to various aspects of the

Companys operations and the operations of other ATM network operators The major source of EFT network regulations is the Electronic

Funds Transfer Act EFTA commonly known as Regulation The federal regulations promulgated under Regulation establish the

basic rights liabilities and responsibilities of consumers who use EFT services and of financial institutions that offer these services

including among other services ATM transactions Generally Regulation requires ATM network operators to provide not only

surcharge notice on the ATM screens but also on the ATM machine itself ii requires the establishment of limits on the consumers liability

for unauthorized use of his or her card iii requires all ATM operators to provide receipts to consumers who use their ATMs and iv
establishes protest procedures for consumers Recently the number of putative class action lawsuits filed nationwide in connection with

Regulation disclosures against various financial institutions and ATM operators alike has increased substantially As of the date of filing

the Company is aware of the following lawsuits that have been filed in federal courts alleging one or more violations of Regulation on

small number of specific ATMs operated by the Company

Cause No 311-md-02245-BEN-BLM Cardtronics TMFee Notice Litigation In the USDC Southern District of
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Cal forniaSan Diego multi-district litigation consolidation of seven cases instituted June 2011
Cause No 11-09838 Chayra et al 7-Eleven Inc In the USDC Central District of California instituted

January 2012
Cause No 11-9960 Thomas Chayra et al GMOil Company et al In the USDC Central District of California

inst ituted January 2012 and

Cause No 11-1511 Shelby Ramsey et al Cardtronics USA Inc et al In the USDC Southern District of Cal ifornia

instituted July 2011

In each of the above cases the plaintiffs allege that one or more of the Companys ATMs were missing notices posted on or near the

ATM itself which plaintiffs allege is violation of EFTA and Regulation and thereby entitles all users of the ATMs to certain statutory

damages provided for within the EFTA regulations In each lawsuit the plaintiffs are seeking an order certifying class-action of previous

users of each of the ATMs at issue statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C 693m costs of suit and attorneys fees and permanent

injunction The Company believes that among other things the plaintiffs are misreading EFTA and thus have not stated valid cause of

action under EFTA and that plaintiffs do not have private right of action for any alleged violations of Regulation Further the Company

believes that certain affirmative defenses provided for by the EFTA and Regulation insulates the Company from liability in each lawsuit In

particular the EFTA and Regulation provide two safe-harbor defenses under the safe harbor defense the ATM operator posted

disclosure notices on each ATM but the notices were removed by someone other than the operator and iiunder the bona fide error

defense the ATM operator has had policies and procedures in place to comply with EFTA and Regulation but an inadvertent violation

occurred notwithstanding those policies and procedures The Company believes that one or both of these defenses insulate the Company from

liability in some or all of these lawsuits The Company believes its defenses to these actions will prevent any of these cases from having

material adverse impact on its business and that none of these currently filed lawsuits either individually or in the aggregate will materially

adversely affect the Companys financial condition or results or operations However if the Companys defenses are not successful these and

other similarly filed lawsuits could adversely impact the Companys financial condition or results of operation

National Federation of the Blind On July 29 2011 the Company received notice of motion for contempt filed against it by the

National Federation of the Blind the Commonwealth of Massachusetts et al the Plaintiffs in the United States District Court for the

District of Massachusetts Civil Action No 03-1 1206-NMG the Motion In the Motion the Plaintiffs allege that the Company has failed

to meet all but one of the requirements set forth in December 2007 settlement agreement as modified in November 2010 the Settlement

Agreement by and between the Company and the Plaintiffs On or about August 25 2011 the Company filed its Cross Motion for

Enforcement of the Settlement Agreement the Cross Motion The Plaintiffs responded to the Companys Cross Motion on or about

September 30 2011 and the Company filed its reply to that response on or about October 21 2011 On December 15 2011 the Court issued

an order requiring the Company to meet the terms of the Settlement Agreement by March 15 2012 or face fine of $50 per ATM per month

for each ATM not in compliance with the Settlement Agreement Since the Company is engaged in concerted effort to ensure that all of its

ATMs are in compliance with both the Settlement Agreement and the substantially revised accessibility rules issued under the American with

Disabilities Act as amended in July 2010 the ADA it is confident that it will complete those efforts by March 15 2012 with respect to

substantially all of its ATMs To the extent that 100% of its ATMs do not comply by March 15 2012 due to technical issues or equipment

delivery schedules the Company believes that it should be able to do so within few weeks following March 15 2012 and therefore the

Company does not anticipate that the outcome of this matter will have material adverse effect upon its financial condition or results of

operations

In addition to the above items the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of its

business The Company has provided reserves where necessary for all claims and the Companys management does not expect the outcome in

any of these legal proceedings individually or collectively to have material adverse impact on the Companys financial condition or results

of operations Additionally the Company currently expenses all legal costs as they are incurred

Regulatory Matters

Change in Mexico Fee Structure In May 2010 as supplemented in October 2010 rules promulgated by the Central Bank of Mexico

became effective that require ATM operators to choose between receiving an interchange fee from the consumers card-issuing bank or

surcharge fee from the consumer When surcharge is received by the ATM operator the rules prohibit bank from charging its cardholder

an additional fee The rules also prohibit bank from charging its cardholders surcharge fee when those cardholders use its ATMs

The Companys majority-owned subsidiary Cardtronics Mexico elected to assess surcharge fee rather than selecting the interchange

fee-only option and subsequently increased the amount of its surcharge fees to compensate for the loss of interchange fees that it previously

earned on such ATM transactions Although the total cost to the consumer including bank fees of an ATM transaction at Cardtronics

Mexico ATM has stayed approximately the same average transaction counts revenues and profit per machine have declined As result of

the above developments to mitigate the negative effects of these events bank branding agreement was executed during the first quarter of

2011 with Grupo Financiero Banorte S.A de CV Banorte to brand up to 2000 machines in that market As result of this agreement

the Company has experienced improved profitability on the machines covered by the agreement
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capital and Operating Lease Obligations

Cap ital Lease Obligations In 2007 the Company assumed responsibility for certain capital lease contracts in the 7-Eleven ATM
Transaction the majority of which expired in 2009 During 2010 the Company fulfilled its payment obligations related to the capital leases

and the ownership of the ATMs transferred to the Company As of December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company did not have any capital

leases outstanding

Operating Lease Obligations ln addition to the capital leases assumed in conjunction the 7-Eleven ATM Transaction the Company also

assumed certain operating leases in connection with the acquisition In conjunction with its purchase price allocation related to the 7-Eleven

ATM Transaction the Company recorded approximately $8.7 million of other liabilities current and long-terni to value certain unfavorable

equipment operating leases assumed as part of the acquisition These liabilities were amortized over the remaining terms of the underlying

leases the majority of which expired in 2009 and served to reduce ATM operating lease expense amounts to the fair value of these services

as of the date of the acquisition During the year ended December 31 2010 the remainder of the operating leases also expired and

consequently $0.4 million in letter of credit that was previously posted that related to these operating and capital leases was released upon the

expiration of the leases

The Company was party to several operating leases as of December 31 2011 primarily for office space and the rental of space at certain

merchant locations Such leases expire at various times during the next 14 years

Future minimum lease payments under the Companys operating and merchant space leases with initial lease terms in excess of one year

as of December 31 2011 were as follows for each of the five years
indicated and in the aggregate thereafter in thousands

2013 6335

2015 3521

Thereafte 652

Total rental expense under the Companys operating leases net of sublease income was approximately $6.3 million $5.7 million and

$6.4 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Rental expense in 2009 is presented net of $3.4 million of

expense reductions related to the liabilities recorded to value the unfavorable operating leases

Other Commitments

Asset retirement obligations The Companys asset retirement obligations consist primarily of deinstallation costs of the ATM and the

costs to restore the ATM site to its original condition The Company is generally legally required to perform this deinstallation and restoration

work The Company had $34.5 million accrued for such liabilities as of December 31 2011 For additional information on the Companys

asset retirement obligations see Note 11 Asset Retirement Obligations

Purchase commitments As of December 31 2011 the Company had entered into an agreement to purchase $6.8 million of ATM
equipment for the United States from one of its primary ATM suppliers during 2012 Other material purchase commitments as of December

31 2011 included $1.9 million of ATM and other equipment purchase obligation in the United Kingdom as well as an aggregate of $3.8

million in minimum service requirement for certain gateway and processing fees over the next year and half to four years

16 Derivative Financial Instruments

Accounting Policy

The Company recognizes all of its derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet

at fair value The accounting for changes in the fair value e.g gains or losses of those derivative instruments depends on whether such

instruments have been designated and qualify as part of hedging relationship and ii on the type of hedging relationship actually

designated For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments the Company designates the hedging

instrument based upon the exposure being hedged as cash flow hedge fair value hedge or hedge of net investment in foreign

operation
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he Company is exposed to certain risks rfiating to its ongoirg business opemtions including inte est rate risk tssociatcd with thu

onipt fly
vault cash iental obligations and to lesset extent outstanding borrowings under the Company revolving credit facility The

Company is also exposed to foreign currency rate risk with respect to its investments in its foreign subsidiaries most notably its investment in

Bank Machine Ltd in the United Kingdom While the Company does not currently utilize dcrivative instruments to hedgc its ibreign

currency rate risk it does utili7e interest rate swap contracts to manage the interest rate risk associated with its vault cash rental obligations in

thc Jniteii Stales and the United lGngdom The Company does not currently uttlize any derivative instruments to managc the interest rate risk

associated with its vault cash rental obligations in Mexico nor does it utilize detvatise instruments to manage the interest rate risk associated

with the boirowings outstanding under its revolving credit facihty

The notional amounts weighted-average fixed rates and terms associated with the Companys interest rate swap contracts accounted for

as cash flow hedges that are currently in place as of the date of the issuance of these financial statements are as follows

Notional Amounts Notional Amounts Notional Amounts Weighted Average

United States United_Kingdom Consolidated Fixed Rate Term

in thousands

705000 50000 827451 345t% $iiaqr 12012 Docembur 312022
750000 25.000 78726 3.35% January l2013-December3l2013

75Q00G 7511000 K29% JaIwa12 2044 Documber 31 2014

550000 550000 3.27% January 12015-December3l2015

35O0oo 3SO00 3ss Mtitrary Deoember 31 20.16

United Kingdom pound steiling amounts have been convened into United States dollars at approximately 1.55 to 1.00 which was the exchange rate in effect as of

December21 2011

The Company has designated majority of its interest rate swap contracts as cash flow hedges of the Companys forecasted vault cash

rental obligations Accordingly changes in the fair vaittes of the related interest rate swap contracts have been reported in the Accumulated

other comprehensive loss net line item within stockholders equity deficit in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

The Company believes that it is more likely than not that it would be able to realize the benefits associated with its net deferred tax asset

positions in the future Therefore the Company records the unrealized losses related to its domestic interest rate swaps net of estimated taxes

in thc Accumulated other comprehensive loss net line item within Stockholders equity in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

For each derivative instrument that is designated and qualifies as cash flow hedge i.e hedging the exposure to variability in expected

future cash flows attributable to particular risk the effective portion of the gain or ioss on the derivative instrument is reported as

component of other comprehensise income loss OCI and reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted

transaction and in the same period or periods during which the hedge transaction affects earnings Gains and losses on the derivative

instrun2ent representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components that are excluded from the assessn2ent of effectiveness are

recognized in earnings however because the Company currently only utilizes fixed-for-floating interest rate swaps
in which the underlying

pricing terms agree in all material respects with the pricing terms of the Companys vault cash rental obligations the amount of

ineffectiveness associated with such interest rate swap contracts has historically been immaterial Accordingly no ineffectiveness amounts

associated with the Companys cash flow hedges have been recorded in the Companys consolidated financial statements For derivative

instruments not designated as hedging instruments the gain or loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations during the

current period

The interest rate swap contracts entered into with respect to the Companys vault cash rental obligations effectively modify the

Comnpatmys exposure io interest rate risk by converting pcrtion of the Companys monthiy floating rate vault cash rental obligations to

fixed rate Such contracts are in place through December 31 2016 for the Companys United States vault cash rental obligations and

December 31 2013 for the Companys United Kingdom vault cash rental obligations By converting such amounts to fixed rate the impact

of future interest rate changes both favorable and unfavorable on the Companys monthly vault cash rental expense amounts has been

redticed The interest rate swap contracts typically involve the receipt of floating rate amounts from the Companys counterparties that

match in all material respects the floating rate amounts required to be paid by the Company to its vault cash providcrs for the portions of the

Companys outstanding vault cash obligations that have been hedged In return the Company typically pays the interest rate swap

counterparties fixed rate amount per month based on the same notional amounts outstanding At no point is there an exchange of the

underlying principal or notional amounts associated with the interest rate swaps Additionally none of the Companys existing interest rate

swap contracts contain credit-risk-related contingent features
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iy is also pa ty to rtain derivati instruments that wer iginally but are no longcr signated as ca flow edges

cilcally during 2009 the ompa tered nto number of iterest ate ps to bed posure to cia ge ii market iat of

in CS oi its vaul hr tal in the Unit ingdoni Du ng ti fo qu rter of 2009 the ompa va ut cash ovidc in that

na ket vised its rights under th Contract to modi the pricing term and changed the ta va ill cash re tal rate withi the agreement

As esult of this cha ge the Compa was no longer able to ap ly cash fib dgc accou ting treatn nt to tIe und rlyi in rest ate

agr ents Dccc ber 2009 the ompany te into se ies additional ad the effects of whch crc to offset the xisting

swap tabli cw waps to match the iiodified un yi ig vault cash ental ate Sincc th lying wip were not deemed to be

eff ctiv hedges of the lipanys underlying vault cash rental costs the Company wa required to ecord an unrealized gain an

corr spon ing realized loss of millio each for the year
end ecemb 31 2011 and an unrealize gain and orr sponding ealized

loss of $1 Ilion nd $1 mIlion spectvely for the year endc Decembe 31 2010 related to th se swaps whch have been re cted in

the Other income expens un item in the accompanying on olidated Statement of Operations

The following tables pict the effects of the usc of Corn ny derivative ontracts on it onsolidat alance Sheets and

Co solda ed Statements of pe ation

Balance Data

ee e32
ee Se Leaf

In thou ands

Interest rate swap contract repaid pen es epaid penses

deferr costs and deferred costs and

othe current asset 606 othe current as ets 834

otal 606 943

incue lnucui ir
lli 1/ i.

ni.R Ii cont-ccL i1l//Li ic1ii iih1 OL-R /1

II1 /1
.1

Total Derivatives 70454 41843

The Asset Derivative instruments reflected in the table above related to the asset portions of certain derivative instruments that were in

overall liability positions
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Statements of Operations Data

Derivatives in Cash

Flow Hedging

Amount of Loss Recognized in OCt

on Derivative Instruments

Effective Portion

_____________
2010

Year Ended December 31

Location of Loss

Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI Into

Income

Effective Portion

Amount of Loss Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into Income

ctive Portion

Derivatives Not Designated as

nInstruments

Interest rate swap contracts

Interest rate swap contracts

Location of Loss Recognized into

Income on Derivative

Oost of A7 operating revenues

Other income expense

Year Ended December 31
Amount of Loss Recognized into Income on

Derivative

2011 2010

In thousands

171
52

The Company does not currently have any derivative instruments that have been designated as fair value or net investment hedges The

Company has not historically and does not currently anticipate discontinuing its existing derivative instruments prior to their expiration date

If the Company concludes that it is no longer probable that the anticipated future vault cash rental obligations that have been hedged will

occur or if changes are made to the underlying terms and conditions of the Companys vault cash rental agreements thus creating some

amount of ineffectiveness associated with the Companys current interest rate swap contracts as occurred during the fourth quarter of 2009

any resulting gains or losses will be recognised within the Other expense income line item of the Companys Consolidated Statements of

Operations

As of December 31 2011 the Company expects to reclassify $22.7 million of net derivative-related losses contained within accumulated

OCI to earnings during the next twelve months concurrent with the recording of the related vault cash rental
expense amounts

See Note 17 Fair Value Ivleasurements for additional disclosures on the Companys interest rate swap contracts in respect to its fair

value measurements

17 Fair Value Measurements

The following table provides the assets and liabilities carried at fair value measured on recurring basis as of December 31 2011 using
the fair value hierarchy prescribed by U.S GAAP The fair value hierarchy has three levels based on the reliability of the inputs used to

determine fair value Level refers to fair values determined based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets Level refers to

fair values estimated using significant other observable inputs and Level includes fair values estimated using significant non-observable

inputs An asset or liabilitys classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement

Fair Value Measurements at December 31 2011

Total Level Level Level

In thousands

606 606

Liabilities

Liabilities associated with interest rate swaps

Acquisition-related contingent consideration

11060

Interest rate swaps The fair value of the Companys inteiest rate swaps was net liability of $70.5 million as of December 31 2011

These financial instruments are carried at fair aloe caicuieted as the present value of amounts estiirated to be received or paid to

2011 2011 2010

I574
126

L700

Assets

Aasets assctcaied witl intereSt rate swaps

3415

71060

3475
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marketplace participant in selling transaction These derivatives are valued using pricing models based on significant other observable

inputs Level inputs while taking into account the creditworthiness of the party that is in the liability position with respect to each trade

Acquisition related contingent con szdei ation Acquisition related contingent consideration is initially measured and recorded at fair value

as an element of consideration paid in connection with an acquisition with subsequent adjustments recognized in other operating expenses in

the condensed consolidated statement of operations The Company determines the fair value of acquisition-related contingent consideration

and any subsequent changes in fair value using discounted probability-weighted approach as determined using Level inputs During the

year ended December 31 2011 the Company recognized $3.5 million in acquisition-related contingent consideration from the acquisitions

completed during the year No changes in fair value were recorded during the year

Additionally below are descriptions of the Companys valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at fair value The

methods described below may produce fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair

values Furthermore while the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants the use

of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in different estimate of

fair value at the reporting date

Cash and cash equivalents accounts and notes receivable net of the allowance for doubtfuul accounts other current assets accounts

payable accrued expenses and other current liabilities These financial instruments are not carried at fair value but are carried at amounts

that approximate fair value due to their short term nature and generally negligible credit risk

Long term debt The carrying amount of the long term debt balance related to borrowings under the Company ievolving credit facility

if and when there is an amount outstanding approximates fair value due to the fact that any borrowings are subject to short term floating

interest rates As of December31 2011 the fair value of the Company $200 million senior subordinated notes see Note 10 Long Term

Debt totaled $217 milhon based on the quoted market price
for such notes as of that date

Additions to asset retirement obligation liability The Company estimates the fair value of additions to its asset retirement obligation

liability using expected future cash outflows discounted at the Company credit adjusted risk free inteiest rate Liabilities added to the Asset

retirement obligations line item in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets are measured at fair value at the time of the asset

installations on non recuri ing basis using Level inputs and are only reevaluated periodically based on current fair value fhe liabilities

added during the years ended December31 2011 2010 and 2009 were $8 million $4 million and $3 million respectively The

liabilities added in 2011 primarily related to acquisitions completed during the year

Fair Value Option In February 2007 the FASB issued statement that provided companies the option to measure certain financial

instruments and other items at fair value The Company has not elected to adopt the fair value option provisions of this statement

18 Income Taxes

Income tax benefit expense
based on the Companys income before income taxes consists of the following for the years ended

December31 2011 2010 and 2009

2011 2010 2009

In thousands

U.S federal 86 15 265

lb
Total current 1688 1598 516

US fedeal 12025 18720 3889

fI
Foreig

Total 13176 17139 4245

Income tax benefit expense differs from amounts computed by applying the U.S federal statutory tax rate to income before taxes as

follows for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009
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Subtrrtdl

Change in valuation allowance

Total tax beue expeitae

256

14fli
1195

75

23624

132

994

United States

2011 2010

26928 1513xrrent deferred tax asset

Valuation allowance

Current deferred tax liability

Net current deferred tax asset liability

Nerrcurrent deferred tax asset

Valuation allowance

Nowcujyet4aferd tax 1i6Lrty

Net non-current deferred tax asset

liability

Net deferred tax asset

flid

26864

44855

14950

11461

104

73

__________ _________ 1000
1265

8229

Consolidated

2011 2010

tedjndo_ Other International

2011 2010 2011 2010

In thousands

110

72

_________ 715
_________ _________

10421

6801

11

ill

Z41l

394

78

11

67

291

22212 10201 1000 715r9

21f54

84

25975

8623

1it208

83

14302

7092

111 67 23101 9553

___ ___ L4
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at

December 31 2011 and 2010 were as follows

2011

In thousands

2010

Reserve for receivables

Atgtt 1bilit oid intbpiQy reeiye

Net operating
loss carryforward

JOI1144 1pl4$Pxetttkots

Other

Valuation allowance

fi1e1Tedah
Non-current deferred tax assets

No rti1g UsI4
Unrealized loss on interest rate swap contracts

phzi8atipu

Asset retirement obligations

ThngWmid
Deferred revenue

Ot1ir

Subtotal

Yittati41n ailPwatNe

Non-current deferred tax assets

fiib
Other

4ŁOIft aitt
Non-current deferred tax liabilities

TatrgiaigN aait

Deployment costs

Msot ittbliatioi
Other

MJsJcd taT 1iTbM

18763

2902

3956

605

86
58929

50306

195

4493

7371

124

15701

83
15118

1095 816

816

N4eierrd ax a$Ot 4749

Based on positive pretax book income trend that began in 2009 continued throughout 2011 and is expected to continue in future

periods management concluded that it is more likely than not that the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to

realize its domestic deferred tax assets and expects the majority of Companys domestic net operating loss carryforwards that are not subject

to annual utilization limits to be fully utilized in the next 12 to 24 months which is well before their expiration dates

The deferred taxes associated with the Companys unrealized gains and losses on derivative instruments have been reflected within

accumulated other comprehensive loss balance in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

As result of its 2011 acquisitions the Company recorded net deferred tax assets totaling $21.6 million The recorded net deferred tax

assets primarily include net operating loss carryforwards and Internal Revenue Code IRC Section 197 intangible assets both of which are

subject to certain limitations under IRC Section 382

As of December 31 2011 the Company had approximately $53.6 million in United States federal net operating loss canyforwards that

will begin expiring in 2025 Included in this amount are net operating loss carryfowards of $14.9 million acquired in the Companys 2011

acquisitions The United States federal net operating loss carryfoward amount excludes approximately $34.9 million in gross potential future

tax benefits associated with excess tax deductions above previously recognized book expense for employee stock option exercises and

restricted stock vesting that occurred from 2006 through 2011 Because the Company is currently in net operating loss carryforward

position such benefits have not been reflected in the Companys consolidated financial statements as required by ASC 718 Compensation

Stock Compensation Finally the Company had approximately $0.3 million in alternative minimum tax credits in the United States as of

December 31 2011

105

13664

72

2M
84

27O70

6879

27l
1032

8732

1189

1133

23989

16897

6580
1797

106
6562
1047

5356450
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As of December 31 2011 the Company had approximately $6.7 million in net operating loss carryforwards in the United Kingdom not

subject to expiration $2.2 million in net operating loss canyforwards in Mexico that will begin expiring in 2016 and $543 thousand in net

operating loss carryforwards in Canada that will begin expiring in 2028 However the deferred tax benefits associated with such

carryforwards to the extent they are not offset by deferred tax liabilities have been fully reserved for through valuation allowance At this

time the Company does not expect that its United Kingdom Mexico and Canada operations will be in position in the near future to be able

to more likely than not fully utilize their deferred tax assets in their respective tax jurisdictions including their net operating loss

carryforwards As result the deferred tax benefits associated with the United Kingdom Mexico and Canada operations to the extent they

are not offset by deferred tax liabilities have been fully reserved through valuation allowance

The Company currently believes that the unremitted earnings of its international subsidiaries will be reinvested in the corresponding

country of origin for an indefinite period of time Accordingly no deferred taxes have been provided for on the differences between the

Companys book basis and underlying tax basis in those subsidiaries or on the foreign currency translation adjustment amounts related to

such operations

The Company files United States state and foreign income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations With few

exceptions the Company is not subject to tax examination by tax authorities for years before 2002 The Company has received notice of

intent to audit its 2009 federal tax return from the Internal Revenue Service The Company does not expect any material adjustments to result

from the audit

In December 2010 President Obama signed into law the Tax Relief Unemployment Insurance Reauthorization and Job Creation Act of

2010 The legislation permits businesses to expense 100 percent of qualifying capital investments for 2010 and 2011 The Companys 2011

income tax provision reflects the impact of accelerating federal income tax depreciation deductions for qualifying property

19 Concentration Risk

Significant Supplier For the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 the Companys domestic and United Kingdom operations

purchased equipment from one supplier that accounted for 73.9% and 62.4% respectively of the Companys total ATM purchases for the

years As of December 31 2011 and 2010 accounts payable to this supplier for ATM purchases represented approximately 30.4% and 2.6%
respectively of the Companys consolidated accounts payable balances In Mexico for the year ended December 31 2010 the Company

purchased equipment from one supplier that accounted for 7.9% of the Companys total ATM purchases for that year The accounts payable

to this supplier was immaterial as of December 31 2010 The Company did not purchase any ATMs in Mexico during 2011

SignIcant Vendors The Company obtains the cash to fill substantial portion of its domestic Company-owned and in some cases

merchant-owned ATMs from Bank of America and Wells Fargo As of December 31 2011 the Company had $1.7 billion in cash in its

domestic ATMs of which 42.0% was provided by Bank of America and 40.4% was provided by Wells Fargo The Companys existing vault

cash rental agreements expire at various times from March 2012 to December 2016 However each provider has the right to demand the

return of all or any portion of its cash at any time upon the occurrence of certain events beyond the Companys control including certain

bankruptcy events of the Company or its subsidiaries or breach of the terms of the Companys cash provider agreements Other key terms

of the agreements include the requirement that the cash providers provide written notice of their intent not to renew Such notice provisions

typically require minimum of 180 to 360 days notice prior to the actual termination date If such notice is not received then the contracts

will typically automatically renew for an additional one-year period Additionally the Companys contract with one of its vault cash

providers contains provision that allows the provider to modify the pricing terms contained within the agreement at any time with 90 days

prior written notice However in the event both parties do not agree to the pricing modifications then either party may provide 180 days

prior written notice of its intent to terminate In the United Kingdom the Company obtains all of its vault cash from single provider which

is currently operating under month-to-month contract while it is in the process of being renewed

In addition to the above the Company had concentration risks in significant vendors for the provision of on-site maintenance services and

armored courier services in the United States for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

Signficant Customers For the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company derived 50.2% and 53.8% respectively of its

total revenues from ATMs placed at the locations of its five largest merchants For the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 the

Companys top five merchants based on its total revenues were 7-Eleven CVS Walgreens Martin McColl in the United Kingdom and

Target 7-Eleven which represents the single largest merchant customer in Cardtronics portfolio comprised 30.9% and 34.0% of the

Companys total revenues for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively Accordingly significant percentage of the

Companys future revenues and operating income will be dependent upon the successful continuation of its relationship with 7-Eleven and

these other merchants
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20 Segment Information

As ofD.irber 31 2011 the tnu Hii i1 UH iigdom and Other International segments

The Ciuir perations in Puerto hr Virh -n in its States segment The Other International

seoment rrca con1SI ul oup.hr/ olunlions in iico nid annda Thie each of these reporting segments provides similar

koI --baod i\tclaicti eanh Tinen is eu ii wno--d as they require different marketing and business

stricin

VtataiLtncut sos .\djustcd F1 iA Ilo ih othc U.S GAAP-based measures to assess the operating results and effectiveness of

U- elie is useful measure because it allows management to more effectively evaluate the

esults of operations from period to period without regard to its financing methods or

1iiUi rnc4c Tii unroi lwlns dc1unci.uion accretion and amortization expense as these amounts can va substantially depending

upon boo alue assets capital struc tIr.s non iite rnahod by which the assets ore acquired Additionally Adjusted EBITDA does not

Lco.s acrUL ion-r.Jied costs and the 1niits ohiations for the payment oFiocun taxes interest expense or other obligations such as

Ijiiri thc vou ended December31 l1 i.ifl ing aciiitios the Company recorded $7.3 million charge to

inariurti iou rod win cost and bond nuul ii ndllion charge associated with the early extinguishment

hiob the Conhn has also eschdd rum sed hes ndrns been excluded from Adjusted EBITDA as the

hs.. reLl ti ii ii ..i 1b II cision to improve its capital structure and

hian.il kxiiIitv and ou1 clued to nd imnn\ ongoing opradoi. Hrtiic moro management feels the inclusion of such charges

in Aujosd i.BiT culd not contribute to managoaini indesnmding of tho op n.ting
results and effectiveness of its business

o.. it the II Ii tii asures employed by other companies
and is

not n.nsuic O9OI ..Ifl caleulacO in rceorcnnc ith IS AP In ainotio he nimialyS performance as measured by Adjusted

ID\ mvnagenii recogni/e and considers the limhetions nI his mea-ueiiien1 .Uco uiik Adjusted EBITDA is only one of the

aurments that in ingement utilizes There thre Adjusted EBITDA should not considered in isolation or as substitute for operating

ni income cash flows from operating investing and financing activities or other income or cash flow statement data prepared in

15 GAA.P

liOlo\ is re-oncihation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income attributable to controlling interests for the years ended December 31 2011

ann 200

f/u I/OlLCU1/V

055

Qh.r j.i1Il1C 4Q Ci

oei based eompcnsaIinii esne .9

tier aCjrtntnt to ens oIA operating .OVCIIUCS -1

10 -toO t-i O1

LtiiIFDts i40i-2 162 IOIUIUh

riirOs C\il./ Pet ii ciliding unto .ii Ii elerrod

art hoot iiscium 01 8.650

neren tot ftnd uhoant --

.hetThiiiOiCO-.IS br earl .nigsh.nn oi.ihi 07

anut -v 7.17%

7i100i aid 47.062 -L.7

\ot 10011 alihatnol 10 eonhoIin fleist it.23n
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The following tables reflect certain financial information for each of the Companys reporting segments All ntereornpany transactions

between the Companys reporting segments have been eliminated for the purposes of computing the total consolidated anounts

For the Year Ended December 31 2011

evgtsn D1 1t0t lOlfittleth

Intcrsegment revenues

Cesf

Selling general and administrative

expenses

Loss gain on disposal of assets

US UK

4277

47342

791

4Z1

55582

4741
25 981

fitom eettdrat etotnei

Intersegment revenues

CQ$ I0Is1e
Selling general and administrative

expenses

LpsO

Ate EWflA

Capital expenditures

Eliminations

3071
fO7

156307

47962

%7914

21109

13176

Other

International

In thousands

111

2290

96$

75
5950

215

Eliminations

4388

Total

674576

Adjusted EBITDA

Depreciation and accretion
expcnse

AmurtizaI411 6edhe
Interest expense net

income ta boitettt

137 840 16554 1913

28719

17144

16194 3070

$7

3260 705

21

rt

_____ Year ceme

US ________ ________ _________

47s
3071

Other

UK International

In thousands

258$ 746

37598 5106

1414

1877

707

37 496

Total

572i7$

36V92

44581

Deprtd tg4srefjcsi e474
Amortization expense 13517

gçnln nt
Write-off of deferred financing costs and

Income tax

1931

45fl1

15471

34749 13059 3386 51194
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For the Year Ended December 31 2009

Other

US UK International Eliminations Total

In thousands

eyou tteynal mm 3I 323 4335
Intersement revenues 2142 2142

OVlW 444$4

Selling general and administrative

expenses
4865 1228 41527

tmdi$pGai oatu O1 6Jt6

40
Amortization

expense 17127 1749 40 18916

11 4$P

Income tax expense 4245 4245

Capital expenditures 16245 6714 5571 28530

Capital expenditure amounts include payments made for exclusive license agreements site acquisition costs and capital expenditures financed by direct debt

Additionally capital expenditure amounts for Mexico are reflected gross of any noncontrolling interest amounts

Identifiable Assets

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

In thousands

4141
United Kingdom 83386 70750

Eliminations 62560 ja0
21 Supplemental Guarantor Financial Information

The Companys $200.0 million senior subordinated notes are guaranteed on full and unconditional basis by all of the Companys

domestic subsidiaries The following information sets forth the condensed consolidating statements of operations and cash flows for the years

ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 and the condensed consolidating balance sheets as of December 31 2011 and 2010 of

Cardtronics Inc the parent company and issuer of the senior subordinated notes Parent the Companys domestic subsidiaries on

combined basis collectively the Guarantors and the Companys international subsidiaries on combined basis collectively the

Non-Guarantors
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Condensed Conso1idating Statements of Operations

Ga

In thousands

/K1
Op tine CO an 9604 417 762 44 4409 47

tee tincom ti ci di

ization fe cdli gco ts

bo cou 940 18 084 396 21109

Othe nco exp 19252 571 2734 804

i\

12 110 L060Income ta it 13176

los ttribu abi to no Co trolin inter St 87 87

In thou andsl

eatmcosts exp nse 6329 42 108 3092 465815

clu gamortizationof

defe red ma ci gcostsandbo ddiseount 473 18125 286

14 114

de tio costs for any ting lie

dbt 7193 719

41 214 II
Other om se net 20 21 18098 1945 878

14

/4 Il

ncom ta 16 468 671 17 139

7SI II /1

Net inco attributabl to no ntrolli

mt ts 74 174

\r II1
II 4I VI 11

14 II 1I
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Year Ended December 31 2009

Operating
costs and expenses

ettttiug sfuid
Interest expense net including amortization of

deferred financing costs and bond discounts

gpipgs lbse of tribsidittrme

Other income expense net

lftt 1os 1bieinQQwe taxtt

Income tax
expense

Nt1Ie
Net income attributable to noncontrolling

23025 5635

5254

Non

Parent Guararitors Guarantors Eliminations Total

In thousands

4O4016 91419 2142 493353

4967 358972 88577 2163 450353

497 45104 2842 21 42000

3868 32528

18646 13392

905 1454 ____________
456

9904 17130 4247 13371 10016

4154 91 4245

5750 739 4247 13271 5771
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

As of Decewber 31 2011
___________

Non
Parent Gnarantnrs Guarantorg Ehimipations Iota

Jn thousands

Cash and cash equivalents

Aegeunts arid notes receiyable net

Current portion of deferred tax asset net

Othet cnrretrt assetS

fotal current liabilities

Long-tesn dabs

Intercompany payable

Derred tax 1iabuIity net

Asset retirement obligations

Other long4enn 1iabiiitie

Total liabilities

Stokbo1dets e4pity

44454

24526

8g

69866

5546

150525

249825

22729

126865

149594

27

269331

18095

55969

493016

167$1$6

660082

854

4965

37

16272

66551

7408

1699%

2317

2372

23319

927

28935

2405

20389

16422

999

69259

3O7s3

100012

4sSeths

Total current assets

opey Sxtd eqnipmn1 net

Intangible assets net

Goodwill

Investments in and advances to subsidiaries

Intwosnpan teceiyilbl9 Dayabio

4721

37141

2339

5509

124492

98649

5465

100048

2O

5576

46 793

26902

46799 94430

112 l93911

111603

271562

57

frred as ne 0278 1933 890 101

otalas ts 487040 660082 1000 43 712801

Liabilities anti StekboIder Equity
Current portion of longterm debt and notes

payable

Cqrigttt portion o5othex 1ong4gtm liattiuities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Cursept pertion ofd.eferrnd tax liablilty axt

7895

7895

364000

373895

113 145

487040

2317

2510S

46794 111285

__________ 057

46794 139630

365432

34517

Total liabihties and stockholders equity

289720

33651412
534333

56477

599656

fl314$

712801
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets continued

As of December 31 2010

Eliminations TotalParent Guarantors

Non
Guarantors

In thomands

ash and cash equ alents 81 2219 889 3189

Current portion
of deferred ta asset net 13794 1156 67 5017

Total cu as ets 46256 28 83 12 693 32 173 54 959

ntangible assets net 5849 970 6980 74 799

Investments and advances subsidiaries 7221 221

eferredtaxsset
715 715

Totalassets 310 107 336426 88424 279642 455315

Un nt por
of long term debt and notes

payable
076 076

Account payable and accrued habil ties 10 266 70 273 22 338 32167 70710

To al current liabilities 10 266 91 217 29678 32 167 98994

77

Intercom ypayable 149 935 104271 254206

Asset retirement obligatio 485 11172 26657

Total labi ities 265853 279081 152500 286373 411061

42

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 310107 336426 88424 279642 455315
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Condensed nsolidating Statements of ca.s/ F1ons

Investment in subsidiary

Issnanco of iohg-tenmnotey recoivable

Payments received on long-term notcs receivable

A4ursitions net of cash aqaired

Year Ended Decernbcr 31 2011 _____
Non

Parent iarantors Cuarantor rniniom

In thousands

________ 68
Net cash uscd in investing activiti 991 0689 133 576 44

bo of 7h 79

pay ion -t debt 61 938 188902 96 703 4991

bt iss and odi cation cost

ci of pl sto 31 150
Is 10 _____ ______

deC by fina cing activities

rate changes on canh

Net ecrea inc ease in cash and cash

4et cash provided by operating activities

ii

2496 lOP 460 10369

45640 18778

Tctai

100048

3J623

189040

113325

41

93663

100048

316231

282703

________ __________ 180048 JQ48
127415 119392 10301

_____ 16 _________

123532

Cash and cash equivalents as of end of period 4721 854 5576
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows continued

Year Ended December 31 2010

Parent Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Total

In thousands

Additio to prope equipme 32373 696 48 069

Cs
07

ssuance of long term notes rec ivable 292 29220

Ne cash ovided by sed in mv sting

activities 55 280 34 749 5903 280 50 652

Repay rients of ng debt and capital leases 443 393 84735 2212 84 500 445

ebt suance modi ication co 423 5423

epurchase capitals ock 672 1672

gti
Ct of exchang rate changes on 374 374

Cash cash ival nts of beginning of

period 40 8400 009 10449
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Conden ed Co solidating Statements Cash Plows continued

in tnousand

on to dy qup 16 18 77

nvs nm bi 48 48

Pa nt rec ed on 1ong no vable 97 630 97 630

roe eds rom or owings of 10 rm debt 00 29 50 81 30 00 882

ayme .s rrowi nde bank aft

fa
lily net 142 142

ayments on rp jO eivable 34

ance of ca ital stoc 48 48

bt cc andi odfica cost 48

ffecto xch rae ha ocas 414 414

ca equiv len of begi ng of

pe iod 16 39 424

_____________ _____________

te ed

Finn inf ationb qwrte issumrn ow oth ye se cc er 2011 and 010

et

oal flu 804 1472 16 7418 476

011 46800 046 70146

sic inco on mon

nar 15 06 018 160

_____
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Toa re nues 127776 132948 136605 134749 532078

Ne ncome4 4230 8248 20655 8000 41133

asic net income per common

share4 0.10 0.20 0.49 0.19 0.98

Excludes $13.4 million $13.5 million $1 5.5 million and 16.9 million of depreciation accretion and amortization for the quarters ended March 31

June 30 September 30 nd December 31 respectively

Includes $37.0 million of tax benefit recorded in the quarter ended September 30 as result of tax reporting change with respect to the Companys

U.K operations

Excludes $12.3 million $12.1 million $13.0 million and $13.6 million of depreciation accretion and amortization for the quarters ended March 31

June 30 September 30 and December 31 respectively

Includes release of $23.7 million and $3.5 million in previously-recognized valuation allowances related to the Companys United States segment for

the quarters
ended September 30 and December 31 respectively Additionally the quarter ended September 30 includes pre-tax charges of

approximately $14.5 million related to certain charges associated with the refinancing of the Companys outstanding debt obligations
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iTEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There have been no changes in or disagreements on any matters of accounting principles or financial statement disclosure between us and

our independent registered public accountants

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15b under the Exchange Act we have evaluated under the supervision and with the participation of our

management including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer the effectiveness of the design and operation of our

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered

by this 2011 Form 10-K Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be

disclosed by us in reports that we file under the Exchange Act is accumulated and commullicated to our management including our principal

executive officer and principal financial officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC Based upon that evaluation our

principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of

December 31 2011 at the reasonable assurance level

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our system of internal control over financial reporting as such tenTi is defined in Rules 13a-15f and Sd-

15f under the Exchange Act during the quarter ended December 31 2011 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to

materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Ivianagement Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined

in Rules 13a-l5f and 15d-15f under the Exchange Act Our internal control over financial reporting is process designed by

management under the supervision of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S

generally accepted accounting principles Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain

to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets provide

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S

generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our

management and directors and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of our assets that could have material effect on our consolidated financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of

any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions

or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

The scope of managements assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011

includes the Companys consolidated subsidiaries except for the acquisitions during 2011 of EDC ATM Subsidiary LLC and EfiTnark

Deployment Inc LocatorSearch LLC Mr Cash ATM Network Inc and Access to Money Inc the acquired companies The

acquired companies internal control over financial reporting was associated with 30% of total gross assets of which 22% represents

goodwill and intangibles included within the scope of the assessment and total revenues of 5% included in the consolidated financial

statements of Cardtronics Inc as of and for the year ended December 31 2011

Our management under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer

assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on the framework in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Based on our

evaluation under the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework our management concluded that our internal control over

financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2011
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Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 has been audited by KPMG LLP an independent registered public

accounting firm that audited our consolidated financial statements included in this 2011 Form 10-K as stated in their attestation report which

is included on page 63

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Pursuant to General Instruction of Form 10-K we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our

definitive proxy statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Code of Ethics

We have adopted Code of Ethics applicable to our principal executive officer principal financial officer principal accounting officer

and persons performing similar functions copy of the Code of Ethics is available on our website at http//www.cardtronics.com and you

may also request copy of the Code of Ethics at no cost by writing or telephoning us at the following Cardtronics Inc Attention Chief

Financial Officer 3250 Briarpark Drive Suite 400 Houston Texas 77042 832 308-4000 We intend to disclose any amendments to or

waivers of the Code of Ethics on behalf of our Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Chief Accounting Officer Controller and

persons performing similar functions on our website at http//www.cardtronics.com promptly following the date of the amendment or waiver

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Pursuant to General Instruction of Form 10-K we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our

definitive proxy statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICiAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Pursuant to General Instruction of Form 10-K we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our

definitive proxy statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to General Instruction of Form 10-K we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our

definitive proxy statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Pursuant to General Instruction of Form 10-K we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our

definitive proxy statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 63
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of Decembcr 31 2011 and 2010 65
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 66
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Deficit Equity for the Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 67
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 68
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 69
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

70

Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or required information is shown in the financial statements or notes

thereto

Index to Exhibits

The exhibits required to be filed pursuant to the requirements of Item 601 of Regulation S-K are set forth in the Index to Exhibits

accompanying this report
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this report to be

signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized in the City of Houston State of Texas on February 27 2012

CARDTRONICS INC

Is Steven Rathgaber

Steven Rathgaber

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf

of the registrant in the capacities indicated on February 27 2012

Signature
Title

/s Steven Rathgaber
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Steven Rathgaber Principal Executive Officer

/s Chris Brewster Chief Financial Officer

Chris Brewster Principal Financial Officer

/s/ Brad Conrad Chief Accounting Officer

Brad Conrad Principal Accounting Officer

Is Dennis Lynch

Dennis Lynch
Chairman of the Board of Directors

/s Tim Amoult

Tim Arnoult Director

Is Robert Barone

Robert Barone
Director

/5/ Jorge Diaz

Jorge Diaz Director

/s/ Patrick Phillips

Patrick Phillips
Director

Is Mark Rossi

Mark Rossi Director

/s Juli Spottiswood

Juli Spottiswood
Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibb

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cardtronics Inc incorporated herein by refei ence to Lxhibit 10 of the Current

Report on Form 8-K filed by Cardtronics Inc on January 25 2011 Registration No 001-33864

ii upplementa1 denture dated August 26 among Cardtronics Inc the Subsidiary Guarantors defined therein and

Wells Fargo Bank N.A as trustee incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by

Cardtronics Inc on August 26 2010 File No 00 1-33864

10.1 Credit Agreement dated July 15 2010 by and among Cardtronics Inc the Guarantors party thereto the Lenders party thei eto

JPMorgan Chase Bank NA J.P Morgan Europe Limited Bank of America NA and Wells Fargo Bank N.A incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Quarterly Report on Form iO-Q filed by Cardtronics inc on August 2010 File No

001-33864

Placement Agreement dated as of July 20 2007 by and between Cardtromcs Inc inc Inc incorporated hcrein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by Cardtronics Inc on November 2007

10 Al Cash Services Agreement between Bank of America and Can ironies LP dated as of August

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Amendment No to Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed by

Cardtronics Inc on August 25 2006 Registration No 333-131199

Amendment No to Al Cash Services Agreement dated February 2006 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

10.26 of the Amendment No to Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed by Cardtronics Inc on August 25 2006

Registration No.333-131199

Amendment No to ATM Cash Services Agreement dated P.ah 23 2JU9 by USA and Bank

of America NA incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by Cardtronics

Inc on August 62010 File No 001-33864

2.2 Agreement and Plan ot Merger among Caidtromcs USA Inc and CAlM Merger Sub Inc nnd Access to inc and LC

Capital Master Fund Ltd dated as of August 15 2011 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Current Report on

Form KfiledbyCardtronics Inc on August 2011 File No 001 33864
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10 13 First Amen Iment to Contract Solutions Agreement dated ruary 28 2009 by and between Cardtronics USA Inc

Cardtronics Inc and Wells Fargo Bank incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 of the Quarterly Report on

Form 10 filed by Cardtronics Inc on August 2010 File No 001 33864
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10.23

Amendment to ock Incentive Plan of Cardtronics Group Inc dated tive as of June 23 2004

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1023 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Cardtronics Inc on

January20 2006 Registration No 333 131199 01

Amendment No to the 2001 Stock Incentive Group Inc dated tive as of August 22 2J

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.39 of Post-effective Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form 5-

filed by Cardtronics Inc on December 10 2007 Registration No 333 145929

Cardtronics Inc and Restated Stock Incentive incorporated herein by reference to Appendix of

Cardtronics Inc Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 30 2010 File No 001 33864
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10.27 Form of Non-statutoiy Sloe Option Ag eement incorporated erein by reference to Exhibit 0.40 of the Annual Report on

Fonn 10-K filed by Cardtronics Inc on March 19 2009 Registration No 001-33864

Form of Rcstrctcd Stock Agrecment incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1.

filed by Cardtronics Inc on March 19 2009 Registration No 00 1-33864

Restricted Stock Agreement between Cardtronics Inc and Michael Clinard dated January iO incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Cardtronics Inc on January 22 2010

Form of Employment Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by

Cardtronics Inc on June 25 2008 Registration No 00 1-33864

10.41 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Service Agreement between Bank Machine Ltd and Ron Delnevo dated effective

as of June 2008 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Cardtronics

Inc on June 25 2008 Registration No 001-33864 1-

Restricted Stock Agreement between Cardtronics Inc and Michael Clinard darn 2O 2u incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Cardtronics Inc on June 25 2008 Registration No 001-

33864
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